### University of Kentucky UKnowledge

Theses and Dissertations--Pharmacy

**College of Pharmacy** 

2014

### Flavonoids with Novel Nicotinic Activity as Potential Pharmacotherapies to Treat Ethanol-Induced Neurotoxicity

Joseph A. Lutz University of Kentucky, joseph.alfred.lutz@gmail.com

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

### **Recommended Citation**

Lutz, Joseph A., "Flavonoids with Novel Nicotinic Activity as Potential Pharmacotherapies to Treat Ethanol-Induced Neurotoxicity" (2014). *Theses and Dissertations--Pharmacy*. 43. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/pharmacy\_etds/43

This Doctoral Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the College of Pharmacy at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations--Pharmacy by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

### STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained needed written permission statement(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine) which will be submitted to UKnowledge as Additional File.

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the irrevocable, non-exclusive, and royalty-free license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless an embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

### **REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE**

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's thesis including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Joseph A. Lutz, Student Dr. John Littleton, Major Professor Dr. James Pauly, Director of Graduate Studies

# FLAVONOIDS WITH NOVEL NICOTINIC ACTIVITY AS POTENTIAL PHARMACOTHERAPIES TO TREAT ETHANOL-INDUCED NEUROTOXICITY

### DISSERTATION

A dissertation in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the College of Pharmacy at the University of Kentucky

> By Joseph Alfred Lutz Lexington, Kentucky

Co-directors: Dr. John Littleton, Professor of Psychology and Dr. James Pauly, Professor of Pharmaceutical Sciences Lexington, Kentucky

> 2014 Copyright © Joseph Alfred Lutz 2014

### ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

## FLAVONOIDS WITH NOVEL NICOTINIC ACTIVITY AS POTENTIAL PHARMACOTHERAPIES TO TREAT ETHANOL-INDUCED NEUROTOXICITY

Ethanol causes neurotoxicity via several mechanisms at different points in the cycle of dependence, including neuroinflammation and oxidative stress during ethanol exposure as well as excitotoxicity during ethanol withdrawal. The primary therapeutic implication is that ethanol-induced neurotoxicity requires multifunctional pharmacotherapies which reduce all mechanisms. Using an innovative pharmacological high throughput screening method on a large plant extract library we discovered flavonoids with alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR) activity. In addition to their well-known anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties, this novel activity means they can potentially reduce excitotoxicity and therefore makes them ideal for inhibition of ethanol-induced neurotoxicity. Rhamnetin, the candidate compound, was first found to inhibit lipopolysaccharide induced inflammation in immortalized BV2 microglia, in part. via alpha7 nAChRs. We then established an in vitro model of ethanol inducedneurotoxicity using organotypic hippocampal slice cultures which incorporated both neuroinflammatory and excitotoxic components. Neuroinflammation enhanced excitotoxicity under control conditions but the reverse was observed during ethanol withdrawal. Both mechanisms are important but their interaction is not simple. Finally, rhamnetin was evaluated in this model and found to reduce neuroinflammation and excitotoxicity associated with ethanol withdrawal. In conclusion, the studies herein provide strong evidence for alpha7 nAChRs selective flavonoids as potential pharmacotherapies for the treatment of ethanol-induced neurotoxicity and further implicate neuroinflammation, excitotoxicity, and their interaction as critical mechanisms in this pathology.

KEYWORDS: ethanol-induced neurotoxicity, neuroinflammation, excitotoxicity, alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor, rhamnetin

Joseph Lutz 12-08-14

### FLAVONOIDS WITH NOVEL NICOTINIC ACTIVITY AS POTENTIAL PHARMACOTHERAPIES TO TREAT ETHANOL-INDUCED NEUROTOXICITY

By Joseph Alfred Lutz

> Dr. John Littleton Co-director Dr. James Pauly Co-director Dr. James Pauly Director of Graduate Studies

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to a lot of people that have supported me throughout the course of my graduate studies. I would not be here without the support of my immediate family, namely my parents, Sally and Etienne, and my brothers Benjamin and Arthur. During my time here, Arthur extended our family with his partner Rosalie. Together, they had two beautiful daughters, Olivia and Annabelle to whom I dedicate this work.

I would like to thank my graduate advisor, Dr. John Littleton, who first mentored me during my undergraduate internship here at the University of Kentucky and who continued to mentor me through the ups and downs of what is graduate education. His mentorship has been and continues to be invaluable. He is always quick to respond to any question or concern and is always ready to give advice, direction, and encouragement (unless Chelsea is playing, in which case its best to just buy him a beer and watch the game).

I would like to thank my co-advisor, Dr. Jim Pauly, who was instrumental in my first stay here as an undergraduate intern. His mentorship continues to date and I would like to thank him for all the supportive conversation and advice he has imparted upon me, both professionally and personally. I will never forget the fantastic house concerts he puts together, all of which have been a blast.

I would like to thank the rest of my advisory committee, Drs. Linda Dwoskin, Todd Porter and Mark Prendergast, for their time and support to bring this project and thesis to fruition, as well as my outside examiner, Dr. Olivier Thibault.

I would like to thank past and present members of the Littleton lab, Drs. Trent Rogers, Samir Kumar Gunjan, Manish Kulshreshta, Kiran Siripurapu, Noel Monks, and Cassandra Reiling as well as Cindy Burklow, Bob Holley, Dustin Brown, Jatinder Sambi, and Grace Burgess. I would also like to thank our collaborators, Drs. Nympha DeSousa, Susan Barron and Mark Prendergast, as well as their lab members, Megan Carter, Logan Fields, Andrew Hawkey and Anna Reynolds.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my better half, Dr. Jessica Weafer, who has been immeasurably supportive throughout the completion of this dissertation. I am eternally grateful to have met you and cherish every moment with you to date and to come.

iii

ACKNOW	LEDGEMENTSI	11
TABLE OF	F CONTENTS I'	V
LIST OF T	ABLESV	11
LIST OF F	GURES	11
CHAPTER	1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	General introduction	1
1.2	Mechanisms of ethanol-induced neurotoxicity	3
1.2.1	Oxidative stress	3
1.2.2	Neuroinflammation	4
1.2.3	Excitotoxicity	6
1.3	Possible interactions	8
1.3.1	Changes during ethanol exposure may affect neurotoxic mechanisms during EWD	g 8
1.3.2	Changes during EWD may affect neurotoxic mechanisms during subsequer ethanol exposure	nt 0
1.4	Therapeutic implications1	0
1.4.1	Alpha7 nAChR activation on microglia reduces neuroinflammation1	1
1.4.2	Alpha7 nAChR activation on neurons reduces excitotoxicity13	3
1.5	Finding novel alpha7 nAChR selective compounds in plants14	4
1.6	Project overview1	5
CHAPTER INFLAMM HIPPOCA	2. ALTERED RELATION BETWEEN LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE-INDUCEI ATORY RESPONSE AND EXCITOTOXICITY IN RAT ORGANOTYPIC MPAL SLICE CULTURES DURING ETHANOL WITHDRAWAL1	) ) 7
2.1	Introduction1	7
2.2	Materials and methods	0
2.2.1	Organotypic hippocampal slice culture (OHSC) preparation20	0
2.2.2	Ethanol exposure and withdrawal (EWD)2	1
2.2.3	Assessment of toxicity by propidium iodide uptake2	1
2.2.4	Assessment of inflammatory mediator release	2
2.2.5	BV2 microglia culture	3
2.2.6	Statistical analysis	3
2.3	Results24	4
2.3.1	Effects of NMDA, LPS and EWD on cellular damage in OHSC as measured by PI uptake	d 4

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.3.2	Effects of NMDA, LPS and EWD on inflammatory mediator release from OHSCs
2.3.3	Effects of LPS and EWD on inflammatory mediator release from BV2 microglia
2.4	Discussion
CHAPTER OF THE F	R 3. A NICOTINIC RECEPTOR-MEDIATED ANTI-INFLAMMATORY EFFECT ELAVONOID RHAMNETIN IN BV2 MICROGLIA
3.1	Introduction
3.2	Materials and methods43
3.2.1	Chemicals, reagents and kits43
3.2.2	Solidago nemoralis extraction and chemical identification43
3.2.3	Radioligand binding studies44
3.2.4	BV2 microglia studies46
3.2.5	Statistical analysis and graphical presentation47
3.3	Results
3.3.1	[3H]-MLA displacing fractions from Solidago nemoralis contain methyl- quercetin derivatives
3.3.2	Flavonoids differentially displace [3H]-MLA from hippocampal rat membranes
3.3.3	BV2 microglia exhibit functional nicotinic acetylcholine receptors51
3.3.4	[3H]-MLA displacement predicts functional anti-inflammatory nicotinic mediated effects54
3.4	Discussion61
CHAPTEF INFLAMM ORGANO	R 4. THE DIETARY FLAVONOID RHAMNETIN INHIBITS BOTH ATION AND EXCITOTOXICITY DURING ETHANOL WITHDRAWAL IN RAT TYPIC HIPPOCAMPAL SLICE CULTURES
4.1	Introduction
4.2	Materials & methods69
4.2.1	Organotypic hippocampal slice culture (OHSC) preparation69
4.2.2	Ethanol exposure, rhamnetin exposure and ethanol withdrawal (EWD)70
4.2.3	Assessment of toxicity by propidium iodide uptake70
4.2.4	Assessment of inflammatory mediator release71
4.2.5	Statistical analysis
4.3	Results72
4.3.1	Rhamnetin inhibits LPS-induced inflammatory mediator release but has no effect on NMDA-induced toxicity under control conditions
4.3.2	Effects of EWD on LPS-induced inflammatory mediator release and NMDA- induced toxicity

4.3.3	Rhamnetin inhibits LPS-induced inflammatory mediator release and NMDA- induced toxicity during EWD
4.3.4	100uM rhamnetin spontaneously induces NO release and toxicity during EWD
4.4	Discussion
CHAPTER	5. OVERALL CONCLUSIONS
5.1	Review
5.2	Discussion90
APPENDI	< 99
HAIRY RO TRANSFO	OT CULTURES AND PLANT REGENERATION IN SOLIDAGO NEMORALIS RMED WITH AGROBACTERIUM RHIZOGENES
5.3	Introduction
5.4	Materials and Methods
5.4.1	Plant material & culture conditions100
5.4.2	Agrobacterium culture and infection100
5.4.3	Plant regeneration from hairy roots101
5.4.4	beta-glucuronidase (GUS) histochemical assay102
5.5	Results102
5.6	Discussion106
REFEREN	CES108

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.2 [3H]-MLA displacement parameters of pure flavonoids from hippocamp	al rat
membranes	52
Table 3.3 Concentration response curve parameters for the inhibition of NO release	e and
TNF-alpha release by rhamnetin	58
Table 3.4 Concentration response curve parameters for the inhibition of NO release	e and
TNF-alpha release by sakuranetin	61

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) potentiates N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) toxicity under control conditions and reduces NMDA toxicity during ethanol withdrawal (EWD) 26
Figure 2.2 Propidium iodide uptake in the CA1 region of the hippocampus following treatment with lipopolysaccharide (LPS), N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) or both27
Figure 2.3 Release of proinflammatory cytokines from organotypic hippocampal slice cultures following treatment with lipopolysaccharide (LPS)
Figure 2.4 Release of proinflammatory cytokines from BV2 microglia following treatment with LPS
Figure 3.1 Pure flavonoids screened for [3H]-MLA displacement in rat hippocampal membranes
Figure 3.2: [3H]-epibatidine saturation binding on BV2 membranes53
Figure 3.3 Inhibition of NO release from LPS stimulated BV2 microglia by nicotine54
Figure 3.4 Concentration response curves for the inhibition of NO release by rhamnetin
Figure 3.5 Concentration response curves for the inhibition of TNF-alpha release by rhamnetin
Figure 3.7 Concentration response curves for the inhibition of TNF-alpha release by sakuranetin
Figure 4.1 Rhamnetin is anti-inflammatory under control conditions
Figure 4.2 Rhamnetin is not neuroprotective under control conditions
Figure 4.3 Ethanol withdrawal (EWD) reduces lipopolysaccharide (LPS) induced proinflammatory release from organotypic hippocampal cultures
Figure 4.4 Effects of ethanol withdrawal (EWD) on toxicity induced by N-methyl-D- aspartate (NMDA) and/or lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in organotypic hippocampal cultures 
Figure 4.5 Rhamnetin is anti-inflammatory during ethanol withdrawal (EWD)80
Figure 4.6 Rhamnetin is neuroprotective against N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) toxicity during ethanol withdrawal (EWD)

Figure 4.7 High concentration of rhamnetin induces spontaneous NO release a	ind
toxicity during ethanol withdrawal (EWD)	.83
Figure 5.1 Agrobacterium rhizogenes mediated transformation of S. nemoralis1	04
Figure 5.2 GUS histochemical staining of transformed S. nemoralis1	05

#### **CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION**

### 1.1 General introduction

Alcohol dependence arises from a complex interaction of genetics, environment, and co-morbid psychiatric conditions and varies greatly between individuals in onset, course and duration. It results from the maladaptive and harmful consumption of alcohol ultimately leading to clinical impairment or distress as characterized by an increase in alcohol consumption, the persistent desire to consume alcohol, failure to cut down or control drinking, tolerance to the acute intoxicating effects of alcohol, and signs of alcohol withdrawal syndrome [1]. Alcohol dependence is estimated to affect 140 million people worldwide resulting in 3.3 million deaths associated with alcohol use every year [2]. In the USA, it is estimated to afflict 8.5% of the population [3] resulting in a massive medical, societal and economic burden [4].

Chronic alcohol use ultimately results in significant brain damage and loss as measured both post mortem [5] and *in vivo* using Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) [6]. The majority of brain damage associated with alcohol dependence has been attributed to liver compromise and malnutrition, specifically thiamine deficiency, both of which contribute to the subsequent manifestation of Wernicke encephalopathy (WE) and Korsakoff syndrome (KS) [7]. Although WE and KS are well characterized neurological disorders with specific brain pathology and behavioral deficit, evidence of brain damage in uncomplicated alcoholics (no WE or KS) has also been shown in both post mortem and MRI studies [8]. Importantly, chronic alcohol consumption in uncomplicated alcoholics not only produces diffuse brain atrophy but also results in cognitive impairment [9], specifically memory and executive function deficits [10]. These behavioral deficits may, in turn, lead to excessive and chronic alcohol drinking. Therefore, alcohol-induced neurodegeneration has been hypothesized to contribute to

the progressive loss of control over drinking [11] and to be an integral component of the spiral of addiction [12]. In support, a recent prospective study in humans shows that volume deficits in specific brain regions were predictive of time to relapse into alcohol use [13].

Given the evidence for neurodegeneration in alcohol dependence, and the potential role of such cognitive impairment in promoting ongoing alcohol consumption, the development of treatment strategies to attenuate alcohol-induced neurodegeneration is imperative. Such a treatment would likely slow or even reverse cognitive impairment associated with alcohol use. This would allow an individual greater executive control over alcohol consumption and perhaps ultimately lead to recovery. However, with the possible exception of acamprosate (see below) there are no current neuroprotective pharmacotherapies approved for the treatment of alcohol dependence. Current FDA approved pharmacotherapies for alcohol dependence (i.e., disulfiram, naltrexone, and acamprosate) are primarily aimed at treating the behavioral manifestation of alcohol dependence. Specifically, disulfiram prevents the metabolism of acetaldehyde resulting in acute nefarious sensitivity to alcohol. Naltrexone is an opioid receptor antagonist which is thought to reduce the hedonic value of alcohol therefore reducing excessive drinking and the risk of relapse. Although the specific mechanisms of acamprosate are unknown, it is thought to reduce alcohol drinking by restoring balance to y-aminobutyric acid (GABA) and glutamate neurotransmission. Importantly, acamprosate is also thought to reduce alcohol dependence in part due to its potential neuroprotective properties [14] providing initial support for the efficacy of neuroprotective drugs in the treatment of alcohol dependence.

In sum, alcohol dependence leads to harmful consumption of alcohol which results in significant brain damage and consequent cognitive deficits making it more

difficult to control alcohol consumption. As such, neuroprotective pharmacotherapies have been proposed as a treatment strategy for alcohol dependence and understanding the mechanisms of ethanol-induced neurotoxicity is essential for this aim. The following section will describe in detail specific mechanisms of ethanol-induced neurotoxicity, as well as their possible interactions.

### 1.2 Mechanisms of ethanol-induced neurotoxicity

Ethanol is a small organic molecule that is both hydrophilic and lipophilic, and can therefore easily pass through cell membranes and distribute readily throughout the entire body. Its small size and physicochemical properties also allow it to interact with a wide variety of biological substrates and ethanol therefore exhibits a wide spectrum of pharmacological activities. As such, ethanol has long been suspected to induce neurotoxicity through a variety of mechanisms which include, but are not limited to, oxidative stress, neuroinflammation and excitotoxicity. Importantly, these mechanisms are associated with different phases in the cycle of dependence. Ethanol exposure is associated with oxidative stress and neuroinflammation, whereas ethanol withdrawal (EWD) is associated with excitotoxicity. These mechanisms have been mostly studied individually as if they were separate but, in reality, they undoubtedly interact. Indeed, changes which occur during ethanol exposure are bound to extend into EWD and influence neurotoxicity at that time. The sections below will focus on mechanisms of ethanol-induced neurotoxicity during exposure and during EWD as well as their possible interactions.

### 1.2.1 Oxidative stress

Oxidative stress occurs in the majority of neurodegenerative diseases and manifests when the excessive generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) surpasses endogenous antioxidant mechanisms [15]. In ethanol-induced neurotoxicity, oxidative

stress results primarily from the excessive generation of ROS as a consequence of ethanol metabolism [16]. The first step in the metabolism of ethanol is its conversion to acetaldehyde by alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH). Acetaldehyde is a highly reactive molecule which itself forms toxic protein adducts [17] and is in turn metabolized to acetate by acetaldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH). Both metabolic steps rely on nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD) as a cofactor which is converted to its reduced form (NADH) in the process. The consequent increase in the NADH:NAD<sup>+</sup> ratio enhances the mitochondrial electron transport chain which leads to the formation of ROS [18]. Excessive ROS can freely react with DNA, proteins and lipids resulting in direct structural DNA damage, protein dysfunction and lipid peroxidation, culminating in cell death. This has important implications for peripheral tissue damage, particularly in the liver, where the majority of ADH and ALDH are found. However, ethanol induces the expression of ROS generating cytochrome P450 2E1 (CYP2E1) both in the liver [19] and in the brain [20]. In the brain, CYP2E1 is capable of metabolizing ethanol which generates ROS [21]. Therefore, although oxidative stress is particularly relevant for alcohol liver disease it is also important as a toxic mechanism in the brain. In support, potent antioxidants, such as ascorbic acid, thiamine, quercetin [22], cyanidin-3-glucoside [23], cannabidoil, butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT), alpha-tocopherol [24, 25] and tocotrienol [26] decrease oxidative stress and neurotoxicity in various models of ethanolinduced neurotoxicity. In sum, ethanol metabolism generates oxidative stress in all cells in which it occurs. Therefore, this mechanism of neurotoxicity is particularly relevant during ethanol exposure.

### 1.2.2 Neuroinflammation

Neuroinflammation is thought to contribute to a variety of neurodegenerative diseases [27] and to a variety of acute neuronal injuries such as stroke [28] and

traumatic brain injury [29]. As such, neuroinflammation has also been proposed as a potential mechanism of neurotoxicity during ethanol exposure. In fact, research on peripheral tissues has long recognized chronic inflammation as an important factor in ethanol-induced tissue damage. Chronic ethanol consumption increases the leakiness of the gut which results in elevated levels of circulating bacterial endotoxin, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) [30]. In turn, LPS activates peripheral immune cells which release toxic proinflammatory cytokines. Since ethanol disrupts the blood brain barrier (BBB) [31], LPS may enter the central nervous system (CNS) and activate neuroimmune cells despite its low permeability under normal physiological conditions [32]. As such, postmortem human alcoholic brains exhibit upregulated neuroimmune gene expression [33] and increased markers of microglial activation and proinflammatory signaling [34]. However, it is still unclear whether this is a result of LPS infiltration in the brain or the direct effects of ethanol on neuroimmune cells. Indeed, studies in vitro show that ethanol directly activates toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) in a variety of isolated neuroimmune cells [35, 36]. TLR4 is the main receptor for the innate immune system and also the primary target for LPS. These studies were extended to isolated microglia where ethanol activates TLR4 and induces a proinflammatory response [37, 38]. Moreover, these in vitro studies were corroborated in vivo using TLR4 knock-out mice [39]. Interestingly, mice chronically force-fed ethanol for 10 days exhibited increased proinflammatory signaling in the brain and, more importantly, a sensitized proinflammatory response to a subsequent challenge with LPS [40]. Thus, ethanol and increased LPS permeability may both be responsible for the excessive proinflammatory signaling observed in the brain during ethanol exposure.

When neuroinflammatory signaling becomes chronic and/or excessive it can induce neurotoxicity through a variety of mechanisms, including apoptosis, excitotoxicity,

immune activation and oxidative stress [41]. This already suggests significant interactions with other mechanisms of ethanol-induced neurotoxicity. However, evidence for the direct contribution of neuroinflammation to ethanol-induced neurotoxicity is limited and usually involves other mechanisms, such as oxidative stress. For example, curcumin [42] and cyanidin-3-glucoside [23], have both been shown to reduce neuroinflammation and neuronal damage in rodent neonatal models of ethanol-induced neurotoxicity. However, both compounds are known antioxidants [43, 44] and thus their anti-inflammatory effects are not necessarily responsible for their neuroprotective effects. Similarly, using the Majchrowicz binge ethanol protocol [45], BHT protects against ethanol induced brain damage presumably through anti-inflammatory effects as it was found to reduce NF-KappaB binding [25]. However, BHT is also known to have potent antioxidant properties. The most compelling evidence for the direct contribution of neuroinflammation in ethanol-induced neurotoxicity so far is from studies using TLR4 knockout mice, which are protected against ethanol-induced neuronal damage [39].

Taken together, ethanol induces proinflammatory signaling during ethanol exposure and may cause neurotoxicity at that time. This could be due to the direct effects of ethanol on neuroimmune cells and/or the infiltration of LPS into the brain through compromised gut and BBB. The combination of these mechanisms is more likely but this remains uncertain today. Nevertheless, neuroinflammation is therefore a mechanism of neurotoxicity that is particularly relevant during ethanol exposure, but given its downstream effects it is likely to affect excitotoxicity during EWD. The work presented in this dissertation aims to shed some light on this particular interaction.

#### 1.2.3 Excitotoxicity

Ethanol has profound effects on the glutamate system in the CNS, and EWDinduced excitotoxicity is believed to result from maladaptive alterations to this system

that occur during ethanol exposure. Ethanol exposure upregulates the number of Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDAR) [46, 47] and/or changes their subunit composition [48], resulting in hypersensitive conformations of the receptor [49]. This is presumed to occur via homeostatic changes in response to the acute inhibitory effects of ethanol at the NMDAR [50]. In parallel, several lines of investigation have found that release of glutamate [51] and polyamines [52] is greater during EWD, potentially compounding the effects of functionally up-regulated NMDARs. The overall result is the excessive activation of already sensitive NMDARs and the consequent influx of excessive calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) into neurons during EWD. Indeed, extensive work from our laboratory using organotypic rat hippocampal cultures chronically exposed to ethanol supports these mechanisms. As such, we have shown that ethanol exposure induces glutamate, putrescine and spermidine release in culture media during EWD [52] and increases polypeptide expression of mGluR5 and NR1 and NR2B subunits of NMDARs [53]. Moreover, EWD induced cytotoxicity is enhanced by co-exposure to spermidine [54] and EWD induced Ca<sup>2+</sup> can be blocked by NMDAR antagonists [55]. In turn, Prendergast et al showed in the same preparations that rapid and significant Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry occurs during EWD which is followed by excitotoxic cell death [56] and that prolonged ethanol exposure was found to significantly reduce immunolabeling of calbindin-D<sub>28k</sub>, a calcium buffering protein, suggesting that the neuronal capacity to buffer excessive Ca2+ is also impaired [57]. Aberrant intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> has, in turn, been proposed to activate Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent lytic enzymes, disrupt mitochondrial function ultimately leading to ROS generation and neuronal damage [58, 59].

In support, several *in vitro* studies using NMDAR antagonists with subtly different mechanisms show that blocking these receptors prevents excessive intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> during EWD and consequent neurotoxicity. For example, MK-801 and ifenprodil inhibit

neurotoxicity and Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry induced by EWD in organotypic hippocampal slices [55]. Similarly, memantine was shown to reduce EWD induced neurotoxicity *in vitro* [60]. Moreover, several *in vivo* studies have shown that NMDAR antagonists can reduce seizure activity associated with EWD and the consequent cognitive deficits. As such, memantine reduces EWD induced convulsions [60], MK-801 blocks EWD seizures [61] and 4 weeks of memantine treatment during EWD completely reverses cognitive deficits, as measured by the Morris water maze, 10 weeks after the onset EWD [62].

Taken together, ethanol exposure produces profound neuroadaptations to the glutamate system ultimately resulting in hyperexcitable state which leads to excitotoxicity when ethanol is removed. Therefore, this mechanism of neurotoxicity is primarily relevant to periods of EWD.

### **1.3 Possible interactions**

Clinically, alcohol dependence is a chronic relapsing condition in which repeated bouts of ethanol exposure and EWD become cyclical. Therefore, changes occurring during ethanol exposure may have important implications for mechanisms of neurotoxicity during EWD. Conversely, changes occurring during EWD may also have important implications for the mechanisms of neurotoxicity during subsequent ethanol exposure.

### 1.3.1 Changes during ethanol exposure may affect neurotoxic mechanisms during EWD

Although generation of ROS is primarily a consequence of ethanol metabolism, neuroinflammation also leads to ROS generation [63, 64]. Therefore, during ethanol exposure, ethanol metabolism and neuroinflammation may act hand in hand to produce excessive amounts of ROS. Since excitotoxic injuries also involve the generation of ROS

[65], the impact of ROS generation during exposure may extend into EWD and contribute to excitotoxicity.

Changes to neuroimmune signaling induced by ethanol may also have important implications for excitotoxicity during EWD. In fact, neuroinflammation has been shown to exacerbate excitotoxicity [66] through a variety of mechanisms. For example, activated microglia release quinolinic acid [67] and glutamate [68], which are both capable of activating the NMDAR. TNF-alpha, one of the main proinflammatory cytokines, downregulates EAAT2/GLT1 expression on glia [69], in turn increasing extra-synaptic glutamate concentrations. TNF-alpha has also been found to upregulate Ca<sup>2+</sup> permeable AMPA receptors [70, 71] which may contribute to overall glutamate hyperexcitability. Similarly, nitric oxide (NO), another proinflammatory mediator, directly contributes to excitotoxicity [72-74] and induces glutamate release from neurons by inhibiting neuronal respiration [75]. Therefore, changes in neuroimmune signaling, which tend to be prolonged, initiated during ethanol exposure may extend into EWD and enhance excitotoxicity.

The fact that specific mechanisms initiated during ethanol exposure may contribute to or enhance neurotoxic mechanisms during EWD does not exclude the fact that the opposite may also be true and adaptive changes during ethanol exposure may help reduce toxicity during EWD. For example, increased levels of ROS scavenger enzymes, including superoxide dismutase and glutathione reductase, have been observed in erythrocytes from alcoholic individuals [76]. If similar changes occur in the brain this could reduce the ROS-mediated consequences of excitotoxicity in AWD. However, evidence for neuroprotective adaptations induced by ethanol exposure is limited.

### 1.3.2 Changes during EWD may affect neurotoxic mechanisms during subsequent ethanol exposure

It is clear that changes in oxidative stress and neuroinflammation during ethanol exposure are likely to affect excitotoxicity during EWD. However, there is limited evidence on the effects of excitotoxicity on oxidative stress and neuroinflammation associated with a subsequent exposure to ethanol. This is surprising given the fact that EWD is well known to have a kindling effect and repeated EWDs increase in severity [77, 78]. Nevertheless, there is some evidence that excitotoxicity may enhance oxidative stress and neuroinflammation. As mentioned above, excitotoxicity involves the generation of ROS [65] and may add to the pool of reactive species when ethanol metabolism is resumed during subsequent ethanol exposure. Additionally, excitotoxicity has been shown to induce a delayed proinflammatory response [79] which may affect subsequent neuroinflammatory signaling induced by ethanol exposure. The research presented in this dissertation focuses primarily on the impact of ethanol exposure during EWD and not on the impact of EWD on subsequent exposure. However, repeated EWD paradigms, such as in vivo intermittent access to ethanol [80] or in vitro repeated ethanol exposure using organotypic cultures [81], may be valuable for evaluating the effects of EWD-induced excitotoxicity on oxidative stress and neuroinflammation during subsequent ethanol exposure.

### **1.4** Therapeutic implications

As described in the previous section, ethanol causes neurotoxicity via several mechanisms at different points in the cycle of dependence and these mechanisms undoubtedly interact. Therefore, the primary therapeutic implication is that alcohol-induced neurodegeneration requires multi-functional pharmacotherapies targeted at numerous mechanisms of ethanol-induced neurotoxicity. This has already been

recognized for other neurodegenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer's [82] and Parkinson's disease [83], for which multi-targeted designed drugs are currently being developed [84]. Multi-targeted designed drugs entail a single pharmacotherapy that is either pharmacologically promiscuous enough to hit numerous targets simultaneously, or one that is specific to a single target that is capable of interfering with several pathological mechanisms. One such single target is the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor which has emerged as a pluripotent target for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases [85].

Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) form a large heterogeneous family of ligand gated cationic receptors by combining 12 different subunits (alpha2-alpha10, beta2-beta4) into heteromeric and homomeric pentamers. They are widely and differentially expressed in various regions throughout the CNS and serve a variety of functions. The major subtypes found in the brain are the alpha4-beta2 heteromeric nAChRs and the alpha7 homomeric nAChRs. Alpha7 nAChRs are discreetly distributed throughout the CNS and are mainly found in hippocampal, hypothalamic and cerebellar neurons as well as the 10<sup>th</sup> cranial nerve, the vagus (Latin "wanderer"). Moreover, alpha7 nAChRs have been found on non-neuronal cells such as macrophages [86], astrocytes [87], and microglia [88]. Thus, alpha7 nAChRs are present on neurons and neuroimmune cells and the following sections will discuss how their activation has the potential to attenuate neuroinflammation and excitotoxicity.

### 1.4.1 Alpha7 nAChR activation on microglia reduces neuroinflammation

The potential role of nAChRs in immune regulation was first described with the discovery of the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway which involves the vagus nerve and its major neurotransmitter, acetylcholine. As such, acetylcholine has been shown to inhibit LPS-induced release of proinflammatory cytokines from peripheral macrophages,

an effect that could be blocked by alpha-conotoxin [89]. In the same study, the authors were able to show that vagal nerve stimulation could rescue animals from a lethal dose of LPS, thereby implicating both acetylcholine and the vagus nerve in protection against sepsis. Subsequent studies showed that the endogenous target for the anti-inflammatory effects of acetylcholine was the alpha7 nAChR making it central in neurological control of peripheral inflammation [90]. For example, Wang et al showed in an elegant study using alpha7 nAChR specific antisense oligonucleotides, that nicotine inhibits LPSinduced TNF synthesis in macrophage cultures specifically via alpha7 nAChRs [86]. The pivotal role that nAChRs play in control of inflammation may in turn explain the negative association of cigarette smoking and the incidence of inflammatory diseases, such as ulcerative colitis [91]. Alpha7 nAChRs were then found to not only be important in peripheral inflammatory processes but also be important in inflammatory processes in the brain. Indeed, alpha7 nAChRs are expressed on microglia and nicotine or acetylcholine dose dependently attenuate microglial activation as well as LPS-induced TNF-alpha release through an alpha7 nAChR dependent pathway [88]. A number of intracellular signaling pathways have been implicated in alpha7 nAChR inflammatory modulation, namely reduction of nuclear factor kappa-B (NF-KB) mediated transcription [92], inhibition of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) phosphorylation [88] and phosphorylation of protein kinase B (Akt) through phophatidyl-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase (PI3K) activation [93], but the specific mechanisms remain unclear. Taken together, alpha7 nAChRs are central to inflammatory signaling in both the periphery and in the CNS and are therefore valuable as pharmacological targets for reducing neuroinflammation [94].

### 1.4.2 Alpha7 nAChR activation on neurons reduces excitotoxicity

The neuroprotective properties of nicotine have been extensively studied in the context of neurodegenerative diseases and was probably sparked, in part, by the negative association of cigarette smoking with the incidence of AD and PD [95]. As such, nicotine has been shown to be neuroprotective in a variety of in vitro and in vivo models of neurodegenerative diseases and brain injury (reviewed elsewhere [96]). Specifically, nicotinic agonists have been extensively shown to protect neurons from excitotoxic injury. For example, the original studies by Akaike et al show that nicotine protects cultured cortical neurons against glutamate toxicity [97]. Subsequently, nicotine was shown to prevent NMDA-induced toxicity in primary hippocampal neurons specifically via alpha7 nAChR activation because the neuroprotective effects of nicotine were blocked by methyl-lycaconitine (MLA) [98]. Moreover, similar findings were shown in hippocampal slice cultures [99]. Eventually, the neuroprotective effects of nicotine were shown to be effective against ethanol-induced excitotoxicity in that nicotine exposure attenuates EWD induced neurotoxicity in hippocampal explants [100]. In support, 3-[2,4dimethoxybenzylidene]anabaseine (DMXB), a relatively selective agonist for the alpha7 nAChR, was also shown to inhibit ethanol induced neurotoxicity [101-104]. The specific downstream mechanisms responsible for the neuroprotection afforded by alpha7 nAChR activation are still uncertain but a few possibilities have been proposed. For example, increased intracellular Ca2+ buffering has been proposed as a potential mechanism because nicotine treatment significantly increased calbindin-D<sub>28k</sub> immunoreactivity in hippocampal slice cultures [57]. Another possibility is via NMDAR cross-desensitization. For example, donepezil hydrochloride, which directly modulates nAChR [105], was found to mediate phosphorylation and subsequent internalization of NMDAR subunits NR1 and NR2A via alpha7 nAChR activation thereby preventing excitotoxicity [106]. Taken

together, alpha7 nAChRs constitute a viable pharmacological target to reduce excitotoxicity associated with EWD. In addition, emerging preclinical and clinical studies suggests that the cholinergic system may also be a valuable target for reducing ethanol drinking behaviors [107].

#### 1.5 Finding novel alpha7 nAChR selective compounds in plants

As described in the previous section, alpha7 nAChR selective agonists constitute potential pharmacotherapies for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases by attenuating neuroinflammation and excitotoxicity. In fact, there have been considerable efforts made towards synthesizing alpha7 nAChR selective ligands in the last decade [108] but none have made it to market. Interestingly, most of these synthetic compounds are derived from alkaloids originally discovered in plants [109]. Most plant nAChR ligands are simple alkaloids like nicotine, anatabine, and lobeline which are either toxic, or have abuse liability, due partly to their high affinity and selectivity for alpha4-beta2 nAChRs [110]. However, not all plant alkaloids have this selectivity and MLA, for example, is a relatively selective antagonist for alpha7 nAChRs [111, 112]. This suggests that plants may contain novel alpha7 nAChR selective ligands that would have therapeutic value for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases.

Traditional approaches to plant drug discovery are time consuming and costly because they usually require separation and purification of compounds before pharmacological evaluation. Moreover, using a single pharmacological screen on plant extracts would likely yield extremely high hit rates making it difficult to prioritize one plant extract over another. However, applying several pharmacological screens to plant extracts circumvents these difficulties and can yield lower hit rates. Thus, to identify plants containing alpha7 selective compounds we developed a differential smart screening approach that relies on three individual pharmacological screens and applied

it to a large plant extract library [113]. In brief, plant extracts were first evaluated for their ability to displace a nonsubtype selective nAChR ligand, [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine, in rat brain homogenates to assess the presence of any nAChR activity. Plant extracts that displayed nAChR activity were then evaluated and compared simultaneously for their ability to displace an alpha4-beta2 selective ligand, [<sup>3</sup>H]-cytisine, and an alpha7 selective ligand, [<sup>3</sup>H]-MLA. Plant extracts that displaced [3H]-MLA at lower concentrations than they displaced [3H]-cytisine were considered likely to contain alpha7-selective compounds. Only 8 species displayed this pharmacological signature and *Solidago nemoralis* was chosen for further investigation because this genus has not been reported to contain bioactive alkaloids (making it likely that active compounds would be novel). Identifying and characterizing the compounds responsible for this activity is a primary aim of the current dissertation.

### 1.6 Project overview

This dissertation focuses on the role of neuroinflammation in modulating excitotoxicity which occurs during EWD. The primary hypothesis is that enhanced neuroinflammation associated with ethanol exposure potentiates excitotoxicity during EWD. The primary therapeutic implication is therefore that ethanol neurotoxicity requires multi-functional pharmacotherapies that reduce neuroinflammation and excitotoxicity. Alpha7 nAChR selective pharmacotherapies have the potential to do both and novel compounds from *Solidago nemoralis* with relative selectivity for this receptor subtype were investigated in the work herein.

The aims of this dissertation are to (1) increase our understanding of the interaction between neuroinflammation and excitotoxicity during EWD, (2) identify and characterize novel natural products with alpha7 nAChR selective activity and (3) evaluate their anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties *in vitro*. Thus, the first

chapter explains how we developed an *in vitro* model of ethanol induced neurotoxicity which includes neuroinflammatory and excitotoxic components, the second chapter presents the discovery of specific flavonoids with selectivity for alpha7 nAChRs relative to alpha4-beta2 and how this activity may contribute to their well-known antiinflammatory properties, and in the third chapter we evaluate the candidate flavonoid rhamnetin in the model of ethanol induced neurotoxicity described in chapter 1.

- Primary hypothesis: enhanced neuroinflammation associated with ethanol exposure potentiates excitotoxicity during EWD
- Therapeutic implication: ethanol-induced neurotoxicity requires multi-functional pharmacotherapies targeted at reducing neuroinflammation and excitotoxicity
- Therapeutic target: alpha7 nAChR agonists have the potential to reduce neuroinflammation and excitotoxicity
- Therapeutic aim: to identify and characterize novel alpha7 nAChR selective plant natural products

Copyright © Joseph Alfred Lutz 2014

### CHAPTER 2. ALTERED RELATION BETWEEN LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE AND EXCITOTOXICITY IN RAT ORGANOTYPIC HIPPOCAMPAL SLICE CULTURES DURING ETHANOL WITHDRAWAL

Manuscript submitted to Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research

### 2.1 Introduction

Ethanol causes neurotoxicity via several mechanisms [114] at different points in the cycle of dependence, including ethanol exposure and ethanol withdrawal (EWD). Ethanol exposure is generally associated more with oxidative stress [64] and neuroinflammation [115] whereas EWD is associated with excitotoxicity [59]. These mechanisms have mostly been studied as if they were separate, but the possibility that there are important interactions between them has rarely been considered. For example, although oxidative stress is most directly a consequence of ethanol metabolism [116], the generation of reactive oxygen species is also part of the mechanism of toxicity in excitotoxic damage [117]. Therefore, the impact of ethanol metabolism can extend into EWD and contribute to oxidative stress produced by excitotoxicity. Similarly, neuroimmune signaling changes induced by ethanol exposure may extend into EWD and potentiate excitotoxicity observed at that time. In this study we investigate the potential interaction between neuroinflammation and excitotoxicity during EWD. A major aim is to identify cellular and molecular targets in order to devise novel pharmacotherapies for ethanol-induced neurotoxicity.

The precise mechanisms that cause excitotoxicity during EWD are uncertain, but increased activity of the glutamate system is fundamental [118]. Most evidence supports two possible mechanisms that are not exclusionary. One is that ethanol exposure upregulates the number of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDAR) [47] and/or changes their subunit composition [48], resulting in hypersensitive conformations of the

receptor [49]. The second is that release of glutamate [51] and polyamines [52] is greater during EWD, resulting in the overactivation of NMDARs. These mechanisms of EWD-induced excitotoxicity are closely interrelated *in vivo*, but they can be evaluated separately ex vivo in cell culture systems such as organotypic hippocampal slice cultures (OHSC) [119] where exogenous activation of NMDARs can be used to cause neurotoxicity. Studies on OHSC (e.g. [52, 53]) suggest that both the functional upregulation of NMDARs and increased release of glutamate and polyamines contribute to EWD-induced excitotoxicity in this model. In the current study we focused on NMDAR hypersensitivity by activating these receptors with exogenous NMDA during EWD. Many previous studies (e.g. [55, 120]) have shown that NMDA-induced toxicity is enhanced under EWD conditions.

None of the above studies exclude other mechanisms, such as neuroinflammation, as contributing to excitotoxicity during EWD. In support, it has previously been reported that neuroinflammation enhances excitotoxicity in OHSC [121]. Therefore, the current study tested the primary hypothesis that ethanol exposure causes neuroinflammation, which then potentiates excitotoxicity during EWD.

To date, research on ethanol exposure and neuroinflammation has focused on changes that occur in the presence of ethanol rather than during EWD. Increased release of proinflammatory mediators from microglia, the primary immune cells of the central nervous system, as a consequence of ethanol exposure is probably fundamental, but as with excitotoxicity, two major mechanisms have been proposed for this. One is that ethanol exposure results in increased influx of lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a bacterial endotoxin, via the gut [30] and blood brain barrier [31], thereby activating microglia directly. The second is that ethanol exposure directly affects microglia [38] and sensitizes their response to LPS [40]. The possible contribution of these mechanisms is

difficult to separate *in vivo* but, as with excitotoxicity, OHSC can be used to dissect these possibilities because exogenous LPS can be used to activate microglia in the culture [122].

To test the primary hypothesis, OHSCs were stimulated to release proinflammatory mediators by treatment with exogenous LPS during EWD. If prior ethanol exposure sensitizes microglia, OHSC should release greater amounts of proinflammatory mediators in response to LPS during EWD. In turn, the enhanced proinflammatory response should lead to a further enhancement of excitotoxicity induced by an NMDA challenge. The specific prediction to be tested in these experiments is therefore that ethanol exposure should result in increased excitotoxicity when OHSC are challenged with both LPS and NMDA during EWD. Previous studies have used OHSC to study the effects of ethanol on excitotoxicity [123] and neuroinflammation [81] but there are no published studies on the interaction between these.

Microglia have a fundamental role in the hypotheses that connect ethanolinduced neurotoxicity with neuroinflammation [124]. However, all brain preparations, including OHSCs, contain other types of glia, including astrocytes [125] and oligodendrocytes [126] as well as microglia [127]. All these cell types may contribute to the LPS-induced inflammatory response [128] and modify excitotoxicity. In an attempt to address this issue we evaluated the effects of chronic ethanol exposure on cultures in which only immortalized microglia of the BV2 cell line are present. We then evaluated their subsequent response to LPS during EWD, thereby mirroring the studies on OHSC. If ethanol induces direct effects specifically on microglia, and these effects are responsible for changes observed in OHSCs, then it should be possible to observe similar effects in BV2 cell cultures.

Together these studies aim to increase our understanding of the mechanisms underlying excitotoxicity associated with EWD. It should be emphasized that OHSC and immortalized BV2 microglia are being used to dissect mechanisms of ethanol-induced neurotoxicity rather than to "model" all aspects of alcohol-induced neurodegeneration. Subsequent studies *in vivo* will be necessary to confirm the observations *in vitro*, but the culture systems provide a means of identifying specific cell types and molecular targets that are of potential value in treating this aspect of alcoholism.

### 2.2 Materials and methods

### 2.2.1 Organotypic hippocampal slice culture (OHSC) preparation

OHSC were prepared essentially as described by Stoppini et al. [129]. Briefly, hippocampi were aseptically removed from 8-day-old Sprague-Dawley male and female rat pups and sliced at a transverse thickness of 200 µm using a McIlwain tissue chopper (Campden Instruments Ltd., Lafayette, ID). Slices were transferred to sterile culture inserts (4 slices per insert) and placed in 6-well-plates containing culture medium (Minimum Essential Medium (Life Technologies Corporation, Grand Island, NY), 200mM glutamine (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA), 25mM HEPES (ATCC, Manassas, VA), 50uM penicillin/streptomycin (ATCC, Manassas, VA), 36mM glucose, 25% (v/v) Hank's buffered salt solution (Gibco BRL, Gaithersburg, MD), 25% heat-inactivated horse serum (Sigma, St. Louis, MO)). Cultures were maintained at 37°C in an atmosphere of 5% CO2/95% air in 95% humidity for 5 days *in vitro* (DIV) to allow slices to adhere to the insert membrane. The care of animals was carried out in accordance with the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (NIH Publications No. 80-23, revised 1996), as well as the University of Kentucky's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

### 2.2.2 Ethanol exposure and withdrawal (EWD)

At 6 DIV, slices were placed in culture media with or without the addition of 100mM ethanol, incubated for 10 DIV and then subjected to EWD for 24h, 48h or 72h. During exposure, the plates were placed in topless polypropylene containers containing 50mL of 100mM ethanol or dH2O accordingly, and placed inside sealable plastic bags filled with 5% CO2, 21% oxygen, and a balance of nitrogen. The ethanol solution was used as an evaporating source of ethanol to counter the evaporation of ethanol from the culture wells resulting in an average ethanol concentration of 65mM (a concentration that approximates 300mg/dL) during the 5 DIV between media changes. At the onset of EWD, slices were further separated into groups and treated accordingly: control media, 5uM NMDA (Sigma Aldrich Co. LCC., St. Louis, MO), 10ug/mL lipopolysaccharide from Escherichia coli 026:B6 (LPS, Lot #: 021M4072V; Sigma Aldrich Co. LCC., St. Louis, MO) or both NMDA and LPS combined. A single concentration of LPS was used in these experiments because in preliminary experiments using a range of concentrations (100ng/mL, 1ug/ml and 10ug/mL) 10ug/mL produced measurable release of TNFalpha and nitric oxide. Similarly, a single concentration of NMDA was used because previous work from our laboratory [52] shows that 5uM NMDA is the lowest concentration to consistently produce significant toxicity in OHSC.

### 2.2.3 Assessment of toxicity by propidium iodide uptake

Propidium iodide (PI) is a membrane impermeable, DNA intercalating fluorescent molecule that is commonly used in OSHC as a semi-quantitative stain for cellular toxicity and has been significantly correlated to other reliable markers of cell death [130]. Although there has been extensive work on NMDA and EWD toxicity in OHSC using a variety of cell-type specific markers [131], it is uncertain how these markers are affected by LPS in this model. The current study focused on the interaction between NMDA and LPS and since PI uptake has been used in OHSC to assess both NMDA [131] and LPS [122] induced toxicity separately, it was therefore chosen for the current study to assess overall toxicity.

For 24h EWD, slices were directly challenged in culture media containing 3.74uM propidium iodide (PI; Sigma Aldrich Co. LCC., St. Louis, MO). For 48h and 72h EWD, slices were originally challenged in culture media without PI and each well was supplemented with 10uL of concentrated PI (374uM) to obtain a final concentration of 3.74uM PI 24h prior to imaging. Slice images were captured using SPOT Advanced software (Version 4.0.9; W. Nuhsbaum Inc., McHenry, IL) connected to an inverted Leica DMIRB microscope (W. Nuhsbaum Inc.) fitted for fluorescence detection (mercury-arc lamp) and connected to a computer via a SPOT 7.2 color mosaic camera (W. Nuhsbaum Inc). PI uptake in the CA1, CA3, and DG cell layers was measured using ImageJ software (Version 1.46; National Institute of Health, Bethesda, MD). Background signal was subtracted from intensities obtained for each cell layer resulting in specific intensities which were used for statistical analysis. These values were then converted to % control (no EWD, no NMDA, and no LPS) within each preparation for graphical representation and clarity across time points.

### 2.2.4 Assessment of inflammatory mediator release

Once slices were imaged, inserts were discarded and the resulting media was collected for assessment of inflammatory mediator release. Nitric oxide (NO) release was assessed by the Griess Reagent System (Promega Corporation, Madison, WI) according to the manufacturer's instructions. All samples were assayed in duplicate and nitrite content was estimated using a reference NaNO<sub>2</sub> standard curve performed with each assay. TNF-alpha content was assessed by enzyme linked immunosorbent assay

kit (ELISA; Ready-Set-Go!® ELISA, eBioscience Inc., San Diego, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. All samples were assayed in duplicate and TNF-alpha content was estimated from a reference TNF-alpha standard curve performed with each assay.

#### 2.2.5 BV2 microglia culture

BV2 microglia are derived raf/myc-immortalized murine neonatal microglia. They were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium/Ham's F12 nutrient mix supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and antibiotics (penicillin 100U/ml, streptomycin 100ug/ml; all from Life Technologies Corp., Grand Island, NY). Cells were kept at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of air and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and propagated in T25 flasks (Techno Plastic Products AG, Trasadingen, Switzerland) in media with or without 100mM EtOH in sealable plastic bags as described above to avoid EtOH evaporation. They were split every 2-3 days and subjected to EWD after 10 days. During EWD, cells were seeded in 24 well plates at densities of  $5x10^5$  cells/well, allowed to adhere overnight and then challenged with 1µg/mL LPS for 24h. Culture media was collected and assessed for inflammatory mediators as described above. Cell viability was measured using resazurin salt fluorescence (7-hydroxy-3H-phenoxazin-3-one-10-oxide sodium salt; Sigma Aldrich Co. LCC., St. Louis, MO) and normalized to percentage control (no LPS group).

### 2.2.6 Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Version 21 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY) and graphed using Prism (Graphpad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA). PI uptake was measured in three different regions (DG, CA3 and CA1). Thus, PI uptake was analyzed by multi-factorial, repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) with region as within-subjects variables and sex, EWD,

NMDA, and LPS as between-subjects factors. Data were obtained from separate preparations for each length of treatment and EWD (24h, 48h, and 72h). Thus, preparation and time point were used as covariates to control for differences across litters/culture preparations and time of exposure. Significant interactions were further investigated at each time point using post hoc pair-wise comparisons using Fisher's LSD test. TNF-alpha and NO release from OHSC were also analyzed by multi-factorial ANOVA with the following factors: sex, EWD, NMDA and LPS as well as preparation and time point using post hoc pair-time further investigated at each time point interactions were further and LPS as well as preparation and time point using post hoc pair-wise comparisons using the point using post hoc pair-wise turker investigated at each time point using post hoc pair-wise comparisons were further investigated at each time point using post hoc pair-wise comparisons were further investigated at each time point using post hoc pair-wise comparisons with Tukey's LSD correction. TNF-alpha and NO release from BV2 microglia were analyzed by non-repeated measures two-way ANOVA with EWD and LPS as factors followed by Bonferroni post-hoc analyses.

### 2.3 Results

# 2.3.1 Effects of NMDA, LPS and EWD on cellular damage in OHSC as measured by PI uptake

An overall repeated-measures multi-factorial ANOVA was first performed on PI uptake across the treatment groups to assess whether there were any differences in the separate regions of the hippocampus and whether there were any sex effects. This analysis revealed that sex did not interact with any factors but that there was an effect of region and the highest order significant interaction included all factors except for sex (region x EWD x NMDA x LPS [F(1.09,1765.03) = 15.02, p < 0.0001] corrected using Greenhouse-Geisser). Therefore, subsequent analyses were performed within each region at each time point collapsed across sex. Analysis within each region revealed minor effects of drug treatment on PI uptake in the DG and CA3 in comparison to those observed in the CA1. Therefore, assessment of cellular damage by PI uptake was focused on the CA1 region of the hippocampus.
# 2.3.1.1 LPS treatment potentiates NMDA-induced cellular damage under control conditions

Before we could evaluate the combined effects of NMDA and LPS on hippocampal damage, we examined the effects of LPS alone under control conditions and during EWD. Slices treated with LPS alone under both conditions exhibited a speckled pattern of PI uptake throughout the slice that was not observed in untreated slices (fig 2.1). However, when quantified in the CA1 region of the hippocampus, it did not differ from untreated control or EWD slices (fig. 2.2). Despite no quantifiable effect alone, LPS significantly potentiated NMDA-induced damage under control conditions. Slices co-exposed to LPS and NMDA exhibited greater PI uptake at all time points in comparison to slices treated with NMDA alone (24h = 279%, post hoc [p < 0.01], 48h = 275%, post hoc [p < 0.0001] and 72h = 201%, post hoc [p < 0.0001], all compared to NMDA alone).

### 2.3.1.2 EWD potentiates peak NMDA-induced cellular damage

OHSC treated with NMDA under control conditions exhibited significant cellular damage in the CA1 region of the hippocampus as measured by PI uptake (fig. 2.2 - 222%, post hoc [p < 0.0001] compared to control). When coupled with EWD, PI uptake was significantly potentiated at the 24h time point (363%, post hoc [p < 0.0001] compared to NMDA). At later time points (48h and 72h), PI uptake for these groups remained significantly higher than control (post hoc [p < 0.05] compared to control at 48h and 72h) but they were not statistically different from each other.



Figure 2.1 Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) potentiates N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) toxicity under control conditions and reduces NMDA toxicity during ethanol withdrawal (EWD)

Representative images of propidium iodide uptake in organotypic hippocampal slice cultures left untreated (control) or treated with LPS, NMDA or a combination of both (NMDA+LPS) for 24h under control conditions and under EWD conditions.



Figure 2.2 Propidium iodide uptake in the CA1 region of the hippocampus following treatment with lipopolysaccharide (LPS), N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) or both.

Slices were treated with LPS, NMDA or a combination of both (NMDA+LPS) for 24h, 48h and 72h under control conditions (light bars) and under ethanol withdrawal (EWD) conditions (dark bars). Propidium iodide is expressed as percent of untreated control (means  $\pm$  SEM). Dotted line represents untreated control. \*p < 0.01 compared to NMDA alone. \*\*p < 0.05 compared to NMDA alone during EWD. \*p < 0.01 compared to NMDA+LPS. n = 64-72 slices for each treatment group (untreated, NMDA, LPS, NMDA+LPS), under both control and EWD conditions, at all time points.

# 2.3.1.3 LPS treatment reduces peak NMDA-induced cellular damage during EWD

Despite potentiation of NMDA-induced cellular damage by LPS under control conditions, the reverse was observed during peak toxicity under EWD conditions (fig. 1). Slices coexposed to NMDA and LPS during EWD exhibited lower PI uptake (278%) than slices treated with NMDA alone during EWD (363%, post hoc [p < 0.0001]). This relationship was however not observed at later time points. At the 48h and 72h time points, slices coexposed to NMDA and LPS during EWD exhibited higher PI uptake (48h = 218% and 72h = 231%) than slices treated with NMDA alone during EWD (48h = 170%, post hoc [p < 0.05] and 72h = 201%, post hoc [p < 0.05]). Interestingly, at the 48h time point, slices coexposed to NMDA and LPS during EWD (218%) exhibited significantly lower PI uptake than slices co-exposed to NMDA and LPS during EWD (218%) exhibited significantly lower PI uptake than slices co-exposed to NMDA and LPS during EWD (218%) exhibited significantly lower PI uptake than slices co-exposed to NMDA and LPS during EWD (218%) exhibited significantly lower PI uptake than slices co-exposed to NMDA and LPS during EWD (218%) exhibited significantly lower PI uptake than slices co-exposed to NMDA and LPS during EWD (218%) exhibited significantly lower PI uptake than slices co-exposed to NMDA and LPS under control conditions (275%, post hoc [p < 0.01]).

# 2.3.2 Effects of NMDA, LPS and EWD on inflammatory mediator release from OHSCs

An overall statistical analysis on TNF-alpha and NO levels measured in culture media was first performed across the treatment groups to assess whether there were effects of sex. This analysis revealed that there was no main effect of sex on TNF-alpha release [F(1,162) = 3.492, p = 0.063] or NO release [F(1,358) = 0.200, p = 0.655]. Therefore, further analyses were performed collapsed across this factor.

#### 2.3.2.1 EWD reduces LPS-induced proinflammatory mediator release

LPS treatment induced TNF-alpha release both under control conditions and during EWD (fig. 2.3A). However, in comparison to control conditions, the response was reduced during EWD (main effect of EWD [F(1,170) = 238.2, p < 0.0001]) at all time points (post hoc at 24h, 48h and 72h [p < 0.0001]). Similarly, LPS treatment induced NO





Samples were collected after 24h, 48h and 72h of LPS treatment under control conditions (light bars) or under ethanol withdrawal (EWD) conditions (dark bars) and assessed for TNFalpha (A) and NO (B) content. \*p < 0.0001 compared to LPS alone; n.d. not detected. n = 16-18 samples for each treatment group (untreated, LPS), under both control and EWD conditions at all time points.

release under control conditions and during EWD (fig. 2.3B - main effect of LPS [F(1,374) = 1508.1, p < 0.0001]). However, in comparison to control conditions, this effect was also reduced by EWD (EWD x LPS interaction [F(1,374) = 42.7, p < 0.0001]) at least at earlier time points (post hoc at 24h and 48h [p < 0.0001]). At the 72h time point, NO release from EWD slices normalized to control condition levels and there was no significant difference at that time (post hoc at 72h [p = 0.689]).

# 2.3.2.2 NMDA treatment does not induce proinflammatory mediator release and does not interact with the response to LPS

Under control conditions, NMDA alone did not induce TNF-alpha release (TNFalpha not detected) and had no effect on LPS-induced TNF-alpha release. There were no statistical differences between TNF-alpha levels measured in media from slices coexposed to NMDA and LPS and slices treated with LPS alone (post hoc at 24h [p = 0.133], at 48h [p = 0.647] and at 72h [p = 0.167]). The same pattern was observed in slices undergoing EWD. There were no statistical differences between TNF-alpha levels measured in media from slices co-exposed to NMDA and LPS and slices treated with LPS alone during EWD (post hoc at 24h [p = 0.142], 48h [p = 0.471] and 72h [p = 0.315]). Similar results were observed for NO release under control conditions (no main effect of NMDA [F(1,374) = 0.487, p = 0.486]; no NMDA x LPS interaction [F(1,374) = 0.331, p = 0.566]) and during EWD (no EWD x NMDA interaction [F(1,374) = 0.196, p = 0.658]; no EWD x NMDA x LPS interaction [F(1, 374) = 0.844, p = 0.359]).

### 2.3.3 Effects of LPS and EWD on inflammatory mediator release from BV2 microglia

BV2 microglia exposed to ethanol for 10 days did not exhibit morphological changes compared to control cultures. Additionally, cell viability, as measured by resazurin fluorescence did not differ between ethanol exposed and control cultures during these experiments. LPS treatment induced release of TNF-alpha and NO under

both control and EWD conditions (fig. 2.4). BV2 microglia undergoing EWD exhibited a reduction in LPS-induced release of NO compared to controls (main effect of EWD [F(1, 36) = 214.1, p < 0.0001]). On the other hand, BV2 microglia undergoing EWD exhibited a potentiated release of TNF-alpha induced by LPS compared to control conditions (main effect of EWD [F(1, 22) = 19.46, p < 0.001).



Figure 2.4 Release of proinflammatory cytokines from BV2 microglia following treatment with LPS.

Samples were collected after 24h of LPS treatment under control conditions (light bars) or under ethanol withdrawal (EWD) conditions (dark bars) and assessed for TNF-alpha (A) and NO (B) content. \*p < 0.05 compared to LPS alone; n.d. not detected. Treatment groups were run in quadruplicates.

#### 2.4 Discussion

The present studies were undertaken to test the hypothesis that ethanol exposure causes neuroinflammation which in turn potentiates excitotoxicity associated with EWD. Specifically, following ethanol exposure, OHSC were treated with NMDA, LPS, or the combination of both and evaluated for toxicity (PI uptake) and release of proinflammatory mediators (TNF-alpha and NO).

Prior to testing the effects of NMDA and LPS during EWD, we established their combined effects under control conditions. Our original prediction for this set of experiments was that LPS would potentiate NMDA toxicity. Zou and Crews used hippocampal-entorhinal cortical slices (similar to OHSC) to show that TNF-alpha potentiates glutamate toxicity [121] suggesting that neuroinflammation enhances excitotoxicity. We were able to corroborate and support these findings using NMDA as the excitotoxic insult and LPS as the inflammatory stimulus. LPS treatment alone did not produce quantifiable toxicity as measured by PI uptake but OHSC co-exposed to NMDA and LPS exhibited significantly more toxicity than cultures treated with NMDA alone (fig. 1).

Numerous mechanisms have been proposed for the potentiation of excitotoxicity by neuroinflammation [66]. Of particular interest to this study, NO and TNF-alpha released from immune cells have been found to contribute to excitotoxic injury by increasing extra-synaptic glutamate. In co-culture experiments, NO released from astrocytes and microglia has been shown to induce glutamate release from neurons by inhibiting neuronal respiration [75]. In parallel, TNF-alpha has been shown to downregulate glutamate reuptake by decreasing EAAT2/GLT1 expression on glia [69]. In our study, release of TNF-alpha and NO was induced by LPS and their presence in culture media could explain LPS-enhanced NMDA toxicity. As an alternative explanation,

activated microglia have been shown to release quinolinic acid [67] and glutamate [68], both of which activate NMDARs. Therefore, LPS activation of microglia may have increased the overall concentration of NMDAR agonists in the culture media thereby potentiating NMDA-induced toxicity. The precise mechanisms by which LPS enhances NMDA toxicity in the current study remain uncertain at this stage. This set of experiments supports the fact that neuroimmune signaling induced by LPS is capable of potentiating NMDAR mediated excitotoxicity and this might have important implications for neurotoxicity associated with EWD. For example, if release of NO and TNF-alpha elicited by LPS is enhanced during EWD, this may further potentiate excitotoxicity observed at that time.

Many previous studies [55, 120] using OHSC have shown that NMDA-induced toxicity is enhanced during EWD and we were able to replicate these findings in the current study. NMDA treatment alone produced robust toxicity and this was significantly potentiated during EWD. Since NMDA toxicity is enhanced by LPS under control conditions and NMDA toxicity is also enhanced by EWD, we predicted that NMDA toxicity would be further enhanced by LPS under EWD conditions. Furthermore, this was predicted to be accompanied by a greater release of proinflammatory mediators induced by LPS because ethanol exposure has been shown to sensitize the inflammatory response to LPS [40]. The results do not support these predictions. During peak EWD, co-exposure to LPS reduced NMDA toxicity (fig. 1) and LPS-induced release of proinflammatory mediators was reduced (fig. 2) at that time. Therefore, in OHSC, ethanol exposure resulted in a desensitized response to LPS and the effects of LPS on NMDA toxicity are reversed during EWD.

A potential explanation for the desensitization to LPS following ethanol exposure is by a mechanism similar to endotoxin tolerance. Endotoxin tolerance occurs when

immune tissues or cells are chronically exposed to an inflammatory stimulus resulting in a desensitized response to subsequent challenges with the same stimulus [132]. For example, Antonietta Ajmone-Cat et al. [133] show in an elegant study that when OHSC are treated repeatedly with LPS, the cultures exhibit a reduced inflammatory response to a subsequent challenge. This is presumably the result of persistent activation of the primary molecular target for LPS, toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4). Ethanol has been shown to directly activate TLR4 on isolated astrocytes [36] and microglia [38]. In our study, it is therefore possible that ethanol persistently activated TLR4 resulting in tolerance to a subsequent challenge with LPS during EWD. In support, ethanol pretreatment has been found to produce tolerance to a subsequent LPS challenge in human monocytes and immortalized macrophages [134].

The desensitized inflammatory response to LPS following ethanol exposure is however not sufficient to explain the reversed effects of LPS on NMDA toxicity during EWD. TNF-alpha and NO are still present in culture media and should still be capable of enhancing excitotoxicity. Therefore, other changes to OHSC induced by ethanol must have had to occur for LPS to reduce NMDA toxicity during EWD. Marshall et al recently reported that in rats exposed to a 4-day binge ethanol paradigm, microglia are partially activated and exhibit an anti-inflammatory phenotype [135]. This phenotype has been extensively demonstrated to be neuroprotective against a variety of neurotoxic stimuli [136, 137]. In our study, ethanol exposure may have produced preparations containing anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective microglia which could explain the apparent neuroprotection by LPS against NMDA toxicity during EWD. This interpretation has important implications for the role microglia may play in neurotoxicity associated with EWD. Therefore, we investigated how ethanol exposure affects the response to LPS on microglia specifically.

If the neuroimmune changes induced by ethanol in OHSC are specific to microglia, we should observe similar effects on the response to LPS in BV2 microglia cultures exposed to ethanol. In OHSC, both TNF-alpha and NO release elicited by LPS were reduced following ethanol exposure. Similarly, in BV2 microglia, LPS-induced NO release was reduced following ethanol exposure. However, LPS-induced TNF-alpha release was *increased* following ethanol exposure (fig. 3). Accordingly, following ethanol exposure, BV2 microglia exhibit an unusual inflammatory phenotype. Understanding microglial activation and the resulting phenotype is still an ongoing area of research and a plethora of activation states have been identified and are still being characterized [138, 139]. In the current experiments, NO is reduced and TNF-alpha is increased following ethanol exposure, which is not characteristic of traditional classical and/or alternative activations but instead could suggest another activation state such as an immunoregulatory phenotype [140]. However, additional markers need to be measured to fully characterize the activation state of microglia in these experiments. Nevertheless, the discrepancy between results obtained from OHSC and those obtained from BV2 microglia suggests that other cell types are involved in the neuroimmune changes induced by ethanol in the slice cultures. For example, astrocytes are present in OHSC [125] and they have been shown to be activated by ethanol acutely [36]. Prolonged ethanol exposure may have changed their neuroimmune phenotype and contributed to the overall anti-inflammatory phenotype exhibited by the slices. However, additional studies are necessary to fully characterize neuroimmune changes to all cell types in OHSC, including microglia, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and neurons, following ethanol exposure.

OHSC used in these studies are taken originally from neonatal rats at postnatal day 8 and, although they are not analyzed until 16, 17 or 18 DIV, the effects of ethanol

on these cultures is almost certainly relevant to effects on the developing brain. Indeed, we have previously used these preparations to study the sensitivity of different developmental stages to the effects of excitotoxicity during EWD [141]. Additionally, others [81] have used similar cultures to study the contribution of neuroinflammation on ethanol-induced neurotoxicity specifically during brain development. Their data focused on the role of increased phospholipase A2 activation in neuroinflammation in adolescent cultures, a change that we have previously reported in adult brain [142]. The current studies therefore provide further support that changes to the glutamate and neuroimmune systems may contribute to ethanol related toxicity in the developing brain. Furthermore, they suggest that the therapeutic targets identified in this research may be relevant to ethanol-induced neurotoxicity at different developmental ages.

In summary, in OHSC, LPS enhances NMDA toxicity under control conditions but the reverse is observed during EWD. In addition, ethanol exposure results in a desensitized inflammatory response to LPS. The primary hypothesis is therefore not supported by the data. Furthermore, the specific role of microglia in neuroimmune changes induced by ethanol in this model remains uncertain but data obtained from BV2 microglia suggest that other cell types are important for these changes in OHSC. This has important implications for the treatment of ethanol-induced neurotoxicity because, following ethanol exposure, the neuroimmune system may be endogenously protective against excitotoxicity associated with EWD. Additionally, a comprehensive understanding of the effects of ethanol on all neuroimmune cell types is necessary to decide which cellular targets to engage. These studies do not invalidate neuroinflammation or excitotoxicity as potential targets for the treatment of ethanol induced neurodegeneration but illustrate the necessity to clearly assess the extent,

importance and interaction between these mechanisms when using models of ethanol induced neurotoxicity.

Copyright © Joseph Alfred Lutz 2014

# CHAPTER 3. A NICOTINIC RECEPTOR-MEDIATED ANTI-INFLAMMATORY EFFECT OF THE FLAVONOID RHAMNETIN IN BV2 MICROGLIA

<u>Published paper</u>: Lutz J.A., Kulshrestha M., Rogers D.T., Littleton J.M. *A nicotinic* receptor-mediated anti-inflammatory effect of the flavonoid rhamnetin in BV2 microglia. Fitoterapia 2014; 98c: 11-21.

#### 3.1 Introduction

In the last decade, plant natural products have emerged as a valuable source for neuroprotective compounds [143]. Polyphenols (flavonoids, anthocyanins, chalcones, curcuminoids, stilbenoids) in particular have been widely investigated in this area [144] and they generally not only exhibit great antioxidant properties [145] but they also exhibit potent anti-inflammatory properties [146]. Therefore, they have come to light as valuable multifunctional compounds targeting two neurotoxic mechanisms (oxidative stress and neuroinflammation) associated with neurodegeneration.

Neuroinflammation has become known as a central mechanism of neurodegeneration in diseases such as Alzheimer's disease [147], Parkinson's disease [148] or ethanol induced neurotoxicity [34]. It is mediated primarily by microglia, the resident immune cells of the central nervous system (CNS). As a result of acute neuronal damage, microglia become alternatively activated resulting in tissue repair and clean-up [149]. However, when the neuronal insult becomes chronic, as observed in neurodegenerative diseases, microglia become classically activated ultimately leading to additional toxicity [27]. Therefore, the primary aim when targeting neuroinflammation is inhibiting the neurotoxic effects of classical microglial activation. Common, well-known anti-inflammatory drugs, such as ibuprofen, have been suggested for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases [150]. However, the discovery of novel anti-inflammatory compounds specific to neuroinflammation has become pivotal in discovering effective treatments for neurodegeneration.

Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) are emerging as very interesting molecular targets for attenuating neuroinflammation specifically. The homomeric alpha7 nAChR subtype in particular is heavily implicated both in the vagus nerve antiinflammatory cholinergic pathway [151] and in brain tissues [94]. Wang et al [86] show in an elegant study using an alpha7 nAChR specific antisense oligonucleotide that nicotine inhibits tumor necrosis factor synthesis in activated macrophage cultures through alpha7 nAChRs activation. This finding was then extended to microglia where nicotine and acetylcholine attenuate both microglial activation and LPS-induced tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) release in a dose dependent manner through an alpha7 nAChR dependent pathway [88]. Therefore, an alpha7 nAChR selective agonist would be valuable for targeting neuroinflammation specifically. Moreover, it could have the potential to inhibit excitotoxicity, another primary mechanism of injury observed in neurodegeneration [98].

Although there has been considerable effort toward synthesizing alpha7 nAChR selective ligands in the last decade [108], few of them have made it to market. Interestingly, most of these synthetic compounds are derived from alkaloids originally discovered primarily in plants [109]. The majority of these are toxic or have abuse liability (like nicotine) due partly to their high affinity for alpha4-beta2 nAChRs [110], the other major nAChR subtype in the brain. However, not all plant alkaloids have this selectivity. Thus, methyllycaconitine (MLA) is a relatively selective ligand for the alpha7 nAChR subtype that is isolated from the seeds of Delphinium brownii, a North American wildflower [112]. MLA has been used extensively in research for the study of alpha7 nAChRs but presents little therapeutic use as it is an antagonist [111]. With the

exception of nicotine [152], few of these plant metabolites have been tested against neuroinflammation. However, plants may contain novel, non-toxic, and alpha7 nAChR selective agonists that would have therapeutic value for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases by attenuating neuroinflammation.

In order to find plants containing metabolites with selective activity at alpha7 nAChRs we developed a differential screening approach and applied this to a large native plant species extract library [113]. These extracts were first screened for the presence of metabolites which bound to nAChRs in rat brain homogenates using a nonsubtype selective ligand, [3H]-epibatidine. Of the 1000 extracts tested, about 350 species showed significant displacement of this ligand suggesting that metabolites which interact with nAChRs are common in this sample. Extracts from these 350 species were then compared for their ability to displace an alpha7 selective ligand, [3H]-MLA, or an alpha4-beta2 selective ligand, [3H]-cytisine, from rat brain homogenates. Extracts which displaced the alpha7 selective ligand at lower concentrations than they displaced the alpha4-beta2 selective ligand were considered likely to contain compounds with relative selectivity for alpha7 nAChRs. The great majority of plant extracts showed the reverse selectivity, suggesting that the majority of plant metabolites in this library are, like nicotine, relatively selective for alpha4-beta2 nAChRs. However, 8 species extracts showed relative selectivity for alpha7 nAChRs [113] and these are now under investigation to determine the active metabolites which they contain.

One of the first sources of alpha7 selective binding activity to be investigated was *Solidago nemoralis* which, to our knowledge, has not been reported to contain bioactive alkaloids, the major class of natural products from plants which act on nAChRs. Assay-guided fractionation followed by preparative HPLC and mass spectrometry identified specific methyl-quercetin derivatives as responsible for the displacement of [3H]-MLA

binding. This was surprising for two reasons. First, similar flavonoids are widespread in plants, so it seemed likely that many other plant species should contain alpha7 selective binding activity based on this type of compound. However, our identification of S. nemoralis as "positive" was based not only on binding to alpha7 nAChRs, but also on the relative absence of binding to alpha4-beta2 nAChRs. Since alkaloids which bind to alpha4-beta2 nAChRs are widespread in plants [113] this activity will mask the presence of alpha7 selective compounds in many species. Thus it may be precisely because S. nemoralis contains no bioactive alkaloids that we were able to identify the active flavonoids in this species using our differential screen. The second surprising aspect of this discovery is that flavonoids have never previously been reported to interact directly with nAChRs. However, closely following our observation, electrophysiological studies indicated that guercetin has co-agonist effects on the alpha7 nAChR expressed in Xenopus oocytes [153]. This activity of flavonoids at alpha7 nAChRs is potentially important in several of their known therapeutic effects. For example, flavonoids have been extensively investigated for their anti-inflammatory properties peripherally [154] and in the CNS [155] as well as for their neuroprotective effects in models of neurodegeneration [156]. Many of these effects could be mediated through alpha7 nAChRs but this has never previously been investigated. It will depend on which specific flavonoids have this activity, and the extent to which alpha7 nAChRs are involved in the pathological response. The main aim of this study is therefore to assess the alpha7 nAChR selectivity of a small library of pure flavonoids and whether this activity translates to enhanced anti-inflammatory properties on activated microglia.

# 3.2 Materials and methods

#### 3.2.1 Chemicals, reagents and kits

Methanol, hexane, chloroform, ethyl acetate, butanol, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from 026:B6 021M4072V), Escherichia coli serotype (Lot# (-)-nicotine. methyllycaconitine citrate salt hydrate (MLA) from Delphinium brownii seeds, mecamylamine hydrochloride and 7-hydroxy-3H-phenoxazin-3-one-10-oxide sodium salt (resazurin) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA). Astragalin, baicalein, catechin, daidzin, daidzein, delphinidin, genistein, isoquercitrin, isorhamnetin, malvidin, petunidin-3-glycoside, guercetagetin, guercetin, rhamnetin, sakuranetin, spiraeoside and tamarixetin (Fig. 1) were purchased from Chromadex (Irvine, CA, USA). [3H]-MLA (~60Ci/mmol), [3H]-cytisine (~16Ci/mmol) and [3H]-epibatidine (~30Ci/mmol) were purchased from American Radiolabeled Chemicals, Inc. (St. Louis, MO, USA). Antibiotics (10000U/mL penicillin and 10000ug/mL streptomycin), 2.5% trypsin (10X), fetal bovine serum (FBS), Dulbeccos' Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM), DMEM:Nutrient mixture F-12 (DMEM/F-12) and Hanks Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) were purchased from Life Technologies Corporation (Grand Island, NY, USA). Griess reagent system was purchased from Promega Corporation (Madison, WI, USA). TNF-alpha ELISA Ready-SET-Go!® was purchased from eBioscience Inc. (San Diego, CA, USA).

#### 3.2.2 Solidago nemoralis extraction and chemical identification

#### 3.2.2.1 Assay guided fractionation

The aerial parts of *Solidago nemoralis*, including stems and flowers, were dried, ground and suspended in methanol for 24 hours. The methanol extract was decanted and the resulting plant material was re-suspended in fresh methanol for another 24 hours. Methanol extracts were then pooled and dried in a rotary evaporator. The dry

methanol extract was re-suspended in water and subsequently extracted in hexane, chloroform, ethyl acetate and butanol. Resulting fractions were assayed for [3H]-MLA displacement on rat hippocampal membranes (see below).

3.2.2.2 Preparative high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)

Preparative HPLC was performed with a Waters XBridge preparative c18 column (5µm particles, 19x150mm) and a gradient analysis method (flow rate= 7mL/min) where methanol was gradually increased and water proportionally decreased. Detection was performed with the Waters 2998 photodiode array detector and fractions were collected with the Waters 2767 sample manager. Resulting fractions were assayed for [3H]-MLA displacement on rat hippocampal membranes (see below).

## 3.2.2.3 Electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (ESI-MS/MS)

Preparative HPLC samples were dried and re-suspended in methanol/MilliQ water and analyzed at the University of Kentucky Mass Spectrometry Facility using ESI-MS/MS in both positive and negative ion ESI modes.

### 3.2.3 Radioligand binding studies

#### 3.2.3.1 Rat brain membrane preparation

Hippocampal and cortical tissues were removed from adult male Sprague-Dawley rats (225-250g) and homogenized in sucrose buffer (0.32 M sucrose, 1mM EDTA, 0.1mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 0.01% w/v sodium azide, pH adjusted to 7.4), centrifuged at 1,000g for 10min at 4°C and the supernatant reserved on ice. The pellet was re-suspended and centrifuged once more at 1,000g for 10min at 4°C. The supernatant was combined with the previously reserved supernatant and centrifuged at 50,000g for 10min at 4°C. The resulting supernatant was discarded and the pellet

washed twice by re-suspension and centrifugation in binding buffer (50mM Tris, 144mM NaCl, 1.5mM KCl, 2mM CaCl2, 1mM MgSO4.7H2O, 20mM HEPES, pH adjusted to 7.4) at 50,000g for 10min at 4°C. Total protein content was measured using the Bicinchoninic Acid Kit (Sigma-Aldrich), adjusted to 3mg/ml protein and frozen at -80°C for future experimentation.

## 3.2.3.2 General radioligand binding method

Solutions to be tested were mixed with membranes (final protein content = 1mg/ml) and radioligand (2nM [3H]-MLA or 2nM [3H]-cytisine for displacement studies) in individual wells on 96 well plates. Reactions were allowed to reach equilibrium (2h-3h) and the plates were harvested by vacuum filtration onto GF/B filter plate (Perkin Elmer Inc., Waltham, MA, USA) followed rapidly by 3 washes with 50mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH adjusted to 7.4). Filter plates were dried overnight and scintillation counting was performed for 2min per well in a Packard TopCount® NXTTM microplate scintillation and luminescence counter following the addition of 35µL scintillation fluid (Microscint 20, Packard Inc) to each filter well. For each assay plate, non-specific binding was measured in the presence of excess nicotine (300µM final concentration) and specific binding was calculated by subtracting non-specific binding from total binding of radioligand alone. Specific binding in the presence of competitors was converted to percentage of total specific binding of radioligand alone

## 3.2.3.3 Pure flavonoid competition binding experiments

Flavonoids were solubilized at high concentration (100mM) in 100% DMSO and diluted in binding buffer to obtain stock solutions of 30µM. The stock solutions were subjected to 1:10 serial dilutions to obtain a wide range of flavonoid concentrations.

Using the general radioligand binding method described above, flavonoids were assessed for [3H]-cytisine and [3H]-MLA displacement.

#### 3.2.4 BV2 microglia studies

# 3.2.4.1 BV2 microglia cell culture

BV2 murine microglia (kindly provided by Dr. Linda Van Eldik) were cultured in DMEM/F-12 supplemented with 10% FBS and antibiotics (penicillin 100U/ml, streptomycin 100ug/ml). Cells were kept at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of air and 5% CO2. For membrane preparation and RLB studies, cells were propagated in T75 flasks, harvested by cell scraping upon confluency, centrifuged (1200 rpm, swinging bucket) for 4 min, re-suspended in sucrose buffer and frozen for future use. Membranes were then prepared as described above for animal tissue. Membranes were adjusted to a final concentration of 3mg/ml and frozen at -80°C for future experimentation. For LPS elicited inflammatory mediator release, cultured cells were detached upon confluency with 0.25% trypsin (2min at 37°C), seeded in 24 well plates at densities of 5x105 cells/well and allowed to adhere overnight. Cells were then pretreated with test compounds (serum-free media) for 1h and subjected to LPS challenge (10µg/ml in serum-free media) for 24h.

### 3.2.4.2 Saturation binding with BV2 membranes

Using the general radioligand binding method described above, saturation binding experiments were undertaken as follows: BV2 membranes were mixed in individual wells of a 96 well plate with increasing concentrations of radioligand ([3H]-MLA and [3H]-epibatidine) in the presence or absence of excess nicotine (300µM). Specific binding at each concentration was calculated by subtracting non-specific binding to total binding.

# 3.2.4.3 Measurement of cell viability, nitric oxide (NO) content and TNF-alpha release

Cell-free culture supernatants were collected, assayed for nitrite content immediately to avoid the effects of freeze-thawing [157] and subsequently frozen for future TNF-alpha content analysis. Each well was then filled with fresh media containing  $100\mu M$  resazurin and allowed to incubate for 4h. Fluorescence (Excitation = 560nm, emission = 590nm) was then measured using a Wallac 1420 VICTOR plate reader (PerkinElmer, MA, USA) and cell viability was normalized to percentage control (no LPS) group). Nitrite levels were measured using the Griess Reagent System (Promega) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 50µL of experimental samples well plate. 50µL sulphanilamide and 50uL N-1were plated in а 96 napthylethylenediamine dihydrochloride were then added sequentially with a 5min incubation interval. Absorbance was measured at 550nm using a Wallac 1420 VICTOR plate reader (PerkinElmer, MA, USA) and the amount of nitrite was calculated from a NaNO2 standard curve. TNF-alpha levels were measured by ELISA using the READY-SET-GO! Mouse TNF-alpha kit (eBioscience, CA, USA) in accordance to the manufacturer's instruction. When necessary, sample dilutions were performed in order to fall within the concentration range of the standard curve.

### 3.2.5 Statistical analysis and graphical presentation

Statistical analysis and graphical presentation were done in GraphPad Prism 4.03 for Windows (GraphPad Software, CA, USA). Displacement binding data was fitted with non-linear regression using the sigmoidal dose-response with variable slope and with the top and bottom constrained at 100% and 0% respectively. Binding parameters were extrapolated from the curves and flavonoids were ranked in ascending pIC50 values for prioritization into functional studies. For saturation binding experiments, total and specific

binding were fitted with a one site binding hyperbola and non-specific binding was fitted linearly. Binding parameters were extrapolated from specific binding. For dose response curves in functional assays, inflammatory mediator release (NO or TNF-alpha) was normalized by cell viability when statistical differences were found in cell viability between treatment groups by one way ANOVA. Two non-linear regression models (sigmoidal dose-response and sigmoidal dose-response with variable slope) were then compared using an F-test prior to fitting. Response parameters were extrapolated from the best fit. IC50 values were statistically compared using unpaired t-tests on the corresponding pIC50 values.





# 3.3 Results

3.3.1 [3H]-MLA displacing fractions from Solidago nemoralis contain methyl-quercetin derivatives

Solidago nemoralis was previously identified as containing selective binding activity for the alpha7 nAChR relative to beta2-containing nAChRs using our radioligand binding differential smart screen [113]. Therefore, we sought to identify the compound(s) responsible for this activity using [3H]-MLA displacement guided fractionation, pHPLC and ESI-MS/MS. [3H]-MLA displacement on *Solidago nemoralis* extract solvent partitions indicated that the activity was in the ethyl acetate. Further separation of the ethyl acetate fraction using preparative HPLC yielded a single [3H]-MLA displacing fraction. This fraction was sent for ESI-MS/MS analysis which produced 3 major peaks at m/z787, m/z657 and m/z515. Based on a literature search, their fragmentation patterns are indicative of three distinct compounds: a quercetin derivative, a quercetagetin derivative and a dicaffeoylquinic acid (Table 1).

Table 3.1 MS/MS	S fragments of	f major MS	peaks	and compound	identification	from
the literature						

M+	Fragments	Compound ID	Citations
787	641, 479, 317,302	Methyl-quercetin triglycoside	[158, 159]
657	495, 333	Methyl-quercetagetin diglycoside	[160, 161]
515	353	Dicaffeoylquinic acid	[162]

A small library of pure dicaffeoylquinic acid derivatives was compiled and tested for [3H]-MLA displacement. None of the compounds tested displaced [3H]-MLA (data not shown) suggesting that the nAChR activity present in the extract is attributable to the methyl-quercetin derivatives identified. We were unable to purify large enough amounts of the active fractions for definitive identification using NMR. Instead, we compiled a small library of pure flavonoids to be screened for [3H]-cytisine and [3H]-MLA displacement.

# 3.3.2 Flavonoids differentially displace [3H]-MLA from hippocampal rat membranes

Pure flavonoids were tested for their ability to displace [3H]-cytisine and [3H]-MLA from rat cortical and hippocampal membranes respectively. Most compounds tested did not displace [3H]-cytisine or did so minimally preventing the extrapolation of any kind of binding parameters from fitted displacement curves. However, the majority of compounds tested, but not all, dose dependently inhibited specific [3H]-MLA binding resulting in a wide range of IC50 values (Table 2). Therefore, [3H]-MLA displacement is not a general property of flavonoids and while some structures displace [3H]-MLA (rhamnetin, spiraeoside, quercetagetin), others do not (genistein, daidzein, sakuranetin). The lack of [3H]-cytisine displacement, a ligand selective for beta2-containing nAChRs, in conjunction with the differential displacement of [3H]-MLA observed suggests that these compounds may be more selective for alpha7 nAChRs than for alpha4-beta2 nAChR.

## 3.3.3 BV2 microglia exhibit functional nicotinic acetylcholine receptors

Microglial cultures purified from rat brain express functional nAChRs and activation of the alpha7 subtype exerts anti-inflammatory effects [163]. However, and as far as the authors know, there is only indirect evidence in the literature for the presence of functional nicotinic receptors in the BV2 immortalized microglial cell line [164, 165]. Therefore, we sought to evaluate the presence of functional nAChRs in BV2 by identifying membrane expressed nAChR with [3H]-MLA saturation binding on BV2 membranes and by assessing the functional anti-inflammatory effects of nicotine on LPS stimulated live cells.

Flavonoid	pIC50	IC50 (µM)	Subclass
Rhamnetin	5.953 ± 0.15	1.11	Flavonol
Spiraeoside	5.078 ± 0.13	8.35	Flavonol
Quercetin	4.940 ± 0.05	11.4	Flavonol
Quercetagetin	4.846 ± 0.21	14. 2	Flavonol
Isoquercitrin	4.667 ± 0.22	21.5	Flavonol
Isorhamnetin	4.332 ± 0.17	46.5	Flavonol
Baicalein	4.18 ± 0.09	66.1	Flavonol
Malvidin	4.046 ± 0.11	90.0	Anthocyanidin
Daidzin	3.922 ± 0.20	119.8	Isoflavone
Tamarixetin	3.623 ± 0.23	238.4	Flavonol
Astragalin	3.305 ± 0.78	495.6	Flavonol
Petunidin-3-glucoside	2.464 ± 0.95	3434	Anthocyanidin
Catechin	0.3036 ± 1.7	497100	Flavan-3-ol
Delphinidin	0.8436 ± 4.1	6976000	Anthocyanidin
Genistein	N/A	N/A	Isoflavone
Daidzein	N/A	N/A	Isoflavone
Sakuranetin	N/A	N/A	Flavanone

 Table 3.2 [3H]-MLA displacement parameters of pure flavonoids from hippocampal

 rat membranes

We obtained evidence for [3H]-MLA specific binding in BV2 microglia membranes. However, we were unable to reach saturation, and thus extrapolate binding parameters, due to a low apparent affinity. The low affinity of [3H]-MLA (nM range) [166] relative to that of [3H]-epibatidine (pM range) [167] for alpha7 nAChRs and the expenses

associated with carrying out [3H]-MLA saturation binding prompted the alternative use of [3H]-epibatidine. BV2 microglia membranes were found to be saturable with [3H]-epibatidine (Fig. 2 – Bmax = 121.2fmol/mg protein; Kd = 6.5nM) indicating that nicotinic binding sites are present on BV2 membranes.



Figure 3.2: [3H]-epibatidine saturation binding on BV2 membranes

BV2 membranes were incubated with increasing concentrations of [3H]epibatidine in the presence or absence of 300µM nicotine. Specific binding was calculated by subtracting non-specific binding from total binding. Non-specific binding was fit with linear regression while total and specific binding were fit with non-linear one site binding hyperbola.

In cultured BV2 cells, nicotine dose dependently inhibited LPS elicited release of NO with a maximal inhibition of ~20% (Fig. 3). Furthermore, this effect was blocked by 10µM mecamylamine, a non-selective nicotinic antagonist, suggesting that nicotinic

receptors present on BV2 microglia are functional and can be pharmacologically manipulated.



Figure 3.3 Inhibition of NO release from LPS stimulated BV2 microglia by nicotine BV2 microglia were pretreated for 1h with increasing concentrations of nicotine and subsequently challenged with 10µg/ml LPS for 24h. Culture media was collected and assayed for nitrite content using the Griess reaction. NO release is expressed as percentage of NO release from LPS alone. \* p<0.001 compared to LPS alone and Nic+MEC by Tukey's multiple comparison test following a one-way ANOVA.

# 3.3.4 [3H]-MLA displacement predicts functional anti-inflammatory nicotinic mediated effects

To assess the functional significance of [3H]-MLA displacement studies, rhamnetin, which potently displaces [3H]-MLA with the lowest IC50, and sakuranetin,

which does not displace [3H]-MLA and therefore constitutes a structurally related negative control, were tested for their anti-inflammatory properties on LPS stimulated BV2 microglia. Flavonoids are well known to be anti-inflammatory in this cell line [168, 169]. Therefore, to evaluate the contribution of putative nicotinic activity, their effects were blocked with MLA.

# 3.3.4.1 Rhamnetin is anti-inflammatory and benefits from a nicotinic mediated mechanism

Rhamnetin dose dependently inhibited NO (IC50 =  $26.3\mu$ M) and TNF-alpha (IC50 =  $28.7\mu$ M) release (Fig. 4 & Fig. 5). The addition of MLA increased the IC50s for both inhibition of NO release (IC50 =  $33.1\mu$ M) and inhibition of TNF-alpha release (IC50 =  $105.3\mu$ M) although this did not reach statistical significance (t(6) = 0.94, p = 0.37 for NO; t(6) = 1.3, p = 0.22 for TNF-alpha). Furthermore, close examination of the concentration response curves without MLA revealed Hill coefficients of  $3.0\pm0.9$  and  $3.5\pm4.1$  respectively (Table 3). The addition of MLA decreased the Hill coefficients to  $1.6\pm0.4$  for inhibition of NO release and the concentration response curve for inhibition of TNF-alpha release best fit the sigmoidal dose response model with no variable slope (F(1,16) = 2.14, p = 0.16). These data collectively suggest that rhamnetin mediates its anti-inflammatory effects in part through nAChRs.



Figure 3.4 Concentration response curves for the inhibition of NO release by rhamnetin

BV2 microglia were pretreated with increasing concentrations of rhamnetin, in the absence (A) or presence (B) of  $10\mu$ M MLA for 1h and subsequently challenged with  $10\mu$ g/ml LPS for 24h. Culture media was collected and assayed for nitrite content using the Griess reaction. NO release is expressed as percentage of NO release from LPS alone.



Figure 3.5 Concentration response curves for the inhibition of TNF-alpha release by rhamnetin

BV2 microglia were pretreated with increasing concentrations of rhamnetin, in the absence (A) or presence (B) of  $10\mu$ M MLA for 1h and subsequently challenged with  $10\mu$ g/ml LPS for 24h. Culture media was collected and assayed for TNF-alpha content by ELISA. TNF-alpha release is expressed as percentage of TNF-alpha release from LPS alone.

 Table 3.3 Concentration response curve parameters for the inhibition of NO

 release and TNF-alpha release by rhamnetin

Rhamnetin	IC50 (µM)	pIC50	Hill slope
NO release	26.3	4.579 ± 0.03	$-3.0 \pm 0.9$
+ MLA (10µM)	33.1	4.48 ± 0.10	-1.6 ± 0.4
TNF-alpha release	28.7	4.541 ± 0.06	-3.5 ± 4.1
+ MLA (10µM)	105.3	3.978 ± 0.41	-1.0*

\* best fit the sigmoidal dose response curve with no variable slope

# 3.3.4.2 The anti-inflammatory activity of sakuranetin does not benefit from a nicotinic mediated mechanism

Sakuranetin dose dependently inhibited NO (IC50 = 85.8µM) and TNF-alpha (IC50 = 158µM) release (Fig. 6 & Fig. 7), albeit with lower relative potency compared to rhamnetin. Close examination of the dose response curves indicated Hill coefficients at unity (Table 4) since both curves fit the sigmoidal dose response model with no variable slope (F(1,16) = 0.0009, p = 0.97 for NO; F(1,16) = 3.5, p = 0.07 for TNF-alpha). The addition of MLA had no effect on the anti-inflammatory properties of sakuranetin. However, the addition of a below threshold concentration of nicotine (1µM) decreased IC50s for both NO (IC50 = 16.9µM) and TNF-alpha inhibition (IC50 = 22.3µM). The difference was found to be statistically significant for NO (t(6) = 2.9, p < 0.05) but not for TNF-alpha inhibition (t(6) = 1.2, p = 0.25). Furthermore, the Hill coefficients were significantly increased to 2.2±0.3 for inhibition of NO release (F(1,16) = 15.54, p < 0.01) and 2.7±1.0 for inhibition of TNF-alpha release (F(1,16) = 6.7, p < 0.05). These data suggest that sakuranetin does not mediate its anti-inflammatory effects through nAChRs

but that a below threshold concentration of nicotine can enhance its pharmacological profile.



Figure 3.6 Concentration response curves for the inhibition of NO release by sakuranetin

BV2 microglia were pretreated with increasing concentrations of sakuranetin, in the absence (A) or presence (B) of  $1\mu$ M nicotine for 1h and subsequently challenged with  $10\mu$ g/ml LPS for 24h. Culture media was collected and assayed for nitrite content using the Griess reaction. NO release is expressed as percentage of NO release from LPS alone.



Figure 3.7 Concentration response curves for the inhibition of TNF-alpha release by sakuranetin

BV2 microglia were pretreated with increasing concentrations of sakuranetin, in the absence (A) or presence (B) of  $1\mu$ M nicotine for 1h and subsequently challenged with  $10\mu$ g/ml LPS for 24h. Culture media was collected and assayed for TNF-alpha content by ELISA. TNF-alpha release is expressed as percentage of TNF-alpha release from LPS alone.
Table 3.4 Concentration response curve parameters for the inhibition of NO

 release and TNF-alpha release by sakuranetin

Sakuranetin	IC50 (µM)	pIC50	Hill slope
NO release	85.8	4.06 ± 0.24	-1.0*
+ Nicotine (1µM)	16.9	4.77 ± 0.04	-2.2 ± 0.3
TNF-alpha release	158.0	3.80 ± 0.67	-1.0*
+ Nicotine (1µM)	22.3	4.65 ± 0.06	-2.7 ± 1.0

\* best fit the sigmoidal dose response curve with no variable slope

### 3.4 Discussion

Preliminary studies in our laboratory using a radioligand binding differential smart screen on a large plant extract library found that *Solidago nemoralis* extracts produce selective [3H]-MLA displacement relative to [3H]-cytisine displacement suggesting it contains compounds selective for the alpha7 nAChR [113]. Chemical analysis of a semipure [3H]-MLA displacing fraction indicated the presence of methyl-quercetin-like flavonoids and a dicaffeoylquinic acid. Lack of [3H]-MLA displacement from a small library of pure dicaffeoylquinic acid derivatives suggested that flavonoids may be responsible for the nAChR activity of the plant extract. Thus, the present studies were conducted to test the hypothesis that specific flavonoid structures selectively bind alpha7 nAChR relative to alpha4-beta2 nAChRs. Therefore, pure flavonoids were evaluated for their ability to displace [3H]-MLA, a relatively selective ligand for the alpha7 nAChR, and [3H]-cytisine, selective for beta2-containing nAChRs. Our original predictions were that some flavonoids would displace [3H]-MLA only, some flavonoids would displace [3H]-cytisine only and some would displace both with varying degrees of potency.

Specific flavonoid structures, such as rhamnetin, specifically displaced [3H]-MLA dose dependently while other specific structures, such as sakuranetin, did not. Therefore, [3H]-MLA displacement is not a general property of flavonoids despite structural similarities. For example, rhamnetin only has 2 additional hydroxyl groups (3hydroxyl and 3'-hydroxyl) and an unsaturated B ring in comparison to sakuranetin. Interestingly, it appears that flavonols, as a specific subclass, exhibit overall more potent [3H]-MLA displacement in comparison to other subclasses such as anthocyanidins, isoflavones and flavan-3-ols. Therefore, flavonol specific functional groups, such as 4carbonyl group and 3-hydroxyl group, which are inexistent in other classes, may be contributing to selective [3H]-MLA displacement. Despite relatively low potencies for [3H]-MLA displacement, those for rhamnetin, spiraeoside, and quercetin for example, fall within the same range as concentrations of flavonoids reported in plasma following dietary supplementation [170] and reported anti-inflammatory potencies in vitro [171]. Therefore, specific structures displace [3H]-MLA specifically at physiological relevant concentrations. On the other hand, none of the flavonoids tested appeared to displace [3H]-cytisine. Collectively, these results support our hypothesis that certain flavonoid structures specifically bind alpha7 nAChRs relative to alpha4-beta2 nAChRs. A recent report by Lee et al [153] shows that quercetin is capable of enhancing acetylcholine induced inward currents through human alpha7 nAChRs expressed on xenopus oocytes, potentially through interaction with the Ca<sup>2+</sup> binding site. Therefore, we cannot exclude the possibility that flavonoids may displace [3H]-MLA non-specifically through an allosteric mechanism at the Ca<sup>2+</sup> binding site. In turn, this could explain the lack of [3H]cytisine displacement as beta2-containing nAChR are less permeable to Ca<sup>2+</sup> than alpha7 nAChRs [172]. Nevertheless, [3H]-MLA displacement may have functional significance for the anti-inflammatory properties of these flavonoids which may translate to added value as pharmacotherapies for neuroinflammation specifically. Therefore, we

decided to evaluate and compare rhamnetin and sakuranetin as prototypical [3H]-MLAdisplacing and non-[3H]-MLA-displacing flavonoids against LPS elicited inflammatory mediator release from BV2 microglia.

Flavonoids are plant secondary metabolites that are involved in attracting pollinators, deterring herbivorous insects, and allelopathy [173]. They are found in a variety of plant species as well as throughout the human diet in foods such as fruits and vegetables, tea, and cocoa and have been described for their various health benefits [174]. Sakuranetin is the major flavonoid found in rice [175] and it has been primarily studied for its anti-inflammatory [176], anti-diabetic [177], and anti-bacterial [178] properties. Rhamnetin is found in most buckthorns (rhamnus genus) [179] and has been primarily studied for its anti-cancer [180], antioxidant [181] and anti-inflammatory properties [171]. Thus, both rhamnetin and sakuranetin have been found to be antiinflammatory. Therefore, we hypothesized that rhamnetin, which displaces [3H]-MLA, would benefit from enhanced anti-inflammatory effects, via a nicotinic mediated mechanism, in comparison to sakuranetin, which does not displace [3H]-MLA. The antiinflammatory properties of both compounds were evaluated by their ability to dose dependently inhibit NO and TNF-alpha release from LPS stimulated BV2 microglia. Additionally, to assess their putative nicotinic activity, they were pharmacologically manipulated with nicotinic agonists and antagonists. We predicted that (1) rhamnetin would be more potent than sakuranetin, (2) rhamnetin would be partially inhibited by nAChR antagonists and (3) sakuranetin would become more potent with the addition of nAChR agonists.

Prior to examining the anti-inflammatory properties of rhamnetin and sakuranetin, BV2 microglia were validated for cell surface presence of functional nAChRs. There is little evidence in the literature for functional nAChRs in this cell line. Mencel et al [165]

report that the alpha7 nAChR subtype can be detected by western blot in BV2 microglia lysates. However, no pharmacological manipulation of the nicotinic receptors in BV2 microglia has been reported to date despite an attempt to block the anti-inflammatory effects of donepezil with MLA and DHBE in these cells, which did not produce an effect [164]. In our hands, BV2 microglia membranes exhibited [3H]-MLA specific binding and were saturable with [3H]-epibatidine. Furthermore, nicotine was found to inhibit NO release from LPS stimulated cells. Therefore, the BV2 microglia cell line appears to have functional nAChRs that can be pharmacologically manipulated to produce anti-inflammatory effects.

Rhamnetin and sakuranetin both dose-dependently inhibited NO and TNF-alpha release with relatively similar potencies but close examination of their concentrationresponse curves revealed differences in IC50s and Hill coefficients. Rhamnetin exhibited lower IC50s and higher Hill coefficients than sakuranetin. Additionally, pharmacological blockade of rhamnetin with MLA increased IC50s and decreased Hill coefficients. Furthermore, a non-effective concentration of nicotine (1µM) was able to decrease IC50s and increase Hill coefficients for sakuranetin. The Hill coefficient, first described by Archibald Hill in 1910 [182], is a well known parameter in the field of biochemistry where it is extensively used to describe cooperative binding of a ligand or substrate to a receptor or enzyme. However, in the fields of cellular biology, it is used to describe the ultrasensitivity of a system, such as a signal transduction pathway [183]. In our study, the Hill coefficient is simply used to quantify the steepness of the concentration response curves. The difference between the steepness of the slope for rhamnetin and sakuranetin suggests that there may be different anti-inflammatory mechanisms at work. Moreover, the fact that this can be manipulated by nAChR antagonists (for rhamnetin) and agonists (for sakuranetin) suggests that the difference between the two flavonoids

resides in the difference in alpha7 nAChR agonist activity. These data collectively support our hypothesis that [3H]-MLA-displacing flavonoids benefit from a nicotinic mediated anti-inflammatory mechanism.

The alpha7 nAChR selective activity of rhamnetin has important implications not only for enhancement of anti-inflammatory effects but also for its potential as an alpha7 nAChR selective agonist. Indeed, activation of the alpha7 nAChR selectively has the potential to inhibit excitotoxicity mediated through NMDA receptors. Nicotine has been found to be neuroprotective against NMDA induced excitotoxicity through alpha7 nAChR activation both in rat primary hippocampal cultures [98] and hippocampal slice cultures [99]. This activity of nicotine has been proposed as an explanation for the negative association of cigarette smoking with the incidence of AD and PD [95]. Therefore, rhamnetin, as an alpha7 nAChR selective agonist would not only attenuate neuroinflammation but also inhibit excitotoxicity simultaneously. Together with its wellknown antioxidant properties, rhamnetin is potentially a multifunctional neuroprotective agent that can simultaneously attenuate neuroinflammation, oxidative stress and excitotoxicity observed in neurodegenerative diseases.

Copyright © Joseph Alfred Lutz 2014

# CHAPTER 4. THE DIETARY FLAVONOID RHAMNETIN INHIBITS BOTH INFLAMMATION AND EXCITOTOXICITY DURING ETHANOL WITHDRAWAL IN RAT ORGANOTYPIC HIPPOCAMPAL SLICE CULTURES

Manuscript in preparation

#### 4.1 Introduction

Alcohol-induced neurodegeneration has a complex etiology involving several neurotoxic mechanisms [114], including neuroinflammation [115] and excitotoxicity [59]. These two mechanisms have been studied extensively and are both thought to significantly contribute to ethanol-induced neurotoxicity. This suggests the need to develop therapeutic strategies that can reduce both these pathological mechanisms. One such strategy is by pharmacologically targeting the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR).

The alpha7 nAChR has recently emerged as a pharmacological target for the treatment of neurodegenerative disorders as it is expressed on both neurons and neuroimmune cells [87, 184] and can be activated to attenuate excitotoxicity and neuroinflammation. For example, nicotine has been found to reduce excitotoxic injury induced by NMDA on hippocampal neurons and this effect was blocked by methyllycaconitine (MLA), an alpha7 nAChR selective antagonist [98]. In parallel, nicotine has been found to attenuate proinflammatory signaling induced by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) on primary microglia cultures, an effect that was significantly blocked by alpha-bungarotoxin, another alpha7 nAChR selective antagonist [163]. In support, DMXB, a relatively alpha7 selective nAChR agonist, has been found to protect neocortical neurons from glutamate toxicity [185] and to inhibit LPS-induced TNF-alpha release from cultured microglia [186]. Taken together, an alpha7 nAChR selective

agonist should act on neurons and microglia simultaneously to reduce excitotoxicity and neuroinflammation.

In order to discover novel alpha7 nAChR selective natural products, we developed a differential pharmacological high throughput screen and applied it to a large Kentucky plant extract library of about 1000 different species [187]. Interestingly, we discovered that *Solidago nemoralis* extracts exhibited selectivity for alpha7 nAChRs relative to alpha4-beta2 nAChRs, the other major nAChR subtype in the brain, and that the compounds responsible for this activity were methyl-quercetin derivatives [188]. Moreover, by screening a pure flavonoid library we discovered that specific flavonoids, such as rhamnetin, were able to selectively displace alpha7 nAChR selective [<sup>3</sup>H]MLA whereas related structures, such as sakuranetin, do not. Rhamnetin and sakuranetin were compared for their anti-inflammatory properties against LPS induced inflammatory release from immortalized BV2 microglia and rhamnetin was found to inhibit the response in part via alpha7 nAChRs [188]. In sum, rhamnetin is capable of reducing neuroinflammation but also has the potential to reduce excitotoxicity by activating alpha7 nAChRs and therefore constitutes a good therapeutic candidate to reduce ethanol-induced neurotoxicity.

In the current study, rhamnetin is evaluated for its anti-inflammatory and potential neuroprotective properties in a recently developed model of *in vitro* ethanol-induced neurotoxicity which includes neuroinflammatory and excitotoxic component. This model takes advantage of organotypic hippocampal slice cultures (OHSC) that contain both neurons and neuroimmune cells [125-127] and on which drugs can be directly applied to brain tissue without pharmacokinetic confounds. Previous studies from our laboratory have shown that OHSC express alpha7 nAChR, as measured by [<sup>125</sup>I]alpha-bungarotoxin autoradiography [99], and that nicotine exposure reduces NMDA receptor

mediated excitotoxicity under control conditions [189] and during ethanol withdrawal (EWD) [100]. These studies focused on excitotoxicity and we therefore added a neuroinflammatory component by applying exogenous LPS in conjunction with NMDA during EWD. As such, this model is well suited to evaluate the potential anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties of natural products such as rhamnetin. The anti-inflammatory effects of rhamnetin can be assessed on LPS-induced inflammatory mediator release and the neuroprotective effects of rhamnetin can be assessed on NMDA-induced toxicity, both under control conditions and during EWD. In addition, the overall effects of rhamnetin can be evaluated on both outcome measures simultaneously when OHSC are exposed to both LPS and NMDA.

In the original studies, we found that while LPS enhanced NMDA toxicity under control conditions, the reverse was observed during EWD. Additionally, prior ethanol exposure reduced subsequent inflammatory response to LPS. These data suggest that changes to neuroimmune processes induced by ethanol exposure may be protective against excitotoxicity during EWD. Additional experiments on BV2 microglia exposed to the same ethanol regimen suggested that ethanol exposure induces a non-classical microglial phenotype that may be neuroprotective. In support, Marshall et al report that in rats exposed to a 4-day binge ethanol paradigm, microglia are partially activated and take on an anti-inflammatory phenotype [135]. Exposure to flavonoids and alpha7 nAChR agonists has been shown to induce similar changes in microglia. For example, luteolin, another plant derived flavonoid with a very similar structure to rhamnetin, has been shown to induce global transcriptome changes in microglia indicative of an anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective phenotype [190]. Similarly, AR-R 17779, an alpha7 nAChR selective agonist, polarizes primary microglial cultures towards the reparative Mox phenotype [191]. Therefore, it is unclear how rhamnetin exposure will affect

neuroimmune changes induced by ethanol and how those changes in turn affect excitotoxicity during EWD.

Based on the anti-inflammatory effects of rhamnetin on BV2 microglia [188], this compound is predicted to reduce LPS-induced inflammatory mediator release under control conditions. However, whether rhamnetin (1) retains anti-inflammatory properties during EWD, (2) inhibits NMDA toxicity under control conditions, or (3) prevents enhanced NMDA toxicity during EWD remains to be established. The hypothesis is that rhamnetin will reduce LPS-induced inflammatory mediator release and NMDA-induced toxicity under control conditions and during EWD in hippocampal slice cultures. These studies are designed to test this hypothesis in order to establish whether rhamnetin and similar dietary flavonoids have potential value in the prevention and/or treatment of alcohol-induced neurodegeneration.

### 4.2 Materials & methods

#### 4.2.1 Organotypic hippocampal slice culture (OHSC) preparation

OHSC were prepared essentially as described by Stoppini et al. [129]. Briefly, hippocampi were aseptically removed from 8-day-old Sprague-Dawley male and female rat pups and sliced at a transverse thickness of 200 µm using a McIlwain tissue chopper (Campden Instruments Ltd., Lafayette, ID). Slices were transferred to sterile culture inserts (4 slices per insert) and placed in 6-well-plates containing culture medium (Minimum Essential Medium (MEM; Life Technologies Corporation, Grand Island, NY), 200mM glutamine (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA), 25mM HEPES (ATCC, Manassas, VA), 50uM penicillin/streptomycin (ATCC, Manassas, VA), 36mM glucose, 25% (v/v) Hank's buffered salt solution (HBSS; Gibco BRL, Gaithersburg, MD), 25% heat-inactivated horse serum (HIHS; Sigma, St. Louis, MO)). Cultures were maintained at 37°C in an atmosphere of 5% CO2/95% air in 95% humidity for 5 days to allow slices to adhere to

the insert membrane. The care of animals was carried out in accordance with the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (NIH Publications No. 80-23, revised 1996), as well as the University of Kentucky's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

#### 4.2.2 Ethanol exposure, rhamnetin exposure and ethanol withdrawal (EWD)

At 6 days *in vitro*, slices were placed in culture media with or without the addition of 100mM ethanol, incubated for 10 days and then subjected to EWD for 24h. During exposure, the plates were placed in topless polypropylene containers containing 50mL of 100mM ethanol or dH2O accordingly, and placed inside sealable plastic bags filled with 5% CO2, 21% oxygen, and a balance of nitrogen. The ethanol solution is used as an evaporating source of ethanol to counter the evaporation of ethanol from the culture wells resulting in an average ethanol concentration of 65mM during the 5 days between media changes. At 11 days *in vitro*, slices were sub-cultured into their respective culture media (control and ethanol), further subdivided and exposed to control media or media supplemented with rhamnetin (25uM/100uM) for the last 5 days of ethanol exposure. At the onset of EWD, slices were separated into treatment groups with or without rhamnetin and challenged accordingly: control media, 5uM NMDA (Sigma Aldrich Co. LCC., St. Louis, MO), 10ug/mL lipopolysaccharide from *Escherichia coli* 026:B6 (LPS, Lot #: 021M4072V; Sigma Aldrich Co. LCC., St. Louis, MO) or both NMDA and LPS combined.

## 4.2.3 Assessment of toxicity by propidium iodide uptake

Propidium iodide (PI - Sigma Aldrich Co. LCC., St. Louis, MO) is a membrane impermeable, DNA intercalating fluorescent molecule that is commonly used in OSHC as a semi-quantitative stain for cellular toxicity and has been significantly correlated to other reliable markers of cell death [130]. It has been extensively used to screen neuroprotective compounds in OHSC [119] and we previously used it to evaluate the combined effects of NMDA and LPS during EWD [in preparation]. Therefore, PI was chosen to evaluate the neuroprotective properties of rhamnetin in this study. During EWD, slices were treated in culture media containing 3.74uM PI. Slice images were captured using SPOT Advanced software (Version 4.0.9; W. Nuhsbaum Inc., McHenry, IL) connected to an inverted Leica DMIRB microscope (W. Nuhsbaum Inc.) fitted for fluorescence detection (mercury-arc lamp) and connected to a computer via a SPOT 7.2 color mosaic camera (W. Nuhsbaum Inc). PI uptake in the CA1, CA3, and DG cell layers was measured using ImageJ software (Version 1.46; National Institute of Health, Bethesda, MD). Background signal was subtracted from intensities obtained for each cell layer resulting in specific intensities which were used for statistical analysis. These values were then converted to % control (no EWD, no NMDA, and no LPS) within each preparation for graphical representation.

#### 4.2.4 Assessment of inflammatory mediator release

Once slices were imaged, inserts were discarded and the resulting media was collected for assessment of inflammatory mediator release. Nitric oxide (NO) release was assessed by the Griess Reagent System (Promega Corporation, Madison, WI) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, samples were mixed sequentially with sulfanilamide and N-1-napthylethylenediamine dihydrochloride and incubated for 5min. Absorbance was measured at 550nm using a Wallac 1420 VICTOR plate reader (PerkinElmer, MA, USA). All samples were assayed in duplicate and nitrite content was estimated using a reference NaNO<sub>2</sub> standard curve performed with each assay. TNFalpha content was assessed by enzyme linked immunosorbent assay kit (ELISA; Ready-Set-Go!® ELISA, eBioscience Inc., San Diego, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, samples were pipetted on 96-well plates coated with rat anti-TNFalpha antibodies and detected using the sandwich method (anti-TNFalpha

primary antibody, avidin-HRP linked secondary antibody and tetramethylbenzidine substrate). All samples were assayed in duplicate and TNFalpha content was estimated from a reference TNFalpha standard curve performed with each assay.

#### 4.2.5 Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Version 21 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY) and graphed using Prism (Graphpad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA). TNFalpha and NO release were analyzed by multi-factorial analysis of variance (ANOVA) with EWD, NMDA, LPS and rhamnetin as fixed factors. Data were obtained from different preparations so preparation was used as a covariate to control for differences across litters/culture preparations. Post hoc analyses were conducted using Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) test with a level of significance set at p<0.05. PI uptake was measured in three different regions (DG, CA3 and CA1). Thus, PI uptake was analyzed by multi-factorial, repeated measures ANOVA with region as within-subjects variables, EWD, NMDA, LPS and rhamnetin as between-subjects factors, and preparation as a covariate. Post hoc analyses were conducted using Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) test with a level of significance set at p<0.05.

#### 4.3 Results

Overall multi-factorial ANOVAs on NO release and TNFalpha release revealed that the highest order interactions included all factors except NMDA (for NO release: EWD x LPS [F(1,502) = 103.6, p < 0.001]; EWD x rhamnetin [F(2,502) = 7.6, p < 0.01]; LPS x rhamnetin [F(2,502) = 28.1, p < 0.001]; for TNFalpha release: EWD x rhamnetin [F(2,237) = 5.6, p < 0.01]). Therefore, differences in inflammatory mediator release between different treatment groups, excluding NMDA groups, were compared post hoc where indicated. The repeated-measures multi-factorial ANOVA on PI uptake revealed a main effect of region ([F(1.2,2545.9) = 102.01, p < 0.001] corrected using Greenhouse-Geisser). This effect was mainly driven by differences in the CA1 region of the hippocampus where toxicity was most significant compared to DG and CA3. Therefore, assessment of cellular damage was focused on the CA1. A multi-factorial ANOVA on PI uptake in the CA1 revealed that the highest order interaction included all factors (EWD x NMDA x LPS x rhamnetin [F(2,2101) = 6.7, p < 0.01]). Therefore, differences in PI uptake between the different treatment groups were compared post hoc where indicated.

## 4.3.1 Rhamnetin inhibits LPS-induced inflammatory mediator release but has no effect on NMDA-induced toxicity under control conditions

The anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties of rhamnetin were first evaluated under control conditions. Both 25uM and 100uM rhamnetin equally inhibited inflammatory mediator release induced by LPS (Fig. 4.1) but it did not afford neuroprotection against NMDA toxicity under these conditions (Fig. 4.2). TNFalpha and NO levels measured in media from cultures treated with LPS and rhamnetin were significantly lower than those measured in media from cultures treated with LPS and rhamnetin were (post hoc p < 0.0001). As in the original studies, under control conditions, LPS treatment potentiated NMDA-induced PI uptake (post hoc p < 0.05). 25uM or 100uM rhamnetin had no effect on toxicity induced by NMDA and LPS in combination.



Figure 4.1 Rhamnetin is anti-inflammatory under control conditions

Slices were treated with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in the absence (white bars) or presence (grey bars) of rhamnetin (25uM and 100uM), culture media was collected after 24h and assayed for TNFalpha (A) and NO (B) content. \* p<0.001 compared to LPS alone, n/d not detected. Data are expressed as percent release induced by LPS alone (means  $\pm$  SEM). n > 12 samples for each treatment group.



Figure 4.2 Rhamnetin is not neuroprotective under control conditions

Slices were treated with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and/or N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) in the absence (white bars) or presence (grey bars) of rhamnetin (25uM and 100uM) and PI uptake was measured after 24h. \* p<0.05 compared to NMDA alone, n/s no significant difference with equivalent treatment group (LPS, NMDA, NMDA+LPS) in the absence of rhamnetin. Data are expressed as percent of untreated control (means  $\pm$  SEM). Dotted line represents untreated control. n > 27 for each treatment group.

## 4.3.2 Effects of EWD on LPS-induced inflammatory mediator release and NMDAinduced toxicity

As in the original studies, EWD reduced the release of inflammatory mediators induced by LPS in comparison to control (Fig. 4.3). TNFalpha and NO levels measured in media from EWD cultures treated with LPS were significantly lower than LPS control levels (post hoc p < 0.001). In addition, EWD enhanced NMDA-induced toxicity and the effects of LPS on NMDA-induced toxicity were reversed under these conditions (Fig. 4.4). EWD cultures treated with NMDA exhibited significantly more PI uptake than NMDA controls (post hoc p < 0.001) and EWD cultures treated with a combination of NMDA and LPS exhibited significantly less PI uptake than EWD cultures treated with NMDA alone (post hoc p < 0.01).



Figure 4.3 Ethanol withdrawal (EWD) reduces lipopolysaccharide (LPS) induced proinflammatory release from organotypic hippocampal cultures

Slices were treated with LPS under control conditions (empty bars) and during EWD (dashed bars), culture media was collected after 24h and assayed for TNFalpha (A) and NO (B) content. \*p<0.001 compared to LPS alone. Data are expressed as percent release induced by LPS alone (means  $\pm$  SEM). n > 27 for each treatment group.



Figure 4.4 Effects of ethanol withdrawal (EWD) on toxicity induced by N-methyl-Daspartate (NMDA) and/or lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in organotypic hippocampal cultures

Slices were treated with LPS and/or NMDA under control conditions (empty bars) or during EWD (dashed bars) and PI uptake was measured after 24h. \*p<0.05 compared to NMDA alone; p<0.01 compared to NMDA+EWD. Data are expressed as percent of untreated control (means ± SEM). Dotted line represents untreated control. n > 117 for each treatment group.

## 4.3.3 Rhamnetin inhibits LPS-induced inflammatory mediator release and NMDAinduced toxicity during EWD

The anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties of rhamnetin were evaluated under EWD conditions. Despite the fact that the response to LPS is reduced during EWD, both 25uM and 100uM rhamnetin further inhibited inflammatory mediator release during EWD (Fig. 4.5). TNFalpha and NO levels measured in media from EWD cultures treated with LPS and rhamnetin were significantly lower than those measured in media from cultures treated with LPS alone (post hoc p < 0.001). Moreover, both 25uM and 100uM reduced NMDA-induced toxicity during EWD (Fig. 4.6). PI uptake in slices treated with NMDA and rhamnetin was significantly lower than in slices treated with NMDA alone under these conditions (post hoc p < 0.001). However, rhamnetin had no effect on toxicity induced by NMDA and LPS in combination during EWD.



Figure 4.5 Rhamnetin is anti-inflammatory during ethanol withdrawal (EWD)

Slices were treated with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in the absence (white dashed bars) or presence (grey dashed bars) of rhamnetin (25uM and 100uM), culture media was collected after 24h and assayed for TNFalpha (A) and NO (B) content. \*p<0.01 compared to LPS+EWD; p<0.001 compared to EWD alone. Data are expressed as percent release induced by LPS alone under control conditions (means ± SEM). n > 11 samples for each treatment group.



Figure 4.6 Rhamnetin is neuroprotective against N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) toxicity during ethanol withdrawal (EWD)

Slices were treated with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and/or NMDA in the absence (white dashed bars) or presence (grey dashed bars) of rhamnetin (25uM and 100uM) and PI uptake was measured after 24h. \*p<0.001 compared to NMDA+EWD;  $^{s}p<0.001$  compared to EWD alone, n/s no significant difference with equivalent treatment group in the absence of rhamnetin. Data are expressed as percent of untreated control (means ± SEM). Dotted line represents untreated control. n > 45 for each treatment group.

## 4.3.4 100uM rhamnetin spontaneously induces NO release and toxicity during EWD

Interestingly, 100uM rhamnetin interacted with ethanol exposure and/or EWD to spontaneously induce NO release and toxicity (Fig. 4.7). NO levels measured in media from EWD cultures treated with 100uM rhamnetin was significantly higher than NO measured in media from EWD control cultures (post hoc p < 0.001). Similarly, PI uptake was significantly higher in slices treated with 100uM rhamnetin compared to EWD control slices (post hoc p < 0.001). On the other hand, 25uM rhamnetin did not interact with EWD and levels of NO release in media or PI uptake in EWD cultures treated with this concentration of rhamnetin did not differ from EWD controls.





Slices were subjected to EWD in the absence (white dashed bars) or presence (grey dashed bars) of rhamnetin (25uM and 100uM). (A) Culture media was collected after 24h and assayed for NO content. \*p<0.001 compared to EWD alone. Data are expressed as percent release induced by LPS alone (means  $\pm$  SEM). n > 12 for each treatment group. (B) PI uptake was measured after 24h. \*p<0.001 compared to EWD alone. Data are expressed as percent of untreated control (means  $\pm$  SEM). Dotted line represents untreated control. n > 47 for each treatment group.

## 4.4 Discussion

The present studies were undertaken to evaluate the anti-inflammatory and potentially neuroprotective properties of rhamnetin, a dietary flavonoid, in an *in vitro* model of ethanol-induced neurotoxicity that includes both neuroinflammatory and excitotoxic components. Specifically, OHSC were pretreated with rhamnetin for 5 days before initiating EWD, at which point cultures were challenged with NMDA and/or LPS. In the original studies that characterized this model, we found that EWD enhances NMDA toxicity, but that the release of inflammatory mediators in response to LPS is reduced. The interactions between NMDA and LPS in OHSC during EWD are complex and the impact of natural anti-inflammatory flavonoids, such as rhamnetin, on these responses is currently unknown.

We have previously shown that rhamnetin is anti-inflammatory in LPS-stimulated immortalized BV2 microglia [188]. Thus, we originally predicted that rhamnetin would inhibit LPS-induced proinflammatory mediator release under control conditions and during EWD. The results support both predictions. Rhamnetin reduced LPS elicited TNFalpha and NO release under control conditions (fig. 1) as well as during EWD (fig. 5). Flavonoids have been extensively studied for their anti-inflammatory properties [192] and have been proposed as treatments for neuroinflammatory disorders [155]. The current study supports the potential use of dietary flavonoids such as rhamnetin to reduce neuroinflammation and suggests that they may also be effective in reducing neuroinflammation during EWD.

In addition to evaluating the anti-inflammatory effects of rhamnetin, the current study aimed to assess its potential for reducing excitotoxicity during EWD. We have previously shown that rhamnetin has agonist activity at alpha7 nAChRs [188] and this predicts that the flavonoid should reduce NMDA toxicity both under control conditions

and during EWD. In support, nicotine exposure reduces excitotoxic injury in OHSC under control conditions [189] and during EWD [100] most probably via alpha7 nAChRs [99]. In the current study, rhamnetin reduced NMDA-induced toxicity during EWD (fig. 6), but was inactive under control conditions (fig. 2). The lack of effect under control conditions is surprising because flavonoids are well known for their antioxidant properties [193] and they have been shown to be protective against a variety of excitotoxic insults by reducing oxidative stress [194-196]. However, the neuroprotective effects of rhamnetin during EWD suggest that the mechanism of enhanced excitotoxicity following ethanol exposure is a target for rhamnetin. The specific mechanism targeted remains unknown but these data suggest that dietary flavonoids such as rhamnetin have the potential to reduce excitotoxicity during EWD.

The current study also aimed to evaluate the impact of rhamnetin on the combined effects of NMDA and LPS. Rhamnetin afforded no protection against the combined insults under control conditions (fig. 2) or during EWD (fig. 6). The mechanisms by which rhamnetin reduce inflammatory responses are not certain. Our previous studies on BV2 cells suggest that direct effects via alpha7 nAChR is one component. However, changes in microglial phenotype may play a prominent role here. As mentioned in the introduction, microglia exposed chronically to flavonoids and alpha7 nAChR agonists have been shown to shift towards an anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective phenotype [190, 191]. From our previous studies it was apparent that chronic exposure to ethanol also produced changes in microglia towards a neuroprotective phenotype and similar conclusions have been reached by others using an *in vivo* model [135]. It is therefore likely that the interactions between ethanol, flavonoids, and alpha7 nAChR agonists on microglial phenotype are complex and it will be necessary to explore these in order to explain the results obtained here.

Throughout the current study, 25uM and 100uM rhamnetin were tested. Both concentrations were equipotent at inhibiting LPS-induced inflammatory mediator release under control conditions and during EWD as well as against NMDA toxicity during EWD. However, exposure to 100uM rhamnetin spontaneously induced NO release and toxicity during EWD (fig. 7). The mechanism is unknown but this effect confounds interpretation of results on NO and PI uptake with 100uM rhamnetin during EWD on slices treated with NMDA and/or LPS. This interaction is a potential concern for the proposed use of this class of flavonoids in preventing ethanol-induced neurotoxicity and suggests a potential shift in their therapeutic index following ethanol exposure given the fact that 100uM rhamnetin had no toxic effect under control conditions. However, given the fact that flavonoids are absorbed in the low uM range in animals [170], concentrations as high as 100uM are unlikely to achieved in vivo and the lower concentration of 25uM rhamnetin, which was just as anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective as 100uM, had no effect on spontaneous NO release or toxicity. Similar toxicity issues have been reported for quercetin, another flavonoid structurally related to rhamnetin, at high concentrations (40uM) despite being protective at lower concentrations (5uM) against amyloid beta induced toxicity in cultured neurons [197].

In summary, rhamnetin reduced LPS induced inflammation both under control conditions and during EWD, as well as preventing EWD-enhanced excitotoxicity. However, rhamnetin did not reduce excitotoxicity under control conditions and had no effect on the combined effects of NMDA and LPS. Thus, the results support only some of our original predictions. However, the current study shows that rhamnetin (1) retains its anti-inflammatory effects during EWD and (2) specifically targets a mechanism by which ethanol exposure enhances excitotoxicity during EWD. As such, rhamnetin is anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective during EWD. Therefore, rhamnetin and dietary

flavonoids with similar pharmacology have potential value in the treatment of ethanolinduced neurotoxicity.

Copyright © Joseph Alfred Lutz 2014

## **CHAPTER 5. OVERALL CONCLUSIONS**

### 5.1 Review

Alcohol-induced neurodegeneration has a complex etiology involving several mechanisms of toxicity, including oxidative stress, neuroinflammation and excitotoxicity. All have been extensively studied individually and all are thought to significantly contribute to this pathology. However, in order to develop effective pharmacotherapies against alcohol-induced neurodegeneration, it is now crucial to investigate the interactions between individual mechanisms. Moreover, this suggests the need for multifunctional pharmacotherapies that can reduce all pathological mechanisms simultaneously. Thus, the purpose of the current dissertation was to increase our understanding of the effects of neuroinflammation on excitotoxicity during ethanol withdrawal (EWD) as well as evaluate if novel flavonoids with alpha7 nAChR activity are suitable candidates for reducing ethanol-induced neurotoxicity.

Aim 1: Determine the effects of LPS-induced neuroinflammatory signaling on NMDAinduced toxicity following ethanol exposure in organotypic hippocampal slice cultures (OHSC - Chapter 2)

The primary hypothesis for this study was that ethanol exposure enhances neuroinflammatory signaling which, in turn, potentiates excitotoxicity during EWD. However, despite the fact that neuroinflammatory signaling enhances excitotoxicity under control conditions, the reverse is observed during EWD. This is accompanied by a desensitized inflammatory response following ethanol exposure. Moreover, BV2 microglia exposed to ethanol exhibit an unusual phenotype that may be immunoregulatory. Therefore, the results do not support the hypothesis and instead suggest that, in OHSC, changes to neuroinflammatory signaling induced by ethanol exposure are protective against excitotoxicity during EWD.

Aim 2: Identify and characterize plant natural products with alpha7 nAChR activity (Chapter 3)

The primary hypothesis for this study was that specific flavonoids selectively bind to alpha7 nAChR (relative to alpha4-beta2 nAChR) and this activity enhances their antiinflammatory properties. Some flavonoids, such as rhamnetin, were found to specifically displace [3H]-MLA whereas others, such as sakuranetin, did not. When comparing rhamnetin and sakuranetin for inhibition of LPS-induced inflammatory mediator release from BV2 microglia, rhamnetin was found to benefit from an alpha7 nAChR mediated effect whereas sakuranetin did not. The results support the original hypothesis and suggest that flavonoids with alpha7 nAChR activity, such as rhamnetin, have the potential to reduce neuroinflammation and excitotoxicity associated with ethanol-induced neurotoxicity.

Aim 3: Evaluate the anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties of rhamnetin following ethanol exposure in OHSC (Chapter 4)

The primary hypothesis for this study was that rhamnetin reduces neuroinflammatory signaling and excitotoxicity under control conditions and during EWD. Rhamnetin was found to inhibit neuroinflammatory signaling under control conditions and during EWD, and inhibit excitotoxicity during EWD but not under control conditions. Moreover, rhamnetin had no effect on the combination of neuroinflammatory and excitotoxic insults either under control conditions or during EWD. These results support, in part, the original hypothesis and suggest that rhamnetin has potential value in reducing neuroinflammation and excitotoxicity during EWD.

## 5.2 Discussion

In the last couple of decades, flavonoids have attracted a lot of attention as potential treatments for neurodegenerative diseases. This has most likely been fueled by the fact that oxidative stress and neuroinflammation are central pathological mechanisms in a great majority of neurodegenerative disorders and as such, flavonoids constitute good drug candidates to reduce both. In fact, flavonoids have been extensively shown to be protective in a variety of preclinical models of neurodegeneration (see below) and this has been generally ascribed to their antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities. However, flavonoids are not all equally potent neuroprotectants despite having equivalent antioxidant and/or anti-inflammatory properties. This suggests that other pharmacological activities may be important. As such, flavonoids have been shown to directly and indirectly affect a variety of pharmacological targets in the CNS and the work presented herein adds to their rich pharmacology.

Flavonoids modulate GABA receptors with reports dating back to 1983 (reviewed elsewhere [198]) which may explain their well accepted anxiolytic effects [199]. Flavonoids are well characterized cholinesterase inhibitors and are therefore being developed as pharmacotherapies for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease (reviewed elsewhere [200]). Considerable evidence shows that flavonoids have specific effects on the glutamate system and that this contributes to their ability to reduce excitotoxicity (see below). Some reports indicate that they interact with the dopamine transporter [201-203] and this activity may contribute to their neuroprotective effects in preclinical models of Parkinson's disease [204, 205]. Inhibitory effects on the serotonin 5-HT3(A) receptor have also been reported [206]. Therefore, flavonoids constitute a great source of bioactive compounds with a rich structural and pharmacological diversity.

However, this implies that the pharmacology of each specific structure needs to be well characterized depending on their intended use.

The original discovery that rhamnetin has potential alpha7 nAChR agonist activity (chapter 3) implied that in addition to its antioxidant [181] and anti-inflammatory properties [171] this flavonoid would also potentially inhibit excitotoxicity. In fact, flavonoids have been extensively shown to reduce excitotoxicity. However, these studies primarily focus on their direct and indirect effects on the glutamate system and do not suggest nAChR mediated effects. For example, epigallocatechin-3-gallate normalizes glutamate and glycine release from hippocampal and cortical neurons following ischemic injury [207], puerarin inhibits aspartate and glutamate release induced by ischemia in rats [208], myricetin reduces glutamate-induced intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry in cultured neurons by inhibiting the phosphorylation of NR1 subunits thus reducing NMDA receptor function [209], apigenin directly inhibits NMDA receptors in cultured cortical neurons [210], and quercetin inhibits glutamate evoked inward currents in xenopus oocytes expressing the human AMPA receptor [211]. This again illustrates their pharmacological diversity and points to potential future lines of investigation to explain the results obtained in chapter 4 (see below).

Before evaluating the neuroprotective effects of rhamnetin, its anti-inflammatory properties were characterized on LPS-stimulated BV2 microglia. We compared the antiinflammatory effects of rhamnetin and sakuranetin and found that their concentration response curves clearly differed in steepness at the point of inflection of the sigmoidal function. This phenomenon can be calculated when fitting the data using non-linear regression by adding a variable slope parameter to the sigmoidal equation. This parameter is commonly calculated in binding experiments to evaluate cooperative binding of a ligand to a receptor. In binding experiments, this parameter is commonly

known as the Hill coefficient because it was originally defined by Archibald Hill when he discovered the cooperative binding nature of oxygen to hemoglobin. In contrast, in the current study, the sigmoidal function with variable slope is used to fit the effects of a drug on a biological response. Therefore, differences in the steepness of the slope for the anti-inflammatory effects of rhamnetin and sakuranetin suggest that there are differences in their anti-inflammatory mechanisms. Moreover, the fact that this parameter can be manipulated by nAChR antagonists (for rhamnetin) and agonists (for sakuranetin) suggests that the difference resides in their activity at nAChRs. Taken together, these results suggest that rhamnetin benefits from an alpha7 nAChRs mediated anti-inflammatory mechanism whereas sakuranetin does not. In support, similar studies to the ones performed with BV2 microglia (saturation binding and flavonoid anti-inflammatory studies) were undertaken on RAW 264.7 macrophages, a cell line derived from peripheral macrophages, on which we found no evidence of nAChRs, and no differences were observed between rhamnetin and sakuranetin (data not shown). Moreover, closely following the completion of these studies, quercetin (which differs from rhamnetin by a single hydroxyl group) was thoroughly evaluated for its effects on acetylcholine induced inward currents in xenopus oocytes expressing various nAChRs [212-214]. Interestingly, guercetin was found to enhance acetylcholine induced inward currents through alpha7 nAChRs by binding to its Ca<sup>2+</sup> binding site [153] thus suggesting a positive allosteric mechanism of action. In our studies, given the intrinsic anti-inflammatory activity of rhamnetin, it is difficult to definitively characterize its mechanism of drug action at alpha7 nAChRs. As such, we attempted to further characterize the binding of rhamnetin to alpha7 nAChRs using single molecule fluorescence correlation spectroscopic methods in collaboration with Dr. Chris Richards (University of Kentucky, College of Arts and Sciences, Department of Chemistry). Unfortunately, despite the fact that rhamnetin had the desired fluorescence spectrum to

run these experiments, when diluted at single molecule concentrations, rhamnetin could not be detected. Moreover, ligands with this sort of modest affinity are very difficult to evaluate using this system. Therefore, we were unable to run these experiments. Nevertheless, the BV2 microglia data suggest potential agonist activity for rhamnetin at alpha7 nAChRs and additional studies are required to elucidate its mechanism of drug action.

Before evaluating rhamnetin for its neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory properties, we developed a model of ethanol-induced neurotoxicity in vitro which included an excitotoxic and neuroinflammatory component (chapter 2). Current evidence suggests that alcohol dependence ultimately results in neuroinflammation which contributes to alcohol-induced neurodegeneration (see section 1.2.2). However, alcohol dependence is a chronic relapsing disorder and as such, the onset of neuroinflammation is not likely to be sudden. Therefore, the timing and the nature of changes to neuroimmune cells induced by ethanol are likely to be important for disease progression. However, to date, they remain largely unknown. Moreover, it is unclear how these changes interact with other pathological mechanisms during EWD. The results presented in chapter 2 show that, in OHSC, following ethanol exposure, neuroinflammatory processes are protective against NMDA receptor mediated excitotoxicity during EWD (fig. 2.1). Moreover, following ethanol exposure, OHSC exhibit a desensitized response to LPS (fig. 2.2). The specific mechanisms for these effects remain uncertain but results from BV2 microglia exposed to the same paradigm suggest that ethanol polarizes microglia towards an immunoregulatory phenotype [140]. Similarly, in rats exposed to a modified Marjchowicz 4-day ethanol binge, microglia become partially activated and exhibit an anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective phenotype [135]. Thus, collectively these studies suggest that ethanol exposure induces

phenotypic changes in microglia that are reparative and beneficial. It is important to note that, in our studies, ethanol concentration *in vitro* remains above ~40mM throughout exposure [56]. Similarly, in the modified Marjchowicz 4-day ethanol binge, based on the behavioral intoxication scores recorded in these studies [215] it appears that rats are continuously exposed to ethanol. Together, this suggests that polarization of microglia towards an anti-inflammatory and protective phenotype is promoted by *continuous* exposure to ethanol and this phenotype manifests during what could be considered the "first" EWD. As such, the effects of repeated EWD on microglial phenotype are uncertain and may in fact promote a proinflammatory microglial phenotype as has been shown in other ethanol exposure paradigms [39, 40, 216-218]. Given the relapsing nature of alcohol dependence, additional studies are warranted to explore this hypothesis.

One of the limitations of this study is the limited number of neuroinflammatory markers measured. The original hypothesis stated that ethanol exposure would enhance proinflammatory cytokine release which in turn would enhance excitotoxicity. As such, we chose to focus on TNFalpha and NO. When we found that the results did not support the hypothesis, we attempted to measure IL-10 (prototypical anti-inflammatory cytokine) in our culture samples. Unfortunately, IL-10 levels were below the limits of detection in all treatment groups and this may have been due to freeze-thaw degradation of the samples. However, future studies should include additional neuroinflammatory markers in order to get a broader idea of how neuroimmune function is affected. In addition, it would be interesting to evaluate microglial phenotype in the cultures following ethanol exposure and EWD, using e.g. immunohistochemical analyses, which would provide a clearer picture of the changes to this cell type specifically.

With this model of ethanol-induced toxicity at hand, we proceeded to test rhamnetin for its anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties. Flavonoids have in

fact already been shown to be cytoprotective in a variety of models of ethanol-induced toxicity. For example, cyanidin-3-glucoside reduces ethanol-induced neurotoxicity in neonatal mice [23] and epigallocatechin prevents alcoholic neuropathy in rats [219]. Moreover, quercetin reverses hepatotoxicity and neurotoxicity induced by 90 days of ethanol administration [22] and prevents alcoholic neuropathy in rats [220]. These studies were undertaken in large part to demonstrate that the antioxidant and antiinflammatory properties of these compounds translate to neuroprotection against ethanol-induced toxicity. However, in the current study we were interested in evaluating both the anti-inflammatory and the anti-excitotoxic effects of rhamnetin separately and simultaneously. In addition to retaining anti-inflammatory activity during EWD (fig. 4.5), rhamnetin inhibited NMDA toxicity during EWD (fig. 4.6). However, rhamnetin afforded no protection against NMDA alone under control conditions (fig. 4.2). This discrepancy suggests that the mechanism of enhanced excitotoxicity induced by ethanol exposure is a target for rhamnetin. The specific mechanism remains unknown but it is possible that rhamnetin, via nAChRs, normalizes changes to glutamate receptor function induced by ethanol thereby preventing enhanced excitotoxicity during EWD. Indeed, Proctor et al show that the acute effects of ethanol on NMDA receptors are abolished in OHSC from mice chronically exposed to nicotine [221]. Alternatively, given the considerable evidence that flavonoids affect glutamate signaling (see above), it is possible that in addition to its alpha7 nAChR activity, rhamnetin is protective via direct pharmacological effects on the glutamate system. However, additional experiments are needed to test these hypotheses.

In this same study, rhamnetin was found to afford no protection against the combination of NMDA and LPS under control conditions or during EWD (fig. 4.2 & fig. 4.6). Results obtained under control conditions are surprising given the fact that

proinflammatory cytokine release is reduced by rhamnetin and as such is predicted to reduce the potentiation of NMDA toxicity by LPS. However, this assumes that proinflammatory cytokines are responsible for the enhanced toxicity observed under these conditions whereas other mechanisms are possible (discussed in chapter 2). As such, reducing proinflammatory cytokine release does not prevent the potentiating effects of LPS on NMDA toxicity. This either suggests that potentiation of NMDA toxicity by proinflammatory cytokines is governed by an all-or-nothing phenomenon, which implies that high and low concentrations of proinflammatory cytokines are just as effective, or that it is mediated by another mechanism. In fact, several other mechanisms have been proposed for this interaction (discussed in chapter 2) and additional studies are necessary to identify the one responsible. During EWD, the response to LPS was already reduced and rhamnetin further inhibited release of proinflammatory cytokines. However, this did not result in additional protection against NMDA toxicity under these conditions. Chronic exposure to ethanol (see chapter 2), alpha7 nAChR agonists [191], and flavonoids [190] all promote an anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective microglial phenotype. As such, it is impossible to determine how rhamnetin and ethanol coexposure affect microglial function in these studies and additional studies are necessary to evaluate this interaction. Nevertheless, rhamnetin was found to be anti-inflammatory and reduce excitotoxicity during EWD and therefore constitutes a good candidate to reduce ethanol-induced neurotoxicity.

Interestingly, flavonoids have also been evaluated on ethanol-related behaviors such as voluntary consumption and the anxiogenic effects of EWD. For example, quercetin prevents EWD induced anxiety in mice [222]. Dihydromyricetin [223] and puerarin [224] prevent EWD induced anxiety and reduce voluntary ethanol consumption in rats. Moreover, puerarin was evaluated clinically and found to reduce ethanol intake in
heavy drinkers [225]. Puerarin was originally identified in kudzu root extracts which are used in traditional Chinese medicine as a remedy for hangover. These extracts were also found to be anxiolytic and reduce ethanol consumption in rats [226]. The development of rhamnetin as a potential treatment for ethanol-induced neurotoxicity will require the evaluation of its effects on ethanol-related behaviors such as these in future studies.

The current dissertation stemmed from the discovery of plant extracts with alpha7 nAChR activity and led to the *in vitro* characterization of a novel plant natural product for reducing ethanol-induced toxicity. As such, the work presented herein illustrates the continued value of plants as a source of novel drugs. In fact, almost half of the drugs approved in the last 25 years originate from plants or are derived from plant natural products [227, 228]. This is also true for nAChR drugs [109]. However, although plants are a great source of novel drugs, there are substantial difficulties associated with either the isolation or chemical synthesis of natural products which hinders their commercialization. For example, the development of the anti-cancer drug, paclitaxel (Taxol<sup>™</sup>), is well known to have suffered from supply problems during preclinical and clinical development [229] as it was exclusively isolated from its original source, Taxus breviflora (Pacific yew). However, using bioengineering strategies, this was eventually circumvented and the current commercial supply of paclitaxel is mainly from plant cell fermentation [230]. As such, plants can be engineered to increase yields of compounds of interest. Moreover, their biosynthetic machinery can be disrupted to stimulate production of novel compounds. Therefore, we developed a strategy that relies on agrobacterium-mediated transformation of Solidago nemoralis, for which we obtained proof of transformation (see appendix), to produce a large population of gain-of-function

mutants that potentially have increased yields of the endogenous nAChR active flavonoids and/or novel flavonoid structures.

The end goal of this dissertation was to ascertain the potential value of rhamnetin for the treatment of alcohol-induced neurodegeneration. The various activities of this compound were hypothesized to at least reduce 2 primary pathological mechanisms in ethanol-induced neurotoxicity and we were able to show that, during EWD, rhamnetin is anti-inflammatory and reduces excitotoxicity. Moreover, we developed an *in vitro* model of ethanol-induced neurotoxicity which revealed interesting interactions between neuroinflammatory processes and excitotoxicity during EWD. Given the complex interactions between these pathological mechanisms future research should be aimed at further understanding the progressive changes that occur to neuroimmune cells in alcohol dependence as this may reveal opportune therapeutic windows in the progression of disease for preventing the onset of neurodegeneration.

# Copyright © Joseph Alfred Lutz 2014

#### APPENDIX

# HAIRY ROOT CULTURES AND PLANT REGENERATION IN SOLIDAGO NEMORALIS TRANSFORMED WITH AGROBACTERIUM RHIZOGENES

#### 5.3 Introduction

Plants have complex biosynthetic machineries that have allowed them to evolve bioactive, complex and multifunctional secondary metabolites as protection against stressors. One example is the complex alkaloid methyllycaconitine (MLA) in Delphinium species which deters herbivorous insects by targeting the insect nicotinic receptor for acetylcholine (nAChR), the most prevalent excitatory receptor in the insect CNS [231]. In addition to being a high affinity ligand for the insect nAChR, MLA is also a highly selective ligand for the alpha7-subtype of human nAChR [111]. Since this receptor is an emerging target for the treatment of neurodegenerative disorders [232] other plant metabolites with this selectivity would be of considerable therapeutic interest. We therefore screened a native plant library for this pharmacological activity using a "differential screening" approach [187] which identified Solidago nemoralis ("gray goldenrod") as a prime candidate which has not previously been investigated for this activity. However, as for other plant species, long grow cycles, low yield and necessity to harvest large amounts of biomass, is likely to hinder the development and commercialisation of these metabolites. A number of bioengineering strategies to circumvent these issues have been described for known metabolites with known metabolic pathways [233]. However, in the case of unknown metabolites with unknown pathways for production (as here) an alternative strategy for optimizing plant production is required. The strategy developed in our laboratory relies on Agrobacterium-mediated continuous hairy root culture together with random gain-of-function mutagenesis. Stable mutants over-producing the active metabolites are identified by pharmacological

screening. and are then regenerated into intact mutant plants. However, for the Solidago genus, only one species, S. altissima, has been reported to be transformed by Agrobacterium [234]. Here we report an Agrobacterium-mediated transformation protocol for S. nemoralis, which will enable the application of our genomic optimization strategy to the potential therapeutic compounds contained in this species.

#### 5.4 Materials and Methods

#### 5.4.1 Plant material & culture conditions

Solidago nemoralis seeds were washed with 70% ethanol for 2 min followed by surface sterilization in 30% commercial bleach for 20 min. Seeds were rinsed five times with sterile water and aseptically germinated in plates containing half-strength of Murashigue and Skoog (MS) media supplemented with 0.6% agar and 1% sucrose. For all media, the pH was adjusted to 5.8 and autoclaved. The temperature in the growth chamber was maintained at 25±2°C with a 12h photoperiod and (light intensity 45 µmol m-2 s-1).

#### 5.4.2 Agrobacterium culture and infection

The pCambia 1301 binary vector was mobilized into Agrobacterium rhizogenes strain R1000 by freeze-thaw method. Briefly, 1 µg of plasmid DNA was mixed with competent cells of A. rhizogenes and incubated on ice for 30 min. The DNA–bacterial mix was frozen in liquid nitrogen for 30 sec and incubated for 5 min in a water bath at 37°C. After the heat shock, 600 µL of liquid Luria-Bertani (LB) media were added to the bacteria-DNA mix and shaken on rotary shaker set at 200 rpm for 4h at 28°C. Bacteria were pelleted down by centrifugation at 4000 rpm, resuspended in 100 uL LB and finally plated on solid LB media containing 50 mg/L kanamycin. The plate was incubated for two days at 28°C which resulted in transformed colonies. A single colony was used to

make transformed bacterial stock which was in turn aliquoted in 1.5mL 60% glycerol suspensions and kept at -80°C.

Five ml of liquid LB kan50 media was inoculated with A. rhizogenes stock harboring pCambia 1301 and grown overnight at 28°C. Two mL of this culture were used to inoculate 50 mL of LB plus kanamycin 50 mg/L liquid media and grown until the optical density (OD) reached to 0.6. Bacteria were then pelleted down by centrifugation at 4000 rpm and resuspended into 50 mL liquid MS media supplemented with 100 μM acetosyringone (3,5-dimethoxy-4-hydroxy-acetophenone).

Stem explants (4 week old plants), leaf explants (4 week old plants) and rootexcised seedlings (2 week old plants) were tested for agrobacterium infection. Leaf explants were excised from stems and stem explants were cut into 1 cm long sections. Explants or seedlings were placed in the agrobacterium culture, wounded using a sterile needle and left to incubate for 20 min. Explants were then blot-dried on sterile filter paper, transferred onto solid MS media supplemented with vitamin B5 and 1% sucrose and incubated for 2 days in the dark in the growth chamber. After the 2-day cocultivation period, explants were transferred onto MS media plate supplemented with 400 mg/L cefotaxime and 3% sucrose. Hairy roots appeared after 2-3 weeks at which point they were excised from explants, cut into 1 cm long sections and cultured and maintained on MS media supplemented with 250 mg/L cefotaxime and 3% sucrose.

#### 5.4.3 Plant regeneration from hairy roots

All media used in the regeneration process was supplemented with 250 mg/L cefotaxime in order to prevent fortuitous agrobacterium growth. Hairy root cultures were transferred onto MS media alone or MS media supplemented with alpha-naphthaleneacetic acid (NAA) (0.1 or 1 mg/L) or MS media supplemented with NAA (0.1 or 1 mg/L) and 6-benzyladenine (BA) (2 or 5 mg/L). After 4-6 weeks adventitious shoots

appeared. They were excised and transferred onto MS media for root formation. GUS staining was performed at all stages of hairy root culture and plant regeneration to confirm transformation.

#### 5.4.4 beta-glucuronidase (GUS) histochemical assay

GUS staining buffer was prepared by adding 50 mM sodium phosphate (pH 7.0), 0.5 mM potassium ferricyanide, 0.5 mM potassium ferrocyanide, 10 mM EDTA and 0.05% Triton X-100 into 150 ml of water. This buffer was dispensed into 15 ml aliquots and stored at –20 °C. For GUS staining, the stock buffer was thawed and diluted to a final volume of 100 ml in water. 35 mg of 5-bromo,4-chloro,3-indolyl- beta-D-glucuronide (X-Gluc) was dissolved in 150 µl of dimethylformamide and subsequently added to the diluted buffer. Tissue samples were incubated in X-Gluc solution for 24-h at 37 °C and observed for blue staining indicative of GUS expression.

#### 5.5 Results

S. nemoralis stem explants, leaf explants and seedlings were tested for their ability to be transformed by A. rhizogens and produce hairy roots after infection. Leaf explants transformation produced the highest hairy root induction frequency (30-35%) as compared to stem explants (18-20%) and seedlings (6-9%). Therefore, further experiments on regeneration of transformed plants were undertaken with A. rhizogenes transformed leaf explants.

Two-3 weeks after infection, hairy roots appeared on the site of infection. They were excised and cultured independently. When grown in solid MS media without the addition of phytohormones, adventitious shoot regeneration occurred via direct organogenesis. Indeed, once excised, several hairy roots turned green, produced green callus-like structures which ultimately turned into shoots after 4-6 weeks of culture (Fig.

1a,b). However, the frequency of spontaneous shoot regeneration on simple MS media was low (only 2-3 shoots appeared on each hairy root). Therefore, in order to increase shoot regeneration frequency, media was supplemented with either BA/NAA or NAA alone.

A combination of BA (2 or 5 mg/L) and NAA (1 mg/L) did not increase shoot regeneration because hairy roots cultured in this particular medium produced white callus like structures that did not turn into shoot buds (Fig. 1c). However, media with NAA alone (0.1 or 1 mg/L) did produce shoots in 4 weeks of culture (Fig. 1d) after going through both white and green callus like structure stages. Regeneration efficiency was increased by NAA supplemented media which afforded an adventitious shoot budding frequency of ~35%, much higher than in non-supplemented media.

Since the transformation of S. nemoralis was performed with A. rhizogenes strain R1000 harboring pCambia 1301 which has the GUS gene as visible marker, all stages of hairy root development and shoot regeneration were tested by GUS histochemical assay to ensure transformation events (Fig. 2a-c). The coding region of the gusA gene is interrupted by a catalase intron to ensure that the transcription and post-transcription splicing to form mature mRNA occurs by utilizing the plant cell machinery rather than the agrobacterium protein synthesis machinery [235].



Figure 5.1 Agrobacterium rhizogenes mediated transformation of S. nemoralis

(a) Hairy root culture and their spontaneous regeneration into shoot; (b) Hairy root turned green after two weeks of culture and produced shoots on their surface; (c) Hairy root treated with BA produced white callus which failed to regenerate when continued culture on the same medium; (d) Shoot regeneration increased by application of NAA (0.1 mg/L)



Figure 5.2 GUS histochemical staining of transformed S. nemoralis

Samples were treated in the x-Gluc solution overnight followed by washing with 70% ethanol. (a) Hairy roots generation on the leaf explants; (b) Transformed hairy root turned into callus during regeneration process; (c) Regenerated shoots showed blue GUS stain in their leaves; (d) Adverse effect of high concentration of sucrose in the culture medium- the regenerated shoots turned brown and did not elongate further when HR were cultured on 6% sucrose containing medium.

#### 5.6 Discussion

A. rhizogenes-mediated genetic transformation in plants is a well established procedure which produces hairy roots at the site of infection by altering the endogenous auxin:cytokinin ratio in the plant cell [236, 237]. Additionally, it is well documented that, once established, hairy roots can be cultured on hormone-free medium [238]. S. nemoralis hairy roots were easily established and then cultured both in solid and liquid hormone free medium.

Although shoot regeneration occurred spontaneously in hormone-free media, it occurred only at low frequency. Additionally, introducing exogenous NAA and BA lead to no improvement in shoot regeneration. However, application of NAA alone on S. nemoralis hairy root cultures showed a positive effect on shoot regeneration. These results go against the notion that higher levels of cytokinin (in the auxin:cytokinin ratio) are necessary for shoot regeneration although it has been reported that A. rhizogenes transformed plants can regenerate shoots in the presence of only auxin, presumably due to the cytokinin mimetic effect of the over expression of the rolC gene, present on A. rhizogenes Ri plasmid [239].

The effect of auxin application for shoot regeneration may be different for each hairy root and might be linked with the expression of the rolC gene [240]. A similar result has been previously reported in Solanum khasianum hairy roots where application of IAA and kinetin affected the growth and regeneration capacity of the plant [241].

Additionally, high concentrations of sucrose appear to have an adverse effect on root culture and shoot organogenesis. S. nemoralis hairy root grew better in media containing only 1-2% sucrose. On the other hand, media with more than 4% sucrose turned the root culture and regenerated shoots deep brown in color and abrogated

growth (Fig. 2d). Similar findings on the effect of sucrose concentration on growth and shoot regeneration have previously been reported for Hypericum perforatum [242].

In conclusion, we report a protocol for culture and transformation of S. nemoralis which should enable the genome of this species to be altered so as to optimize production of the potentially valuable pharmacologically active metabolites it contains.

Copyright © Joseph Alfred Lutz 2014

# REFERENCES

- 1. *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (4th ed.).*2000, Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- 2. Global status report on alcohol and health, 2014, World Health Organisation.
- 3. Hasin D.S., Stinson F.S., Ogburn E., Grant B.F. *Prevalence, correlates, disability, and comorbidity of dsm-iv alcohol abuse and dependence in the united states: Results from the national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditions.* Archives of General Psychiatry 2007; 64: 830-842.
- 4. Thavorncharoensap M., Teerawattananon Y., Yothasamut J., Lertpitakpong C., Chaikledkaew U. *The economic impact of alcohol consumption: a systematic review.* Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy 2009; 4: 20.
- 5. Harper C., Dixon G., Sheedy D., Garrick T. *Neuropathological alterations in alcoholic brains. Studies arising from the New South Wales Tissue Resource Centre.* Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2003; 27: 951-61.
- 6. Rosenbloom M., Sullivan E.V., Pfefferbaum A. Using magnetic resonance imaging and diffusion tensor imaging to assess brain damage in alcoholics. Alcohol Res Health 2003; 27: 146-52.
- 7. Thomson A.D. *Mechanisms of vitamin deficiency in chronic alcohol misusers and the development of the Wernicke-Korsakoff syndrome.* Alcohol Alcohol Suppl 2000; 35: 2-7.
- 8. Zahr N.M., Kaufman K.L., Harper C.G. *Clinical and pathological features of alcohol-related brain damage.* Nat Rev Neurol 2011; 7: 284-94.
- 9. Fein G., Bachman L., Fisher S., Davenport L. *Cognitive impairments in abstinent alcoholics*. West J Med 1990; 152: 531-7.
- 10. Ridley N.J., Draper B., Withall A. *Alcohol-related dementia: an update of the evidence.* Alzheimers Res Ther 2013; 5: 3.
- 11. Crews F.T.P.D. Alcohol-Related Neurodegeneration and Recovery: Mechanisms From Animal Models. Alcohol Res Health 2008; 31: 377-388.
- 12. Koob G.F., Le Moal M. *Drug Addiction, Dysregulation of Reward, and Allostasis.* Neuropsychopharmacology 2001; 24: 97-129.
- 13. Rando K., Hong K.I., Bhagwagar Z., Li C.S., Bergquist K., Guarnaccia J., Sinha R. Association of frontal and posterior cortical gray matter volume with time to alcohol relapse: a prospective study. Am J Psychiatry 2011; 168: 183-92.
- 14. De Witte P., Littleton J., Parot P., Koob G. *Neuroprotective and abstinencepromoting effects of acamprosate: elucidating the mechanism of action.* CNS Drugs 2005; 19: 517-37.
- 15. Reynolds A., Laurie C., Mosley R.L., Gendelman H.E. Oxidative stress and the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative disorders. Int Rev Neurobiol 2007; 82: 297-325.
- 16. Bondy S.C. *Ethanol toxicity and oxidative stress.* Toxicol Lett 1992; 63: 231-41.
- 17. Niemela O. Distribution of ethanol-induced protein adducts in vivo: relationship to tissue injury. Free Radic Biol Med 2001; 31: 1533-8.
- 18. Adam-Vizi V., Chinopoulos C. *Bioenergetics and the formation of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species.* Trends Pharmacol Sci 2006; 27: 639-45.
- 19. Leung T.M., Nieto N. CYP2E1 and oxidant stress in alcoholic and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Hepatol 2013; 58: 395-8.
- 20. Anandatheerthavarada H.K., Shankar S.K., Bhamre S., Boyd M.R., Song B.-J., Ravindranath V. *Induction of brain cytochrome P-450IIE1 by chronic ethanol treatmen.* Brain Research 1993; 601: 279-285.

- 21. Zhong Y., Dong G., Luo H., Cao J., Wang C., Wu J., Feng Y.Q., Yue J. Induction of brain CYP2E1 by chronic ethanol treatment and related oxidative stress in hippocampus, cerebellum, and brainstem. Toxicology 2012; 302: 275-84.
- 22. Ambadath V., Venu R.G., Madambath I. Comparative study of the efficacy of ascorbic acid, quercetin, and thiamine for reversing ethanol-induced toxicity. J Med Food 2010; 13: 1485-9.
- 23. Ke Z., Liu Y., Wang X., Fan Z., Chen G., Xu M., Bower K.A., Frank J.A., Ou X., Shi X., Luo J. *Cyanidin-3-glucoside ameliorates ethanol neurotoxicity in the developing brain.* J Neurosci Res 2011; 89: 1676-84.
- 24. Hamelink C., Hampson A., Wink D.A., Eiden L.E., Eskay R.L. Comparison of cannabidiol, antioxidants, and diuretics in reversing binge ethanol-induced neurotoxicity. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2005; 314: 780-8.
- 25. Crews F., Nixon K., Kim D., Joseph J., Shukitt-Hale B., Qin L., Zou J. *BHT blocks NF-kappaB activation and ethanol-induced brain damage.* Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2006; 30: 1938-49.
- 26. Tiwari V., Kuhad A., Chopra K. *Neuroprotective effect of vitamin E isoforms against chronic alcohol-induced peripheral neurotoxicity: possible involvement of oxidative-nitrodative stress.* Phytother Res 2012; 26: 1738-45.
- 27. Glass C.K., Saijo K., Winner B., Marchetto M.C., Gage F.H. *Mechanisms underlying inflammation in neurodegeneration.* Cell 2010; 140: 918-34.
- 28. Lee Y., Lee S.R., Choi S.S., Yeo H.G. Therapeutically targeting neuroinflammation and microglia after acute ischemic stroke. 2014; 2014: 297241.
- 29. Kumar A., Loane D.J. *Neuroinflammation after traumatic brain injury: opportunities for therapeutic intervention.* Brain Behav Immun 2012; 26: 1191-201.
- 30. Leclercq S., Cani P.D., Neyrinck A.M., Starkel P., Jamar F., Mikolajczak M., Delzenne N.M., de Timary P. *Role of intestinal permeability and inflammation in the biological and behavioral control of alcohol-dependent subjects.* Brain Behav Immun 2012; 26: 911-8.
- 31. Haorah J., Knipe B., Leibhart J., Ghorpade A., Persidsky Y. *Alcohol-induced oxidative stress in brain endothelial cells causes blood-brain barrier dysfunction.* J Leukoc Biol 2005; 78: 1223-32.
- 32. Banks W.A., Robinson S.M. *Minimal penetration of lipopolysaccharide across the murine blood-brain barrier.* Brain Behav Immun 2010; 24: 102-9.
- 33. Liu J., Lewohl J.M., Dodd P.R., Randall P.K., Harris R.A., Mayfield R.D. *Gene* expression profiling of individual cases reveals consistent transcriptional changes in alcoholic human brain. J Neurochem 2004; 90: 1050-8.
- 34. He J., Crews F.T. Increased MCP-1 and microglia in various regions of the human alcoholic brain. Exp Neurol 2008; 210: 349-58.
- 35. Blanco A.M., Guerri C. Ethanol intake enhances inflammatory mediators in brain: role of glial cells and TLR4/IL-1RI receptors. Front Biosci 2007; 12: 2616-30.
- 36. Blanco A.M., Pascual M., Valles S.L., Guerri C. *Ethanol-induced iNOS and COX- 2 expression in cultured astrocytes via NF-κB.* NeuroReport 2004; 15: 681-685.
- 37. Fernandez-Lizarbe S., Montesinos J., Guerri C. *Ethanol induces TLR4/TLR2 association, triggering an inflammatory response in microglial cells.* Journal of Neurochemistry 2013; 126: 261-273.
- 38. Fernandez-Lizarbe S., Pascual M., Guerri C. *Critical Role of TLR4 Response in the Activation of Microglia Induced by Ethanol.* The Journal of Immunology 2009; 183: 4733-4744.

- 39. Alfonso-Loeches S., Pascual-Lucas M., Blanco A.M., Sanchez-Vera I., Guerri C. *Pivotal role of TLR4 receptors in alcohol-induced neuroinflammation and brain damage.* J Neurosci 2010; 30: 8285-95.
- 40. Qin L., He J., Hanes R.N., Pluzarev O., Hong J.S., Crews F.T. Increased systemic and brain cytokine production and neuroinflammation by endotoxin following ethanol treatment. J Neuroinflammation 2008; 5: 10.
- 41. Smith J.A., Das A., Ray S.K., Banik N.L. *Role of pro-inflammatory cytokines released from microglia in neurodegenerative diseases.* Brain Research Bulletin 2012; 87: 10-20.
- 42. Tiwari V., Chopra K. Attenuation of oxidative stress, neuroinflammation, and apoptosis by curcumin prevents cognitive deficits in rats postnatally exposed to ethanol. Psychopharmacology 2012; 224: 519-535.
- 43. Menon V.P., Sudheer A.R. Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of curcumin. Adv Exp Med Biol 2007; 595: 105-25.
- 44. Jung H., Kwak H.-K., Hwang K.T. Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities of cyanidin-3-glucoside and cyanidin-3-rutinoside in hydrogen peroxide and lipopolysaccharide treated RAW264.7 cells (830.23). The FASEB Journal 2014; 28.
- 45. Faingold C.L. *The Majchrowicz binge alcohol protocol: an intubation technique to study alcohol dependence in rats.* Curr Protoc Neurosci 2008; Chapter 9: Unit 9.28.
- 46. Smothers C.T., Mrotek J.J., Lovinger D.M. *Chronic ethanol exposure leads to a selective enhancement of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor function in cultured hippocampal neurons.* J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1997; 283: 1214-22.
- 47. Follesa P., Ticku M.K. Chronic ethanol-mediated up-regulation of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor polypeptide subunits in mouse cortical neurons in culture. J Biol Chem 1996; 271: 13297-9.
- 48. Nagy J., Kolok S., Dezso P., Boros A., Szombathelyi Z. *Differential alterations in the expression of NMDA receptor subunits following chronic ethanol treatment in primary cultures of rat cortical and hippocampal neurones.* Neurochem Int 2003; 42: 35-43.
- 49. Nagy J., Kolok S., Boros A., Dezso P. *Role of altered structure and function of NMDA receptors in development of alcohol dependence.* Curr Neuropharmacol 2005; 3: 281-97.
- 50. Lovinger D.M., White G., Weight F.F. *Ethanol inhibition of neuronal glutamate receptor function.* Ann Med 1990; 22: 247-52.
- 51. Rossetti Z.L., Carboni S., Fadda F. *Glutamate-induced increase of extracellular glutamate through N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors in ethanol withdrawal.* Neuroscience 1999; 93: 1135-40.
- 52. Gibson D.A., Harris B.R., Prendergast M.A., Hart S.R., Blanchard J.A., 2nd, Holley R.C., Pedigo N.W., Littleton J.M. *Polyamines contribute to ethanol withdrawal-induced neurotoxicity in rat hippocampal slice cultures through interactions with the NMDA receptor.* Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2003; 27: 1099-106.
- 53. Harris B.R., Gibson D.A., Prendergast M.A., Blanchard J.A., Holley R.C., Hart S.R., Scotland R.L., Foster T.C., Pedigo N.W., Littleton J.M. *The neurotoxicity induced by ethanol withdrawal in mature organotypic hippocampal slices might involve cross-talk between metabotropic glutamate type 5 receptors and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors.* Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2003; 27: 1724-35.
- 54. Prendergast M.A., Harris B.R., Blanchard J.A., 2nd, Mayer S., Gibson D.A., Littleton J.M. *In vitro effects of ethanol withdrawal and spermidine on viability of hippocampus from male and female rat.* Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2000; 24: 1855-61.

- 55. Mayer S., Harris B.R., Gibson D.A., Blanchard J.A., Prendergast M.A., Holley R.C., Littleton J. Acamprosate, *MK-801*, and ifenprodil inhibit neurotoxicity and calcium entry induced by ethanol withdrawal in organotypic slice cultures from neonatal rat hippocampus. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2002; 26: 1468-78.
- 56. Prendergast M.A., Harris B.R., Mullholland P.J., Blanchard J.A., 2nd, Gibson D.A., Holley R.C., Littleton J.M. *Hippocampal CA1 region neurodegeneration produced by ethanol withdrawal requires activation of intrinsic polysynaptic hippocampal pathways and function of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors.* Neuroscience 2004; 124: 869-77.
- 57. Mulholland P.J., Harris B.R., Wilkins L.H., Self R.L., Blanchard J.A., Holley R.C., Littleton J.M., Prendergast M.A. *Opposing effects of ethanol and nicotine on hippocampal calbindin-D28k expression.* Alcohol 2003; 31: 1-10.
- 58. Arundine M., Tymianski M. *Molecular mechanisms of calcium-dependent neurodegeneration in excitotoxicity*. Cell Calcium 2003; 34: 325-37.
- 59. Lovinger D.M. *Excitotoxicity and alcohol-related brain damage.* Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1993; 17: 19-27.
- 60. Stepanyan T.D., Farook J.M., Kowalski A., Kaplan E., Barron S., Littleton J.M. *Alcohol withdrawal-induced hippocampal neurotoxicity in vitro and seizures in vivo are both reduced by memantine.* Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2008; 32: 2128-35.
- 61. Grant K.A., Valverius P., Hudspith M., Tabakoff B. *Ethanol withdrawal seizures and the NMDA receptor complex.* Eur J Pharmacol 1990; 176: 289-96.
- 62. Lukoyanov N.V., Paula-Barbosa M.M. *Memantine, but not dizocilpine, ameliorates cognitive deficits in adult rats withdrawn from chronic ingestion of alcohol.* Neurosci Lett 2001; 309: 45-8.
- 63. Calabrese V., Boyd-Kimball D., Scapagnini G., Butterfield D.A. *Nitric oxide and cellular stress response in brain aging and neurodegenerative disorders: the role of vitagenes. In vivo* 2004; 18: 245-67.
- 64. Haorah J., Ramirez S.H., Floreani N., Gorantla S., Morsey B., Persidsky Y. *Mechanism of alcohol-induced oxidative stress and neuronal injury.* Free Radic Biol Med 2008; 45: 1542-50.
- 65. Aarts M.M., Tymianski M. *Molecular mechanisms underlying specificity of excitotoxic signaling in neurons.* Curr Mol Med 2004; 4: 137-47.
- 66. Tilleux S., Hermans E. Neuroinflammation and regulation of glial glutamate uptake in neurological disorders. J Neurosci Res 2007; 85: 2059-70.
- 67. Espey M.G., Chernyshev O.N., Reinhard J.F., Jr., Namboodiri M.A., Colton C.A. *Activated human microglia produce the excitotoxin quinolinic acid.* Neuroreport 1997; 8: 431-4.
- 68. Barger S.W., Goodwin M.E., Porter M.M., Beggs M.L. *Glutamate release from activated microglia requires the oxidative burst and lipid peroxidation.* Journal of Neurochemistry 2007; 101: 1205-1213.
- 69. Carmen J., Rothstein J.D., Kerr D.A. *Tumor necrosis factor-α modulates glutamate transport in the CNS and is a critical determinant of outcome from viral encephalomyelitis.* Brain Research 2009; 1263: 143-154.
- 70. Yin H.Z., Hsu C.I., Yu S., Rao S.D., Sorkin L.S., Weiss J.H. *TNF-alpha triggers* rapid membrane insertion of Ca(2+) permeable AMPA receptors into adult motor neurons and enhances their susceptibility to slow excitotoxic injury. Exp Neurol 2012; 238: 93-102.
- 71. Ogoshi F., Yin H.Z., Kuppumbatti Y., Song B., Amindari S., Weiss J.H. Tumor necrosis-factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) induces rapid insertion of Ca2+-permeable alpha-amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propionate (AMPA)/kainate (Ca-

A/K) channels in a subset of hippocampal pyramidal neurons. Exp Neurol 2005; 193: 384-93.

- 72. Dawson V.L., Dawson T.M., Bartley D.A., Uhl G.R., Snyder S.H. *Mechanisms of nitric oxide-mediated neurotoxicity in primary brain cultures.* J Neurosci 1993; 13: 2651-61.
- 73. Dawson V.L., Dawson T.M., London E.D., Bredt D.S., Snyder S.H. *Nitric oxide mediates glutamate neurotoxicity in primary cortical cultures.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1991; 88: 6368-71.
- 74. Knott A.B., Bossy-Wetzel E. *Nitric oxide in health and disease of the nervous system.* Antioxid Redox Signal 2009; 11: 541-54.
- 75. Bal-Price A., Brown G.C. Inflammatory neurodegeneration mediated by nitric oxide from activated glia-inhibiting neuronal respiration, causing glutamate release and excitotoxicity. J Neurosci 2001; 21: 6480-91.
- 76. Maturu P., Reddy V.D., Padmavathi P., Varadacharyulu N. *Ethanol induced adaptive changes in blood for the pathological and toxicological effects of chronic ethanol consumption in humans.* Exp Toxicol Pathol 2012; 64: 697-703.
- 77. Becker H.C. *Kindling in alcohol withdrawal.* Alcohol Health Res World 1998; 22: 25-33.
- 78. Gonzalez L.P., Veatch L.M., Ticku M.K., Becker H.C. *Alcohol withdrawal kindling: mechanisms and implications for treatment.* Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2001; 25: 197s-201s.
- 79. Chang Y.C., Kim H.W., Rapoport S.I., Rao J.S. *Chronic NMDA administration increases neuroinflammatory markers in rat frontal cortex: cross-talk between excitotoxicity and neuroinflammation.* Neurochem Res 2008; 33: 2318-23.
- 80. Simms J.A., Steensland P., Medina B., Abernathy K.E., Chandler L.J., Wise R., Bartlett S.E. Intermittent access to 20% ethanol induces high ethanol consumption in Long-Evans and Wistar rats. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2008; 32: 1816-23.
- 81. Moon K.H., Tajuddin N., Brown J., 3rd, Neafsey E.J., Kim H.Y., Collins M.A. *Phospholipase A2, oxidative stress, and neurodegeneration in binge ethanol-treated organotypic slice cultures of developing rat brain.* Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2014; 38: 161-9.
- 82. Carreiras M.C., Mendes E., Perry M.J., Francisco A.P., Marco-Contelles J. *The multifactorial nature of Alzheimer's disease for developing potential therapeutics.* Curr Top Med Chem 2013; 13: 1745-70.
- 83. Youdim M.B., Geldenhuys W.J., Van der Schyf C.J. *Why should we use multifunctional neuroprotective and neurorestorative drugs for Parkinson's disease?* Parkinsonism Relat Disord 2007; 13 Suppl 3: S281-91.
- 84. Geldenhuys W.J., Van der Schyf C.J. *Designing drugs with multi-target activity: the next step in the treatment of neurodegenerative disorders.* Expert Opin Drug Discov 2013; 8: 115-29.
- 85. Bencherif M., Narla S.T., Stachowiak M.S. *Alpha7 neuronal nicotinic receptor: a pluripotent target for diseases of the central nervous system.* CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 2014; 13: 836-45.
- 86. Wang H., Yu M., Ochani M., Amella C.A., Tanovic M., Susarla S., Li J.H., Yang H., Ulloa L., Al-Abed Y., Czura C.J., Tracey K.J. *Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor alpha7 subunit is an essential regulator of inflammation.* Nature 2003; 421: 384-8.
- 87. Xiu J., Nordberg A., Zhang J.T., Guan Z.Z. *Expression of nicotinic receptors on primary cultures of rat astrocytes and up-regulation of the alpha7, alpha4 and*

beta2 subunits in response to nanomolar concentrations of the beta-amyloid peptide(1-42). Neurochem Int 2005; 47: 281-90.

- 88. Shytle R.D., Mori T., Townsend K., Vendrame M., Sun N., Zeng J., Ehrhart J., Silver A.A., Sanberg P.R., Tan J. *Cholinergic modulation of microglial activation by &#x03B1;7 nicotinic receptors.* Journal of Neurochemistry 2004; 89: 337-343.
- 89. Borovikova L.V., Ivanova S., Zhang M., Yang H., Botchkina G.I., Watkins L.R., Wang H., Abumrad N., Eaton J.W., Tracey K.J. *Vagus nerve stimulation attenuates the systemic inflammatory response to endotoxin.* Nature 2000; 405: 458-62.
- 90. Rosas-Ballina M., Tracey K.J. *Cholinergic control of inflammation.* J Intern Med 2009; 265: 663-79.
- 91. Birrenbach T., Bocker U. *Inflammatory bowel disease and smoking: a review of epidemiology, pathophysiology, and therapeutic implications.* Inflamm Bowel Dis 2004; 10: 848-59.
- 92. Nizri E., Irony-Tur-Sinai M., Lory O., Orr-Urtreger A., Lavi E., Brenner T. Activation of the cholinergic anti-inflammatory system by nicotine attenuates neuroinflammation via suppression of Th1 and Th17 responses. J Immunol 2009; 183: 6681-8.
- 93. Tyagi E., Agrawal R., Nath C., Shukla R. *Cholinergic protection via alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and PI3K-Akt pathway in LPS-induced neuroinflammation.* Neurochem Int 2010; 56: 135-42.
- 94. de Jonge W.J., Ulloa L. *The alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor as a pharmacological target for inflammation.* Br J Pharmacol 2007; 151: 915-29.
- 95. Fratiglioni L., Wang H.X. Smoking and Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease: review of the epidemiological studies. Behav Brain Res 2000; 113: 117-20.
- 96. Pauly J.R., Charriez C.M., Guseva M.V., Scheff S.W. Nicotinic receptor modulation for neuroprotection and enhancement of functional recovery following brain injury or disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2004; 1035: 316-34.
- 97. Akaike A., Tamura Y., Yokota T., Shimohama S., Kimura J. *Nicotine-induced* protection of cultured cortical neurons againstN-methyl-D-aspartate receptormediated glutamate cytotoxicity. Brain Research 1994; 644: 181-187.
- 98. Dajas-Bailador F.A., Lima P.A., Wonnacott S. The [alpha]7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subtype mediates nicotine protection against NMDA excitotoxicity in primary hippocampal cultures through a Ca2+ dependent mechanism. Neuropharmacology 2000; 39: 2799-2807.
- 99. Prendergast M.A., Harris B.R., Mayer S., Holley R.C., Pauly J.R., Littleton J.M. *Nicotine exposure reduces N-methyl-D-aspartate toxicity in the hippocampus: relation to distribution of the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit.* Med Sci Monit 2001; 7: 1153-60.
- 100. Prendergast M.A., Harris B.R., Mayer S., Littleton J.M. *Chronic, but not acute, nicotine exposure attenuates ethanol withdrawal-induced hippocampal damage in vitro.* Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2000; 24: 1583-92.
- 101. de Fiebre N.C., de Fiebre C.M. *Alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor-mediated protection against ethanol-induced neurotoxicity*. Alcohol 2003; 31: 149-53.
- 102. Li Y., Meyer E.M., Walker D.W., Millard W.J., He Y.J., King M.A. Alpha7 nicotinic receptor activation inhibits ethanol-induced mitochondrial dysfunction, cytochrome c release and neurotoxicity in primary rat hippocampal neuronal cultures. J Neurochem 2002; 81: 853-8.
- 103. Li Y., King M.A., Grimes J., Smith N., de Fiebre C.M., Meyer E.M. Alpha7 nicotinic receptor mediated protection against ethanol-induced cytotoxicity in *PC12 cells.* Brain Res 1999; 816: 225-8.

- 104. Tizabi Y., Manaye K.F., Smoot D.T., Taylor R.E. *Nicotine inhibits ethanol-induced toxicity in cultured cerebral cortical cells.* Neurotox Res 2004; 6: 311-6.
- 105. Di Angelantonio S., Bernardi G., Mercuri N.B. *Donepezil modulates nicotinic receptors of substantia nigra dopaminergic neurones.* Br J Pharmacol 2004; 141: 644-52.
- 106. Shen H., Kihara T., Hongo H., Wu X., Kem W.R., Shimohama S., Akaike A., Niidome T., Sugimoto H. *Neuroprotection by donepezil against glutamate excitotoxicity involves stimulation of alpha7 nicotinic receptors and internalization of NMDA receptors*. Br J Pharmacol 2010; 161: 127-39.
- 107. Rahman S., Prendergast M.A. *Cholinergic receptor system as a target for treating alcohol abuse and dependence.* Recent Pat CNS Drug Discov 2012; 7: 145-50.
- 108. Mazurov A., Hauser T., Miller C.H. Selective alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor ligands. Curr Med Chem 2006; 13: 1567-84.
- 109. Breining S.R. *Recent Developments in the Synthesis of Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor Ligands.* Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry 2004; 4: 609-629.
- 110. Picciotto M.R., Kenny P.J. *Molecular mechanisms underlying behaviors related to nicotine addiction.* Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2013; 3: a012112.
- 111. Drasdo A., Caulfield M., Bertrand D., Bertrand S., Wonnacott S. *Methyl lycaconitine: A novel nicotinic antagonist.* Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience 1992; 3: 237-243.
- 112. Alkondon M., Pereira E.F., Wonnacott S., Albuquerque E.X. *Blockade of nicotinic currents in hippocampal neurons defines methyllycaconitine as a potent and specific receptor antagonist.* Molecular Pharmacology 1992; 41: 802-808.
- 113. Littleton J., Rogers T., Falcone D. *Novel approaches to plant drug discovery based on high throughput pharmacological screening and genetic manipulation.* Life Sciences 2005; 78: 467-475.
- 114. Crews F.T., Collins M.A., Dlugos C., Littleton J., Wilkins L., Neafsey E.J., Pentney R., Snell L.D., Tabakoff B., Zou J., Noronha A. *Alcohol-induced neurodegeneration: when, where and why?* Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2004; 28: 350-64.
- 115. Crews F.T., Nixon K. *Mechanisms of neurodegeneration and regeneration in alcoholism.* Alcohol Alcohol 2009; 44: 115-27.
- 116. Wu D., Cederbaum A.I. *Alcohol, oxidative stress, and free radical damage.* Alcohol Res Health 2003; 27: 277-84.
- 117. Tsai G.E., Ragan P., Chang R., Chen S., Linnoila V.M., Coyle J.T. *Increased glutamatergic neurotransmission and oxidative stress after alcohol withdrawal.* Am J Psychiatry 1998; 155: 726-32.
- 118. Holmes A., Spanagel R., Krystal J.H. *Glutamatergic targets for new alcohol medications.* Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2013; 229: 539-54.
- 119. Noraberg J., Poulsen F.R., Blaabjerg M., Kristensen B.W., Bonde C., Montero M., Meyer M., Gramsbergen J.B., Zimmer J. *Organotypic hippocampal slice cultures for studies of brain damage, neuroprotection and neurorepair.* Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord 2005; 4: 435-52.
- 120. Self R.L., Mulholland P.J., Harris B.R., Nath A., Prendergast M.A. *Cytotoxic* effects of exposure to the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 protein Tat in the hippocampus are enhanced by prior ethanol treatment. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2004; 28: 1916-24.
- 121. Zou J.Y., Crews F.T. *TNF alpha potentiates glutamate neurotoxicity by inhibiting glutamate uptake in organotypic brain slice cultures: neuroprotection by NF kappa B inhibition.* Brain Res 2005; 1034: 11-24.

- 122. Johansson S., Bohman S., Radesater A.C., Oberg C., Luthman J. Salmonella lipopolysaccharide (LPS) mediated neurodegeneration in hippocampal slice cultures. Neurotox Res 2005; 8: 207-20.
- 123. Thomas M.P., Davis M.I., Monaghan D.T., Morrisett R.A. Organotypic brain slice cultures for functional analysis of alcohol-related disorders: novel versus conventional preparations. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1998; 22: 51-9.
- 124. Yang J.Y., Xue X., Tian H., Wang X.X., Wang F., Dong Y.X., Zhao Y.N., Yao X.C., Cui W., Wu C.F. *Role of microglia in ethanol-induced neurodegenerative disease: Pathological and behavioral dysfunction at different developmental stages.* Pharmacol Ther 2014.
- 125. Benediktsson A.M., Schachtele S.J., Green S.H., Dailey M.E. *Ballistic labeling and dynamic imaging of astrocytes in organotypic hippocampal slice cultures.* J Neurosci Methods 2005; 141: 41-53.
- 126. Haber M., Vautrin S., Fry E.J., Murai K.K. Subtype-specific oligodendrocyte dynamics in organotypic culture. Glia 2009; 57: 1000-13.
- 127. Dailey M.E., Waite M. Confocal imaging of microglial cell dynamics in hippocampal slice cultures. Methods 1999; 18: 222-30, 177.
- 128. Salmina A.B. *Neuron-glia interactions as therapeutic targets in neurodegeneration.* J Alzheimers Dis 2009; 16: 485-502.
- 129. Stoppini L., Buchs P.A., Muller D. A simple method for organotypic cultures of nervous tissue. J Neurosci Methods 1991; 37: 173-82.
- 130. Zimmer J., Kristensen B.W., Jakobsen B., Noraberg J. *Excitatory amino acid neurotoxicity and modulation of glutamate receptor expression in organotypic brain slice cultures.* Amino Acids 2000; 19: 7-21.
- 131. Wilkins L.H., Jr., Prendergast M.A., Blanchard J., Holley R.C., Chambers E.R., Littleton J.M. Potential value of changes in cell markers in organotypic hippocampal cultures associated with chronic EtOH exposure and withdrawal: comparison with NMDA-induced changes. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2006; 30: 1768-80.
- 132. Morris M., Li L. *Molecular mechanisms and pathological consequences of endotoxin tolerance and priming.* Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz) 2012; 60: 13-8.
- 133. Antonietta Ajmone-Cat M., Mancini M., De Simone R., Cilli P., Minghetti L. *Microglial polarization and plasticity: Evidence from organotypic hippocampal slice cultures.* Glia 2013; 61: 1698-1711.
- 134. Bala S., Tang A., Catalano D., Petrasek J., Taha O., Kodys K., Szabo G. Induction of Bcl-3 by acute binge alcohol results in Toll-like receptor 4/LPS tolerance. Journal of Leukocyte Biology 2012; 92: 611-620.
- 135. Marshall S.A., McClain J.A., Kelso M.L., Hopkins D.M., Pauly J.R., Nixon K. *Microglial activation is not equivalent to neuroinflammation in alcohol-induced neurodegeneration: The importance of microglia phenotype.* Neurobiol Dis 2013; 54: 239-51.
- 136. Choi S.H., Aid S., Kim H.W., Jackson S.H., Bosetti F. Inhibition of NADPH oxidase promotes alternative and anti-inflammatory microglial activation during neuroinflammation. J Neurochem 2012; 120: 292-301.
- 137. Stirling D.P., Cummins K., Mishra M., Teo W., Yong V.W., Stys P. Toll-like receptor 2-mediated alternative activation of microglia is protective after spinal cord injury. Brain 2014; 137: 707-23.
- 138. Boche D., Perry V.H., Nicoll J.A. *Review: activation patterns of microglia and their identification in the human brain.* Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 2013; 39: 3-18.

- 139. Colton C., Wilcock D.M. Assessing activation states in microglia. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 2010; 9: 174-91.
- 140. Chhor V., Le Charpentier T., Lebon S., Ore M.V., Celador I.L., Josserand J., Degos V., Jacotot E., Hagberg H., Savman K., Mallard C., Gressens P., Fleiss B. *Characterization of phenotype markers and neuronotoxic potential of polarised primary microglia in vitro.* Brain Behav Immun 2013; 32: 70-85.
- 141. Barron S., Mulholland P.J., Littleton J.M., Prendergast M.A. Age and Gender Differences in Response to Neonatal Ethanol Withdrawal and Polyamine Challenge in Organotypic Hippocampal Cultures. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 2008; 32: 929-936.
- 142. John G.R., Littleton J.M., Nhamburo P.T. *Increased activity of Ca2+-dependent enzymes of membrane lipid metabolism in synaptosomal preparations from ethanol-dependent rats.* J Neurochem 1985; 44: 1235-41.
- 143. Levi M.S., Brimble M.A. *A review of neuroprotective agents.* Curr Med Chem 2004; 11: 2383-97.
- 144. Albarracin S.L., Stab B., Casas Z., Sutachan J.J., Samudio I., Gonzalez J., Gonzalo L., Capani F., Morales L., Barreto G.E. *Effects of natural antioxidants in neurodegenerative disease*. Nutr Neurosci 2012; 15: 1-9.
- 145. Choi D.Y., Lee Y.J., Hong J.T., Lee H.J. Antioxidant properties of natural polyphenols and their therapeutic potentials for Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res Bull 2012; 87: 144-53.
- 146. Yoon J.H., Baek S.J. *Molecular targets of dietary polyphenols with antiinflammatory properties.* Yonsei Med J 2005; 46: 585-96.
- 147. Agostinho P., Cunha R.A., Oliveira C. *Neuroinflammation, oxidative stress and the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease.* Curr Pharm Des 2010; 16: 2766-78.
- 148. Hirsch E.C., Vyas S., Hunot S. *Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease.* Parkinsonism Relat Disord 2012; 18 Suppl 1: S210-2.
- 149. Varnum M.M., Ikezu T. *The classification of microglial activation phenotypes on neurodegeneration and regeneration in Alzheimer's disease brain.* Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz) 2012; 60: 251-66.
- 150. Klegeris A., McGeer P.L. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and other anti-inflammatory agents in the treatment of neurodegenerative disease. Curr Alzheimer Res 2005; 2: 355-65.
- 151. Ulloa L. *The vagus nerve and the nicotinic anti-inflammatory pathway.* Nat Rev Drug Discov 2005; 4: 673-84.
- 152. Park H.J., Lee P.H., Ahn Y.W., Choi Y.J., Lee G., Lee D.Y., Chung E.S., Jin B.K. *Neuroprotective effect of nicotine on dopaminergic neurons by anti-inflammatory action.* Eur J Neurosci 2007; 26: 79-89.
- 153. Lee B.H., Choi S.H., Shin T.J., Pyo M.K., Hwang S.H., Kim B.R., Lee S.M., Lee J.H., Kim H.C., Park H.Y., Rhim H., Nah S.Y. *Quercetin enhances human alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor-mediated ion current through interactions with Ca*(*2*+*) binding sites.* Mol Cells 2010; 30: 245-53.
- 154. Gonzalez R., Ballester I., Lopez-Posadas R., Suarez M.D., Zarzuelo A., Martinez-Augustin O., Sanchez de Medina F. *Effects of flavonoids and other polyphenols on inflammation.* Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 2011; 51: 331-62.
- 155. Spencer J.P., Vafeiadou K., Williams R.J., Vauzour D. *Neuroinflammation:* modulation by flavonoids and mechanisms of action. Mol Aspects Med 2012; 33: 83-97.
- 156. Dajas F., Andres A.C., Florencia A., Carolina E., Felicia R.M. *Neuroprotective actions of flavones and flavonols: mechanisms and relationship to flavonoid structural features.* Cent Nerv Syst Agents Med Chem 2013; 13: 30-5.

- 157. Daiber A., Bachschmid M., Kavaklí C., Frein D., Wendt M., Ullrich V., Munzel T. A new pitfall in detecting biological end products of nitric oxide—nitration, nitros(yl)ation and nitrite/nitrate artefacts during freezing. Nitric Oxide 2003; 9: 44-52.
- 158. Hong Y.J., Tomas-Barberan F.A., Kader A.A., Mitchell A.E. *The flavonoid glycosides and procyanidin composition of Deglet Noor dates (Phoenix dactylifera).* J Agric Food Chem 2006; 54: 2405-11.
- 159. Lin L.Z., Chen P., Ozcan M., Harnly J.M. Chromatographic profiles and identification of new phenolic components of Ginkgo biloba leaves and selected products. J Agric Food Chem 2008; 56: 6671-9.
- 160. Cho M.J., Howard L.R., Prior R.L., Morelock T. *Flavonoid content and antioxidant capacity of spinach genotypes determined by high-performance liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry.* Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 2008; 88: 1099-1106.
- 161. Vilegas W., Nehme C.J., Dokkeddal A.L., Piacente S., Rastrelli L., Pizza C. *Quercetagetin 7-methyl ether glycosides from Paepalanthus vellozioides and Paepalanthus latipes.* Phytochemistry 1999; 51: 403-409.
- 162. Lin L.-Z., Harnly J.M. *Identification of Hydroxycinnamoylquinic Acids of Arnica Flowers and Burdock Roots Using a Standardized LC-DAD-ESI/MS Profiling Method.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 2008; 56: 10105-10114.
- 163. Shytle R.D., Mori T., Townsend K., Vendrame M., Sun N., Zeng J., Ehrhart J., Silver A.A., Sanberg P.R., Tan J. *Cholinergic modulation of microglial activation by alpha 7 nicotinic receptors.* J Neurochem 2004; 89: 337-43.
- 164. Hwang J., Hwang H., Lee H.-W., Suk K. *Microglia signaling as a target of donepezil.* Neuropharmacology 2010; 58: 1122-1129.
- 165. Mencel M., Nash M., Jacobson C. *Neuregulin Upregulates Microglial* α7 *Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor Expression in Immortalized Cell Lines: Implications for Regulating Neuroinflammation.* PLoS ONE 2013; 8: e70338.
- 166. Davies A.R., Hardick D.J., Blagbrough I.S., Potter B.V., Wolstenholme A.J., Wonnacott S. *Characterisation of the binding of [3H]methyllycaconitine: a new radioligand for labelling alpha 7-type neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors.* Neuropharmacology 1999; 38: 679-90.
- 167. Peng J.H., Fryer J.D., Hurst R.S., Schroeder K.M., George A.A., Morrissy S., Groppi V.E., Leonard S.S., Lukas R.J. *High-affinity epibatidine binding of functional, human alpha7-nicotinic acetylcholine receptors stably and heterologously expressed de novo in human SH-EP1 cells.* J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2005; 313: 24-35.
- 168. Lau F.C., Bielinski D.F., Joseph J.A. *Inhibitory effects of blueberry extract on the production of inflammatory mediators in lipopolysaccharide-activated BV2 microglia.* J Neurosci Res 2007; 85: 1010-7.
- 169. Park H.Y., Kim G.Y., Choi Y.H. Naringenin attenuates the release of proinflammatory mediators from lipopolysaccharide-stimulated BV2 microglia by inactivating nuclear factor-kappaB and inhibiting mitogen-activated protein kinases. Int J Mol Med 2012; 30: 204-10.
- 170. Morand C., Crespy V., Manach C., Besson C., Demigné C., Rémésy C. *Plasma metabolites of quercetin and their antioxidant properties.* American Journal of Physiology Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology 1998; 275: R212-R219.
- 171. Jnawali H.N., Lee E., Jeong K.-W., Shin A., Heo Y.-S., Kim Y. Anti-inflammatory Activity of Rhamnetin and a Model of Its Binding to c-Jun NH2-Terminal Kinase 1 and p38 MAPK. Journal of Natural Products 2014; 77: 258-263.

- 172. Fucile S. Ca2+ permeability of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. Cell Calcium 2004; 35: 1-8.
- 173. Iwashina T. *Flavonoid function and activity to plants and other organisms.* Biol Sci Space 2003; 17: 24-44.
- 174. Xiao Z.P., Peng Z.Y., Peng M.J., Yan W.B., Ouyang Y.Z., Zhu H.L. *Flavonoids health benefits and their molecular mechanism.* Mini Rev Med Chem 2011; 11: 169-77.
- 175. Shimizu T., Lin F., Hasegawa M., Okada K., Nojiri H., Yamane H. *Purification and identification of naringenin 7-O-methyltransferase, a key enzyme in biosynthesis of flavonoid phytoalexin sakuranetin in rice.* J Biol Chem 2012; 287: 19315-25.
- 176. Toledo A.C., Sakoda C.P., Perini A., Pinheiro N.M., Magalhaes R.M., Grecco S., Tiberio I.F., Camara N.O., Martins M.A., Lago J.H., Prado C.M. *Flavonone treatment reverses airway inflammation and remodelling in an asthma murine model.* Br J Pharmacol 2013; 168: 1736-49.
- 177. Eisenman S.W., Poulev A., Struwe L., Raskin I., Ribnicky D.M. Qualitative variation of anti-diabetic compounds in different tarragon (Artemisia dracunculus *L.*) cytotypes. Fitoterapia 2011; 82: 1062-74.
- 178. Zhang L., Kong Y., Wu D., Zhang H., Wu J., Chen J., Ding J., Hu L., Jiang H., Shen X. Three flavonoids targeting the beta-hydroxyacyl-acyl carrier protein dehydratase from Helicobacter pylori: crystal structure characterization with enzymatic inhibition assay. Protein Sci 2008; 17: 1971-8.
- 179. Ozipek M., Calis I., Ertan M., Ruedi P. *Rhamnetin 3-p-coumaroylrhamninoside from Rhamnus petiolaris.* Phytochemistry 1994; 37: 249-53.
- 180. Kim Y.J. Rhamnetin attenuates melanogenesis by suppressing oxidative stress and pro-inflammatory mediators. Biol Pharm Bull 2013; 36: 1341-7.
- 181. Jiang H., Zhan W.Q., Liu X., Jiang S.X. Antioxidant activities of extracts and flavonoid compounds from Oxytropis falcate Bunge. Nat Prod Res 2008; 22: 1650-6.
- 182. PROCEEDINGS OF THE PHYSIOLOGICAL SOCIETY: January 22, 1910. The Journal of Physiology 1910; 40: i-vii.
- 183. Huang C.Y., Ferrell J.E. *Ultrasensitivity in the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 1996; 93: 10078-10083.
- 184. De Simone R., Ajmone-Cat M.A., Carnevale D., Minghetti L. Activation of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor by nicotine selectively up-regulates cyclooxygenase-2 and prostaglandin E2 in rat microglial cultures. J Neuroinflammation 2005; 2: 4.
- 185. Shimohama S., Greenwald D.L., Shafron D.H., Akaika A., Maeda T., Kaneko S., Kimura J., Simpkins C.E., Day A.L., Meyer E.M. *Nicotinic alpha 7 receptors protect against glutamate neurotoxicity and neuronal ischemic damage.* Brain Res 1998; 779: 359-63.
- 186. Thomsen M.S., Mikkelsen J.D. *The alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor ligands methyllycaconitine, NS6740 and GTS-21 reduce lipopolysaccharide-induced TNF-alpha release from microglia.* J Neuroimmunol 2012; 251: 65-72.
- 187. Littleton J., Rogers T., Falcone D. Novel approaches to plant drug discovery based on high throughput pharmacological screening and genetic manipulation. Life Sci 2005; 78: 467-75.
- 188. Lutz J.A., Kulshrestha M., Rogers D.T., Littleton J.M. A nicotinic receptormediated anti-inflammatory effect of the flavonoid rhamnetin in BV2 microglia. Fitoterapia 2014; 98c: 11-21.

- 189. Prendergast M.A., Harris B.R., Mayer S., Holley R.C., Hauser K.F., Littleton J.M. *Chronic nicotine exposure reduces N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated damage in the hippocampus without altering calcium accumulation or extrusion: evidence of calbindin-D28K overexpression.* Neuroscience 2001; 102: 75-85.
- 190. Dirscherl K., Karlstetter M., Ebert S., Kraus D., Hlawatsch J., Walczak Y., Moehle C., Fuchshofer R., Langmann T. Luteolin triggers global changes in the microglial transcriptome leading to a unique anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective phenotype. J Neuroinflammation 2010; 7: 3.
- 191. Hua S., Ek C.J., Mallard C., Johansson M.E. *Perinatal hypoxia-ischemia reduces* alpha 7 nicotinic receptor expression and selective alpha 7 nicotinic receptor stimulation suppresses inflammation and promotes microglial Mox phenotype. Biomed Res Int 2014; 2014: 718769.
- 192. Tunon M.J., Garcia-Mediavilla M.V., Sanchez-Campos S., Gonzalez-Gallego J. *Potential of flavonoids as anti-inflammatory agents: modulation of proinflammatory gene expression and signal transduction pathways.* Curr Drug Metab 2009; 10: 256-71.
- 193. Bubols G.B., Vianna Dda R., Medina-Remon A., von Poser G., Lamuela-Raventos R.M., Eifler-Lima V.L., Garcia S.C. *The antioxidant activity of coumarins and flavonoids.* Mini Rev Med Chem 2013; 13: 318-34.
- 194. Cho J., Lee H.K. Wogonin inhibits excitotoxic and oxidative neuronal damage in primary cultured rat cortical cells. Eur J Pharmacol 2004; 485: 105-10.
- 195. Silva B., Oliveira P.J., Dias A., Malva J.O. Quercetin, kaempferol and biapigenin from Hypericum perforatum are neuroprotective against excitotoxic insults. Neurotox Res 2008; 13: 265-79.
- 196. Campos-Esparza M.R., Sanchez-Gomez M.V., Matute C. *Molecular mechanisms* of neuroprotection by two natural antioxidant polyphenols. Cell Calcium 2009; 45: 358-68.
- 197. Ansari M.A., Abdul H.M., Joshi G., Opii W.O., Butterfield D.A. *Protective effect of quercetin in primary neurons against Abeta(1-42): relevance to Alzheimer's disease.* J Nutr Biochem 2009; 20: 269-75.
- 198. Hanrahan J.R., Chebib M., Johnston G.A. *Flavonoid modulation of GABA(A) receptors.* Br J Pharmacol 2011; 163: 234-45.
- 199. Paladini A.C., Marder M., Viola H., Wolfman C., Wasowski C., Medina J.H. *Flavonoids and the Central Nervous System: from Forgotten Factors to Potent Anxiolytic Compounds.* Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology 1999; 51: 519-526.
- 200. Pinho B.R., Ferreres F., Valentão P., Andrade P.B. *Nature as a source of metabolites with cholinesterase-inhibitory activity: an approach to Alzheimer's disease treatment.* Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology 2013; 65: 1681-1700.
- 201. Li R., Peng N., Li X.P., Le W.D. (-)-Epigallocatechin gallate regulates dopamine transporter internalization via protein kinase C-dependent pathway. Brain Res 2006; 1097: 85-9.
- 202. Yoon S., dela Peña I., Kim S., Woo T., Shin C., Son K., Park H., Lee Y., Ryu J., Jin M., Kim K.-M., Cheong J. Oroxylin A improves attention deficit hyperactivity disorder-like behaviors in the spontaneously hypertensive rat and inhibits reuptake of dopamine in vitro. Archives of Pharmacal Research 2013; 36: 134-140.
- 203. Zhang J., Liu X., Lei X., Wang L., Guo L., Zhao G., Lin G. *Discovery and synthesis of novel luteolin derivatives as DAT agonists.* Bioorg Med Chem 2010; 18: 7842-8.

- 204. Anandhan A., Tamilselvam K., Radhiga T., Rao S., Essa M.M., Manivasagam T. *Theaflavin, a black tea polyphenol, protects nigral dopaminergic neurons against chronic MPTP/probenecid induced Parkinson's disease.* Brain Res 2012; 1433: 104-13.
- 205. Cheng Y., He G., Mu X., Zhang T., Li X., Hu J., Xu B., Du G. *Neuroprotective effect of baicalein against MPTP neurotoxicity: behavioral, biochemical and immunohistochemical profile.* Neurosci Lett 2008; 441: 16-20.
- 206. Lee B.H., Jeong S.M., Lee J.H., Kim J.H., Yoon I.S., Lee J.H., Choi S.H., Lee S.M., Chang C.G., Kim H.C., Han Y., Paik H.D., Kim Y., Nah S.Y. Quercetin inhibits the 5-hydroxytryptamine type 3 receptor-mediated ion current by interacting with pre-transmembrane domain I. Mol Cells 2005; 20: 69-73.
- 207. Ding J., Fu G., Zhao Y., Cheng Z., Chen Y., Zhao B., He W., Guo L.-J. EGCG Ameliorates the Suppression of Long-Term Potentiation Induced by Ischemia at the Schaffer Collateral-CA1 Synapse in the Rat. Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology 2012; 32: 267-277.
- 208. Xu X.H., Zheng X.X., Zhou Q., Li H. Inhibition of excitatory amino acid efflux contributes to protective effects of puerarin against cerebral ischemia in rats. Biomed Environ Sci 2007; 20: 336-42.
- 209. Shimmyo Y., Kihara T., Akaike A., Niidome T., Sugimoto H. *Three distinct neuroprotective functions of myricetin against glutamate-induced neuronal cell death: Involvement of direct inhibition of caspase-3.* Journal of Neuroscience Research 2008; 86: 1836-1845.
- 210. Losi G., Puia G., Garzon G., de Vuono M.C., Baraldi M. *Apigenin modulates GABAergic and glutamatergic transmission in cultured cortical neurons*. European Journal of Pharmacology 2004; 502: 41-46.
- 211. Shin T.-J., Choi S.-H., Lee B.-H., Pyo M.K., Hwang S.-H., Kim B.-R., Lee S.-M., Han Y.S., Lee J.-H., Park J.-H., Kim H.-C., Rhim H., Nah S.-Y. *Effects of Quercetin on Human & alpha;-Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic Acid Receptor-Mediated Ion Currents.* Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin 2010; 33: 1615-1619.
- 212. Lee B.H., Choi S.H., Shin T.J., Pyo M.K., Hwang S.H., Lee S.M., Paik H.D., Kim H.C., Nah S.Y. *Effects of quercetin on alpha9alpha10 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor-mediated ion currents.* Eur J Pharmacol 2011; 650: 79-85.
- 213. Lee B.H., Hwang S.H., Choi S.H., Shin T.J., Kang J., Lee S.M., Nah S.Y. Quercetin Inhibits alpha3beta4 Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor-Mediated Ion Currents Expressed in Xenopus Oocytes. Korean J Physiol Pharmacol 2011; 15: 17-22.
- 214. Lee B.H., Shin T.J., Hwang S.H., Choi S.H., Kang J., Kim H.J., Park C.W., Lee S.H., Nah S.Y. *Inhibitory Effects of Quercetin on Muscle-type of Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor-Mediated Ion Currents Expressed in Xenopus Oocytes.* Korean J Physiol Pharmacol 2011; 15: 195-201.
- 215. Nixon K., Crews F.T. *Binge ethanol exposure decreases neurogenesis in adult rat hippocampus.* Journal of Neurochemistry 2002; 83: 1087-1093.
- 216. Qin L., Crews F.T. Chronic ethanol increases systemic TLR3 agonist-induced neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. J Neuroinflammation 2012; 9: 130.
- 217. Alfonso-Loeches S., Pascual M., Guerri C. Gender differences in alcohol-induced neurotoxicity and brain damage. Toxicology 2013; 311: 27-34.
- 218. Pascual M., Balino P., Alfonso-Loeches S., Aragon C.M., Guerri C. Impact of TLR4 on behavioral and cognitive dysfunctions associated with alcohol-induced neuroinflammatory damage. Brain Behav Immun 2011; 25 Suppl 1: S80-91.

- 219. Tiwari V., Kuhad A., Chopra K. *Amelioration of functional, biochemical and molecular deficits by epigallocatechin gallate in experimental model of alcoholic neuropathy.* Eur J Pain 2011; 15: 286-92.
- 220. Raygude K.S., Kandhare A.D., Ghosh P., Ghule A.E., Bodhankar S.L. *Evaluation* of ameliorative effect of quercetin in experimental model of alcoholic neuropathy in rats. Inflammopharmacology 2012; 20: 331-41.
- 221. Proctor W.R., Dobelis P., Moritz A.T., Wu P.H. Chronic nicotine treatment differentially modifies acute nicotine and alcohol actions on GABA(A) and glutamate receptors in hippocampal brain slices. Br J Pharmacol 2011; 162: 1351-63.
- 222. Joshi D., Naidu P.S., Singh A., Kulkarni S.K. *Protective effect of quercetin on alcohol abstinence-induced anxiety and convulsions*. J Med Food 2005; 8: 392-6.
- 223. Shen Y., Lindemeyer A.K., Gonzalez C., Shao X.M., Spigelman I., Olsen R.W., Liang J. *Dihydromyricetin as a novel anti-alcohol intoxication medication.* J Neurosci 2012; 32: 390-401.
- 224. Benlhabib E., Baker J.I., Keyler D.E., Singh A.K. *Effects of purified puerarin on voluntary alcohol intake and alcohol withdrawal symptoms in P rats receiving free access to water and alcohol.* J Med Food 2004; 7: 180-6.
- 225. Penetar D.M., Toto L.H., Farmer S.L., Lee D.Y., Ma Z., Liu Y., Lukas S.E. *The isoflavone puerarin reduces alcohol intake in heavy drinkers: a pilot study.* Drug Alcohol Depend 2012; 126: 251-6.
- 226. Benlhabib E., Baker J.I., Keyler D.E., Singh A.K. *Kudzu root extract suppresses* voluntary alcohol intake and alcohol withdrawal symptoms in *P* rats receiving free access to water and alcohol. J Med Food 2004; 7: 168-79.
- 227. Newman D.J., Cragg G.M. *Natural Products as Sources of New Drugs over the Last 25 Years*. Journal of Natural Products 2007; 70: 461-477.
- 228. Harvey A.L. *Natural products in drug discovery.* Drug Discovery Today 2008; 13: 894-901.
- 229. Cragg G.M., Schepartz S.A., Suffness M., Grever M.R. *The Taxol Supply Crisis. New NCI Policies for Handling the Large-Scale Production of Novel Natural Product Anticancer and Anti-HIV Agents.* Journal of Natural Products 1993; 56: 1657-1668.
- 230. Tabata H., *Paclitaxel Production by Plant-Cell-Culture Technology*. In: J.-J. Zhong, editor *Biomanufacturing*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2004, p. 1-23
- 231. Baylis H., Sattelle D., Lane N. *Genetic analysis of cholinergic nerve terminal function in invertebrates.* Journal of Neurocytology 1996; 25: 747-762.
- 232. Picciotto M.R., Zoli M. Neuroprotection via nAChRs: the role of nAChRs in neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease. Front Biosci 2008; 13: 492-504.
- 233. Pickens L.B., Tang Y., Chooi Y.-H. *Metabolic Engineering for the Production of Natural Products.* Annual Review of Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering 2011; 2: null.
- 234. Inoguchi M., Ogawa S., Furukawa S., Kondo H. *Production of an allelopathic polyacetylene in hairy root cultures of goldenrod (Solidago altissima L.).* Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 2003; 67: 863-8.
- 235. Ohta S., Mita S., Hattori T., Nakamura K. Construction and Expression in Tobacco of a β-Glucuronidase (GUS) Reporter Gene Containing an Intron Within the Coding Sequence. Plant and Cell Physiology 1990; 31: 805-813.
- 236. Faiss M., Strnad M., Redig P., Doležal K., Hanuš J., Van Onckelen H., Schmülling T. Chemically induced expression of the rolC-encoded β-glucosidase in transgenic tobacco plants and analysis of cytokinin metabolism: rolC does not

hydrolyze endogenous cytokinin glucosides in planta. The Plant Journal 1996; 10: 33-46.

- 237. Palazón J., Cusidó R.M., Roig C., Piñol M.T. *Expression of the rolC gene and nicotine production in transgenic roots and their regenerated plants.* Plant Cell Reports 1998; 17: 384-390.
- 238. Christey M. Use of *ri-mediated transformation for production of transgenic plants. In vitro* Cellular & amp; Developmental Biology - Plant 2001; 37: 687-700.
- 239. Casanova E., Zuker A., Trillas M.I., Moysset L., Vainstein A. *The rolC gene in carnation exhibits cytokinin- and auxin-like activities.* Scientia Horticulturae 2003; 97: 321-331.
- 240. Saitou T., Kamada H., Harada H. *Involvement of phytohormones in light-induced adventitious shoot formation of horseradish hairy roots.* Plant Science 1992; 86: 161-166.
- 241. Jacob A., Malpathak N. *Plantlet Regeneration Enhances Solasodine Productivity in Hairy Root Cultures of Solanum khasianum Clarke. In vitro* Cellular & Developmental Biology. Plant 2005; 41: 291-295.
- 242. Vinterhalter B., Ninković S., Cingel A., Vinterhalter D. Shoot and root culture of Hypericum perforatum L. transformed with Agrobacterium rhizogenes A4M70GUS. Biologia Plantarum 2006; 50: 767-770.

# Joseph Lutz

#### **EDUCATION**

#### Degree

2008-current	Ph.D. in Pharmaceutical Sciences (Drug Discovery), College of Pharmacy, University of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky*
	Advisor: John Littleton, M.D., Ph.D.
	<u>Title</u> : Flavonoids with novel nicotinic activity as potential pharmacotherapies to treat ethanol-induced neurotoxicity
Degree Awarded	
July 2007	BSc. (with Honors) in Biochemistry with industrial placement, Department of Biology and Biochemistry, University of Bath, Bath, United Kingdom
<b>PROFESSIONAL</b>	EXPERIENCE
2008 – Present	Graduate student, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Pharmacy, University of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky
	Advisor: John Littleton, M.D., Ph.D.
2008	Conference organizer, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), Paris, France
	Conference: Science in Society - Dialogues and Scientific Responsibility
	Support: European Commission, French Ministry of Higher Education and Research
2007	Sales consultant, Molecular Extended Distribution in Information Technology (MEDIT SA), Paris, France
2005 - 2006	Research assistant, Kentucky Tobacco Research and Development Center (KTRDC), University of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky
	<u>Project</u> : Natural products genomics – agrobacterium transformation of medicinal plants

# **PUBLICATIONS**

#### Peer reviewed

2014 Lutz, J.A., Rogers, D.T., Kulshrestha, M., & Littleton, J.M. (2014). A nicotinic receptor mediated anti-inflammatory effect of the flavonoid rhamnetin in BV2 microglia. Fitoterapia, 98 (October), 11-21

- 2013 Lutz, J.A., Gunjan, S. K., Bushong, A., Rogers, D. T., & Littleton, J.M. (2013). Hairy Root Cultures and Plant Regeneration in Solidago nemoralis Transformed with Agrobacterium rhizogenes. American Journal of Plant Sciences, 4 (August), 1675–1678
  2011 Gunjan, S.K., Rogers, D.T., Czarnecki, J., Lutz, J.A., & Littleton, J.M.
- (2011) Survival Selection Reveals Altered Pharmacological Phenotypes in *Nicotiana tabacum* var. SR1 Activation Tagged Mutants. Current Trends in Biotechnology and Pharmacy, 5 (1) (January), 1064–1072

# **Manuscripts in preparation**

- 2014\* Lutz, J.A., Carter, M., Fields, L., Barron, S., & Littleton, J.M. Altered relation between lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory response and excitotoxicity in rat organotypic hippocampal slice cultures during ethanol withdrawal
- 2014\* Lutz, J.A., Carter, M., Fields, L., Barron, S., & Littleton, J.M. Evaluating the anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effects of rhamnetin against ethanol-withdrawal induced neurotoxicity in rat organotypic hippocampal slice cultures

\* expected submission

#### HONORS & AWARDS

2011 – 2014 Student Merit Award, Research Society on Alcoholism, NIAAA

#### PROFESSIONAL PRESENTATIONS

#### **Invited presentations**

- 2013 Evaluating the mechanisms for anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties of flavonoids in alcohol neurotoxicity, Pharmacology paper session, Research Society on Alcoholism, Orlando, FL
- 2011 Flavonoids with putative alpha7 nicotinic receptor activity as potential neuroprotective compounds against alcohol induced neurodegeneration, C.N.S. pharmacology paper session, Research Society on Alcoholism, Atlanta, GA

#### **Poster presentations**

- 2013 Lutz, J.A., Carter, M., Rogers, D.T., Barron, S., Littleton, J.M. Evaluating the mechanisms for anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties of flavonoids in alcohol neurotoxicity. Annual Research Society on Alcoholism (RSA) Scientific Meeting, Orlando, FL
- 2012 Lutz, J. A., Rogers, D.T., D'Souza El-Guindy, N., Littleton, J.M. Antiinflammatory properties of specific flavonoids is mediated through alpha7 nicotinic receptors: implications for alcohol induced neurodegeneration.

Annual Research Society on Alcoholism (RSA) Scientific Meeting, San Francisco, CA

- 2011 Lutz, J. A., Rogers, D.T., Kulshrestha, M., Littleton, J.M. Flavonoids with putative alpha7 nicotinic receptor activity as potential protective compounds against alcohol induced neurodegeneration. Annual Research Society on Alcoholism (RSA) Scientific Meeting, Atlanta, GA
- 2010 Lutz, J. A., Rogers, D.T., Kulshrestha, M., Pauly, J.R., Littleton, J.M. Characterization of a novel binding activity in plant extracts putatively to alpha-7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. Society for Neuroscience (SfN) Annual Meeting, San Diego, CA

# **Campus presentations**

- 2012 An apple a day keeps dementia away: plant flavonoids for alcoholism, Department of Psychology Brown Bag, College of Arts & Science, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY
- 2011 Flavonoids with nicotinic receptor activity as multi-functional neuroprotective agents against alcohol induced neurodegeneration, Drug Discovery seminar, College of Pharmacy, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY
- 2011 Flavonoids with nicotinic receptor activity as neuroprotective agents, Symposium on Drug Discovery and Development, College of Pharmacy, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY
- 2011 Persuading plants to make neuroprotective compounds, Kentucky Tobacco Research & Development Center, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY
- 2011 Neuroprotective properties of flavonoids: implications in alcohol induced neurodegeneration, Drug Discovery seminar, College of Pharmacy, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY
- 2010 Novel neuroprotective compounds from Kentucky native plants, Drug Discovery seminar, College of Pharmacy, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY

#### **TEACHING EXPERIENCE**

- 2008 2010 Proctor, College of Pharmacy, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY
- 2008 2009 Teaching assistant, Physiological basis for therapeutics, College of Pharmacy, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY

# UNIVERSITY SERVICES

2008 – 2012 Drug Discovery track representative, American Association of Pharmaceutical Sciences Student chapter, College of Pharmacy, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY\* \* Awarded AAPS student chapter of the year in 2012

- 2008 2011 Student representative for the graduate program committee, College of Pharmacy, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY
- 2010 Recruiter for the Pharmaceutical Sciences graduate program at SERMACS (Southeastern Regional Meeting of the American Chemical Society), New Orleans, LO
- 2011 Recruiter for the Pharmaceutical Sciences graduate program at SERMACS (Southeastern Regional Meeting of the American Chemical Society), Richmond, MA

# PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIPS

- 2009 present Research Society on Alcoholism
- 2008 present American Association for the Advancement of Science
- 2009 present The Rho Chi Society
- 2009 2012 Society of Neuroscience
- 2009 2012 American Association of Pharmaceutical Sciences
- 2008 2012 Kentucky Academy of Science

# **SCIENTIFIC OUTREACH**

2010 – present Science fair judge at the Fayette county science fair (2010 – 2013), Central Kentucky science fair (2010), Kentucky State science fair (2010)